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  Full steam ahead. Our engagement is aimed at   
  strong growth. And a new Semperit corporate   
  culture.  With a clear direction. With high dynamism. 

Urge to move 
forward

Imprint

Ownership and publisher: Semperit Aktiengesellschaft Holding, Modecenterstrasse 22, A-1031 Vienna

We have prepared this Annual Report and verified the information contained in it with the greatest possible care. In spite of 
this, rounding, typesetting and printing errors cannot be ruled out. Rounding of differences in the totalling of rounded 
amounts and percentages may arise from the automatic processing of data.

The forecasts, plans and forward-looking statements contained in this report are based on the knowledge and information 
available and the assessments made at the time that this report was prepared. As is true of all forward-looking statements, 
these statements are subject to risk and uncertainties. As a result, the actual events may deviate significantly from these ex-
pectations. No liability whatsoever is assumed for the accuracy of projections or for the achievement of planned targets or 
for any other forward-looking statements

Statements referring to people are valid for both men and women.
This Annual Report was prepared in German and English. 
In case of doubt, the German version shall take precedence.

This annual report was prepared by Mensalia (www.mensalia.at) on behalf of Semperit AG Holding.

Contact 

Semperit AG Holding
Modecenterstrasse 22
A-1031 Vienna
Tel.: +43 1 79 777 0
Fax: +43 1 79 777 600
office@semperit.at
www.semperit.at

Clemens Taschée
Head of Group Accounting
Tel.: +43 1 79 777 230
clemens.taschee@semperit.at
www.semperit.at/investor-relations
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  Being able to handle the pressure which delivers   
  results, requires mutual respect. Appreciation and 
  value creation are two sides of the same coin. 

Creative  
power





  Trust us. Our power reserves are immense and  
  can be applied flexibly for the numerous demands  
  of an industrial working day. 

Energy  
input





  Show initiative and work your way up. This is how   
  we achieve growth, promote innovation and increase   
  the value of the company over the long term. 

Upward 
trend





  Operating responsibly. Even if not necessarily on  
  an open heart, we work on every case with care,  
  just like with our operating diversification in  
  the fields of medicine and industry. 

Duty  
of care





  Showing integrity and sincerity. That is true for all  
  7,833 of us when dealing with each other, with our  
  customers and with our partners. Keeping in line  
  with the Semperit motto: It works. Always. 

Sealed with  
a handshake





  Unlocking new territory, through innovation  
  or fair behaviour, is always really hard work.  
  But then suddenly completely new ways,  
  far removed from the well-travelled routes, open up. 

Fair
ways





  We build for the long-term. With consistently  
  loyal service to those counting on us,  
  sustainable profits can only be made from  
  what takes both of us safely to the top. 

Proof of  
loyalty





  Wherever the journey leads, you can rely on us!  
  Just another Semperit success factor along the  
  high performance stretch of future growth. 

Sincerity





Semperit rubber foils are used in all well-
known brands of skis and snowboards.  
Thanks to a special surface structure, they 
enhance the adhesive qualities of various 
materials in order to produce high-strength, 
but still flexible combined systems.

The Semperit Group is made up of  
four operating segments: Sempermed,  
Semperflex, Sempertrans and Semperform. 
Their product range places Semperit at  
the forefront in each of their respective 
fields of business.  
A selection of items from the Semperit  
product range is shown on the right. De-
tailed information about all of our products, 
including their technical specifications and 
details of contact persons, can be found on 
the company website at www.semperit.at.

Semperit transportation and conveyor belts, 
with either textile or steel carcasses, as well 
as heavy steel rope belts for use in extreme 
conditions are used in mining, heavy industry, 
in harbour facilities and many other fields. 
Semperit’s experience and know-how have 
made us one of the world’s leading suppliers.

Semperit handrails are used world-wide  
and offer high quality and durability.  
They are supplied in numerous colours and 
profiles, individually adapted to suit the  
needs of the user.
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Semperit is renowned as a well-established 
and experienced specialist in rail fastenings, 
offering optimum dampening behaviour  
in the track superstructure as well as stability.

The high quality standard of Semperit gloves 
impresses purchasers world-wide. European 
know-how, environmentally friendly high-tech 
production and comprehensive quality 
management guarantee maximum safety  
and reliability, coupled with an optimum 
price-performance ratio.

Examination and surgical gloves: with innovative 
material creations and manufacturing 
technologies, Semperit is constantly setting  
new standards and driving forward research  
into glove production world-wide. Know-how 
gathered from more than 90 years of experience 
guarantees the highest level of product quality.

Semperit industrial hoses provide flexible 
solutions for the safe transport of materials, 
whether in the chemical industry or  
equally as well for the construction or food-
stuffs industry or in the waste disposal field.

Semperit sheave and bullwheel liners are 
known internationally for their first-class 
standard of quality and safety and are used 
world-wide in the most varied kinds of 
ropeways.

Semperit hydraulic hoses are designed to 
cope with the highest pressure in mining, 
machine building and plant construction as 
well as in agricultural technology and are 
distinguished by long durability under the 
most varied deployment conditions.



Key figures

Semperit Group

				    2011	 2010	 Change 	 2009	 2008 

Key performance figures

Revenue 		 in EUR million	  820.0   	  689.4   	  18.9%   	  588.1   	  655.3

Earnings before interest,  

tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA)		 in EUR million	  112.8   	  112.3   	  0.5%   	  102.8   	  87.9   

EBITDA margin 		  in %	  13.8   	  16.3   	 –2.5 PP   	  17.5   	  13.4   

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)		 in EUR million	  83.1   	  82.3   	  0.9%   	  69.6   	  58.7   

EBIT margin 		  in %	  10.1   	  11.9   	 –1.8 PP   	  11.8   	  9.0   

Net profit for the year 		 in EUR million	  54.1   	  45.4   	  19.2%   	  38.8   	  37.6   

Gross cash flow		 in EUR million	  89.0   	  91.0   	  –2.2%   	  92.6   	  78.0   

Return on equity 		  in %	  14.5   	  12.9   	  1.6 PP   	  12.5   	  12.9   

Return on total assets 		  in %	 13.8	  14.2	 – 0.4 PP   	  13.6   	  12.0   

Balance sheet key figures

Balance sheet total 		 in EUR million	  616.7   	  593.5   	  3.9%   	  531.5   	  485.5   

Equity 		 in EUR million	  372.5   	  351.1   	  6.1%   	  310.6   	  291.9   

Equity ratio 		  in %	  60.4   	  59.2   	  1.2 PP   	  58.4   	  60.1   

Investments in tangible and    

intangible assets   		 in EUR million	  45.1   	  52.5   	 –14.1%   	  22.7   	  27.6

Employees (annual average)   			    7,833   	  7,008   	  11.8%   	  6,649   	  7,064   

Stock exchange key figures

Highest price 		  in EUR	  41.47   	  39.67   	  4.5%   	  28.30   	  31.62   

Lowest price 		  in EUR	  27.15   	  25.94   	  4.7%   	  13.83   	  11.80   

Price at year-end 		  in EUR	  29.75   	  39.59   	 –24.9%   	  26.97   	  11.80   

Number of shares issued   		  in thsd.	  20,573   	  20,573   	  –   	  20,573   	  20,573   

Market capitalisation at year-end    		 in EUR million	  612.1   	  814.5   	 –24.8%   	  554.9   	  242.8   

Earnings per share   		  in EUR	  2.63   	  2.21   	  19.2%   	  1.89   	  1.83   

Gross cash flow per share   		  in EUR	 4.33	 4.42	 –2.1%	 4.50	 3.79

Equity per share 		  in EUR	 18.10	  17.06   	 6.1%    	  15.10   	  14.19   

Dividend per share 		  in EUR	 0.80*	  1.25   	 –36.0%   	  1.15   	  1.09   

Dividend payout ratio   		  in %	 30.4	  56.6   	 –26.2 PP   	  61.0   	  59.6   

Price/earnings ratio at year-end			   11.3	  17.9   	 –36.9%   	  14.3   	  6.5   

Average trading volume per day		 in EUR million	  1.4   	  1.8   	 –22.2%   	  1.1   	  0.9   

* Proposal to the General Meeting  
Note: Rounding differences in the totalling of rounded amounts and percentages may arise from the use of automatic data processing aids.
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Semperit AG Holding is one of 
the world‘s leading industrial 
groups. It is based in Austria 
and its origins go back to the 
year 1824. Semperit has a high 
profile in both the medical and 
industrial sectors based on 
its excellent know-how in the 
development, production and 
sales of high-quality rubber  
and plastic products. With  
7,833 employees, deployed 
world-wide on average in 2011,  
Group revenues amounting to 
EUR 820.0 million were achieved 
(+18.9%).

Semperit 
Group

Kapitel Semperit AG Holding 
Geschäftsbericht 2011
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Semperit Group succeeded in proving once again in 
the financial year 2011 that its business model is indeed based 
on a solid ground and an ambitious strategy. This course of 
business is determined by a clear perception of values that 
we present in the introduction of this report and formed by 
the cornerstones of our self-image. Based on these factors, 
we managed to turn in a successful performance in all four 
operating segments in 2011, boosting revenue by 18.9% to 
EUR 820.0 million overall and net income by 19.2% to EUR 
54.1 million – new record highs that perpetuate the prosper-
ous development of the Company over the years.

The Sempermed segment’s revenue growth rate of 
17.4% to EUR 371.5 million was slightly less than the Group 
average, but with a share of 45.3%, it is still the largest seg-
ment from a revenue perspective. This is followed by the 
Semperflex segment, which registered an above-average 
increase of 28.5% to EUR 186.9 million in 2011. Sempertrans 
profited from the sustained high demand from the raw ma-
terial and energy sectors, and in 2011 its revenue increased 
by 24.5% to EUR 147.0 million. In the Semperform segment, 
selective order control ultimately led to only a moderate 
increase in revenue of 4.7% to EUR 114.6 million.

Along with an increase in volume, part of this positive 
revenue growth was due to price effects which were trig-
gered by the rapid increase in raw material prices. Natural 
rubber, a raw material which is important for the Semperit 
Group, experienced average annual growth of around 30%; 
even more drastic were the price increases of butadiene and 
industrial carbon blacks. This growth led to a dispropor-
tionately high 25.1% increase in material costs to EUR 513.1 
million; the ratio of materials to operating revenue increased 
by 4.0 percentage points to 62.3%. However, the increase 
in personnel costs and other operational expenses could be 
limited to 4.6% and 6.5% respectively, thanks to additional 
improvements in efficiency. Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) were therefore held 
at the previous year‘s level of EUR 112.8 million. 

Following almost continuous depreciation, the oper-
ating profit (EBIT) was stable at EUR 83.1 million. However, 
thanks to the sharp improvement in the financial result, earn-

ings before taxes (EBT) increased significantly by 10.7% to 
EUR 69.9 million. Due to lower income taxes, 2011 ended 
in a net profit of EUR 54.1 million – a 19.2% increase on the 
previous year. Based on the unchanged quantity of outstand-
ing shares, this resulted in earnings per share of EUR 2.63, 
compared to EUR 2.21 in the previous year. Based on this 
positive development and the Semperit Group’s financial 
stability, we propose a dividend of EUR 0.80 per share to 
the Annual General Meeting. The reduction in the dividend 
payout ratio to the average level of around 30% for Austrian 
industrial companies represents an important precondition 
for the Semperit Group’s pending organic and non-organic 
growth plans.

In addition to the operational challenges in 2011 we 
have in consultation with the Supervisory Board determined 
the strategic plans and goals for the coming years. We are 
focusing on a considerable increase in growth in the Group’s 
existing business segments, and on further globalisation. In 
the Medical sector, we have enlarged the capacities of the 
Sempermed segment in Thailand. A new plant has started 
operations in addition to the three existing plants. This new 
plant will be enlarged further in 2012. Plans for a fifth plant are 
currently at an advanced stage. During the next few years, to-
tal production capacities are therefore expected to double to 
around 21.2 billion units of examination gloves. We are striv-
ing to achieve a total sales volume of 23 billion units (including 
merchandise products), which would increase our global mar-
ket share from the current 8% to 12%. The countries of Brazil, 
China and Russia are lending particularly strong momentum to 
these growth plans. However, we are still seeking to expand 
our market shares in the core regions of Europe and the USA.

In the Industrial sector, which encompasses the Sem-
perflex, Sempertrans and Semperform segments, the exist-
ing plants in Thailand, China, the Czech Republic and India 
will be expanded; these additional capacities will gradually 
become available through 2012. Semperflex is pursuing the 
medium-term goal of assuming a leading position on the 
world market in the hydraulic hose business unit by increasing 
its presence in South America and Asia. The industrial hose 
business unit focuses on Europe and is striving to become 
one of the top three providers in this field.

Letter  
to Shareholders
Dear Sir or Madam,
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Following the successful turnaround in the year under 
review, the Sempertrans segment will also be putting more 
effort into the growth markets in Asia and South America 
in the next few years, so as to be able to participate in the 
sustained boom in the energy and raw material markets. 
Semperform will focus on the windows and door profiles 
business in Europe, and will exploit the potential of the hand-
rails business unit in China to the best of its abilities.

With this short overview of the most important strate-
gic goals, we want to confirm the Semperit Group’s growth 
targets: in the years to 2015, we are seeking to achieve 
double-digit revenue growth on average, while at the same 
time maintaining the current profitability levels as measured 
by the return on total assets and the EBIT margin. Due  
to the general economic situation and the volatility of the 

raw material markets, visibility on business development  
in the 2012 financial year is limited. From today‘s perspec-
tive, however, we assume that we will continue to expand in 
terms of volume, while enjoying a satisfactory level of profit-
ability.

The commitment of our employees and their high 
motivation, for which we are sincerely grateful, is essential 
to achieve our specified growth targets. We are also grateful 
to our growing number of worldwide customers, and we will 
be strengthening our efforts in the future to repay their trust 
in all aspects. Furthermore, we would like to invite the share-
holders of Semperit AG Holding to continue accompanying 
the company on its growth path.

Vienna, March 9, 2012

From left to right: Richard Ehrenfeldner, Richard Stralz, Thomas Fahnemann, Johannes Schmidt-Schultes

Johannes Schmidt-Schultes 
Chief Financial Officer

Thomas Fahnemann
Chairman

Richard Ehrenfeldner 
Member of the  
Management Board

Richard Stralz
Member of the  
Management Board
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As one of the world‘s leading companies in the rubber and plastics industry, Semperit 
Group is able to look back on a history spanning roughly 190 years. In 2011, revenue 
rose by 18.9% to EUR 820.0 million accompanied by a 19.2% increase in consolidated 
net profit to EUR 54.1 million, thus marking a further continuation of the growth that 
the Group has been achieving for many years.

Examination and  
surgical gloves

Sempermed

SemperflexSempertrans

Semperform

Hydraulic and industrial 
hoses, elastomer and anti-

wear protection plates

Steel cable and textile 
cable reinforced conveyor 
belts, servicing

Moulded goods, construction 
profiles, handrails, ropeway 
technology, rubber foils

Overview of the Semperit Group
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Non-assigned and Group eliminations: 
EUR –6.7 million, thus total EBIT:  
EUR 83.1 million

Total number, incl. 32 employees of 
Semperit AG Holding: 7,833

After elimination of intersegmental 
revenue, total revenue: EUR 820.0 
million

Regional and sector diversification
Semperit Group‘s operating business comprises activities in the medical sector 

(Sempermed segment) and industrial sector (Semperflex, Sempertrans and Semperform seg-
ments). While Sempermed‘s successful global position in the markets for examination and 
surgical gloves acts as a stabilising factor, the industrial segments are exposed to cyclical 
effects impacting demand to differing extents, although this also offers regular growth op-
portunities. Moreover, they are characterised by high profitability and momentum in selected 
niche markets. 

In addition to this sector-based structure, Semperit‘s international presence strength-
ens the independence of regional individual markets. Of the revenue generated in 2011, the 
European markets accounted for around 60.8%, Asia 13.2% and North and South America 
23.4%. 

Thanks to this balanced corporate structure, Semperit Group has been able to achieve 
steady growth in revenue and earnings even during the economic turbulence of the last few 
years. With a share of 45.3% in total revenue, Sempermed was the largest segment in 2011, 
followed by Semperflex with 22.8%, Sempertrans with 17.9% and Semperform with 14.0%. 

Medical and Industrial 
sectors in focus 

Stability thanks to four 
operating segments and 
a global presence

EBIT 2011 by  
segment in EUR million

Umsatz nach Segmenten in Mio. EUR

EBIT nach Segmenten in Mio. EUR

Mitarbeiter

Sempertrans

11.3

Sempermed

34.5

Semperflex

25.0

Semperform

18.9

Annual average  
headcount 2011

Umsatz nach Segmenten in Mio. EUR

EBIT nach Segmenten in Mio. EUR

Mitarbeiter

Sempertrans

931

Sempermed

4,834

Semperflex

1,382

Semperform

654
Umsatz nach Segmenten in Mio. EUR

EBIT nach Segmenten in Mio. EUR

Mitarbeiter

Sempertrans

147.0

Sempermed

371.5

Semperflex

186.9

Semperform

114.6

Revenue 2011 by  
segment in EUR million
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Geographic presence
Semperit Group has numerous branches in Europe, Asia and America and holds a lead-

ing market position across all business segments. Of its 7,833 employees, 68.4% are based 
in Asia, 30.6% in Europe and 1.0% in America. With their broad-based production capacities 
and proximity to sources of natural rubber, the Asian branches play a significant role. The 
core production facility in Wimpassing, Lower Austria, comprises the production lines for 
Sempermed, Semperflex and Semperform and serves as the Group-wide research and devel-
opment center.

Semper it – “there‘s always a way”
The name “Semperit” is derived from the two Latin words “semper“ and “ire“ and 

roughly means “it always works“ in the sense of “there‘s always a way.“ When it was first 
coined at the beginning of the 20th century, the name sought to reflect the durability of 
rubber products. To this very day, it reflects the core values of Semperit Group, which satisfies 
customers‘ requirements all around the world with its innovative and competitive range of 
products and services. The next section of this report describes how the four segments are 
positioned in their respective markets. 

Milestones in the Group‘s history

1824	 Johann Nepomuk Reithoffer awarded patent for  
	 “making woollen fabric for clothing watertight”
1852	 Factory built in Wimpassing, Austria
1890	 Company listed on the Vienna stock exchange for the first time
1900	 The “Semperit” name mentioned for the first time
1912	 Semperit Group established following the merger of several factories
1920	 Production of latex gloves commenced
1985	 Group reorganised to concentrate on four business segments
	 Tire production business sold to Continental
1989	 First glove factory established in Thailand
	 Conveyor belt company acquired in France
1996	 Hydraulic hose production commenced in Thailand
	 First production facility in China built (handrails)
1998	 Europe‘s largest hose factory acquired in the Czech Republic
1999	 Handrail factory opened in New Jersey, USA 
2000	 Conveyor belt factory acquired in Poland
2001	 Majority interest acquired in an Indian conveyor belt factory
	 Hose factory bought in Italy
2007	 New hose factory opened in China
	 Handrail production relocated in Shanghai, China
2008	 Distribution company for medical gloves bought in Brazil
2009	 Joint venture forged for a conveyor belt factory in China
2010	 New glove factory built in Thailand,  
	 Distribution company for hydraulic hoses established in Brazil
2011	 Porcelain mould production facility established  
	 in a joint venture in Malaysia

68.4% of the 7,833 
employees are based at 
Asian sites 
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Geographical presence  
of the Semperit Group

Revenue: EUR 191.8 million   

Employees: 79   

Subsidiaries: 4 

The Americas

Revenue: EUR 498.6 million 

Employees: 2,399 

Subsidiaries: 22 

Europe

Revenue: EUR 108.1 million 

Employees: 5,355   

Subsidiaries: 11 

Asia

A list of all the global subsidiaries can be found in the notes  
to the consolidated financial statements in the section entitled 
“Consolidated Companies.”

Recognition of revenue after elimination of internal revenue;  
by customer location.
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With revenue of EUR 371.5 million in 2011, the Sempermed segment contributes 45.3% 
to Semperit Group‘s revenue. Sempermed develops, produces and distributes a wide 
range of surgical, examination and protective gloves and is one of the leading opera-
tors in this field.

Product portfolio
High-quality surgical gloves made from natural latex (powdered and powder-free) as 

well as synthetic polyisoprene are sold in different versions for medical facilities under the 
internationally renowned Sempermed brand. 

Sempercare covers the broad range of medical examination gloves for daily use in 
hospitals, care facilities and dental and medical practices.  

Semperguard comprises disposable and re-usable gloves offering protection in various 
areas such as  industry, laboratories, pharmaceuticals, the food industry, professional cleaning 
and hygiene. The consumer market, which is supplied by retailers, is growing in significance 
due to increasing awareness of the importance of hygiene. 

Besides natural rubber latex, examination and disposable gloves are made from the 
synthetic substances nitrile and vinyl. 

All told, sales of Sempermed examination and disposable gloves rose by 7% to over 
12.3 billion units and sales of Sempermed surgical gloves by 11% to 127 million pairs in 2011. 
Weighted by the underlying raw material, the share of nitrile-based examination and dispos-
able gloves climbed to around 30% in 2011, up from 20% in the previous year. The proportion 
of vinyl-based gloves was reduced slightly to 10%. Natural latex was used in 60% of all Sem-
permed products in 2011 (2010: 70%). It was possible to react to this shift in demand thanks 
to flexible production processes, although this was at the expense of production volumes. 
Detailed information on sourcing and processing raw materials can be found on page 48.

All Sempermed surgical gloves are produced at the Wimpassing facility in Austria. The 
labor-intensive quality control and packaging activities are carried out in Sopron, Hungary, 
which is located around 60 kilometers away.

Sharp rise in sales in 
2011 and change in 
importance of the raw 
materials used 

Comprehensive product 
portfolio with surgical 
and examination gloves 
made from natural latex 
and polyisoprene. 

Sempermed
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Approx. doubling of 
production capacities 
to 21.2 billion gloves by 
2015 planned 

In Thailand, Sempermed has forged a joint venture with Sri Trang Agro-Industry cover-
ing several facilities responsible for fabricating the examination and protective gloves for 
global distribution. Sempermed operates three of the world‘s largest facilities in this sector 
in Hatyai, a city in the south of the country close to the Malaysian border. Currently, the 
capacity there stands at 10.7 billion units a year and is to be increased to 12 billion units by 
2014. Surat Thani, where Sempermed currently has capacity of 0.7 billion units, is located 
some 300 kilometers from Hatyai; by the year 2013, this capacity should be expanded to  
3 billion examination gloves (option on 4.7 billion). Production is expected to commence 
at the new facility in Trang – a city not far from the Indian Ocean that is considered to be 
the main trading center for rubber – at the end of 2012. The capacity at that facility is to be 
increased to 3 billion units by 2015 with an option for a further enlargement to 4.5 billion. 

The production of PVC examination gloves was discontinued at the Shanghai facility at 
the end of 2011. Since then, this niche product has been manufactured by external contrac-
tors in accordance with Sempermed’s designs and quality standards. 

Technology and production processes
The technology center in Wimpassing is responsible for the further development of 

all Sempermed production facilities. In addition to safeguarding and continuously enhancing 
quality standards, it focuses on improving efficiency and ensuring that all resources are used 
as sparingly as possible. The further automation of processes, such as for packaging, forms 
a crucial part of this as do ongoing improvements to formulas and the search for product 
characteristics exactly meeting customer requirements and expectations. All Sempermed 
production facilities undergo regular testing by the technical control board TÜV and the 

* 50:50 joint venture with Sri Trang Agro-Industry

Sempermed gloves meet 
the highest require-
ments and standards 
in terms of safety and 
quality 

Production capacity at a glance

						      Planned expansions

				    Location	 2011	 between now and 2015 

Surgical gloves

				    Wimpassing, Austria	 150 million pairs of 	 Capacity for synthetic  

					     surgical gloves, 	 surgical gloves to be 

					     (packaging and quality	 enlarged to 160 million pairs 

					     control at the Sopron	  

					     facility in Hungary)	

Examination gloves 

				    Hatyai, Thailand*	 10.7 billion units	 Increase of 1.3 billion  

						      to 12 billion units

				    Surat Thani, Thailand*	 0.7 billion units	 Increase to 3 billion units 

						      by 2013 (option of an 

						      increase to 4.7 billion) 

				    Trang, Thailand*	 Production expected	 Increase to 3 billion units  

					     to commence end of 2012	 (option of an increase  

						      to 4.5 billion)

Total capacity of examination gloves  

(excl. retail goods)				    11.4 billion units	 21.2 billion units

31

Sempermed Semperit AG Holding  
Annual Report



Sempermed Semperit AG Holding  
Annual Report

Typical production process for  
Sempermed gloves

Top quality for maximum safety

The high quality standard of Sempermed gloves is acknowledged worldwide.  
European know-how, environmentally-conscious high-tech production and  
extensive quality management guarantee maximum safety and reliability with  
a price/performance ratio aimed at customers.

SUPPLY

Processing

CROSS-LINKING MATERIAL

ADDITIVES 

COMPOUNDING

Cleaning of formers

Stripping off

Washing/Leaching

Drying Neutralising/Leaching Drying

Drying Drying Drying

Rim Rolling

Dipping Dipping

Storage tanks

Latex

FINISH

PRODUCTION

After-treatment

* Only for sterile gloves

Sterilisation*
Quality
control

Testing

Drying

Packing

WORLD WIDE DISTRIBUTION

 for:
— stabilization
— conservation

3232



Semperit AG Holding  
Annual Report

US Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Production processes are regularly inspected by 
an accredited certification body for quality management system; certification is performed 
in accordance with ISO 9001, ISO 13485 and the requirements stipulated by the FDA. The 
Sempermed team tracks any changes in international standards to ensure an early response. 
Hence, Sempermed was the first manufacturer to produce examination gloves satisfying the 
new high-quality requirements stipulated by the Brazilian standard for medical gloves.

Markets and distribution
With a share of 46%, Europe, the Middle East and Africa (EMEA) constitute the most 

important sales markets for Sempermed, followed by the USA with around 30%. Asia and 
Latin America each account for around 12% share.

With sales of some 12 billion units, Sempermed holds around 8% of the market for ex-
amination gloves, with this share to be widened to 12% by 2015 thanks to an increase in sales 
volumes to 23 billion units. In the substantially smaller market for surgical gloves, Sempermed 
sold around 127 million pairs in 2011, achieving a share of 7% of the global market. The goal 
here is to sell 160 million pairs of surgical gloves and to attain 8% of the global market by 2015. 

The products are sold via an established network of selected distribution partners and 
the company‘s own sales branches. International fairs such as Medica and A+A in Düsseldorf, 
Germany are used as a forum for showcasing the latest product developments and explaining 
the possible uses to additionally support distribution activities. 

Business performance in 2011
Sempermed achieved a 17.4% increase in revenue to EUR 371.5 million in 2011 thanks 

to price and volume effects. With EBIT coming to EUR 34.5 million, the EBIT margin stood at 
9.3% and was thus substantially lower than in the previous year. A detailed analysis of business 
performance can be found in the segment management report on page 84.

17.4% increase in 
revenue to EUR 371.5 
million, EBIT margin 
9.3% 

Massive increase in the 
cost of natural rubber 
and butadiene

Revenue, EBIT,  
EBIT margin Sempermed

Sempermed key figures	 2011	  Change	 2010	 2009

Revenue in EUR million	 371.5	 17.4%	 316.4	 271.4

EBIT in EUR million	 34.5	 –26.8%	 47.1	 49.6

EBIT margin in %	 9.3	 –5,6 PP	 14.9	 18.3

Investments in EUR million	 20.7	 –22.8%	 26.8	 10.2

Annual average headcount	 4,834	 13.9%	 4,244	 4,141

Volatile raw material costs
Raw material costs account for a high two thirds of total expenses, meaning that these 

prices exert a material effect on Sempermed‘s business performance. The price of natural 
rubber proved to be exceedingly volatile in the course of 2011, reaching a high for the year of 
USD 6.49 per kilogram in February and averaging USD 4.80, 30% higher than in the previous 
year. In the first half of 2011, the price of butadiene – the main petrochemical input material 
for synthetic latex – also rose substantially to around EUR 2,500 per ton, stabilising at roughly 
EUR 2,000 per ton toward the end of the year. It was only possible to pass on these higher 
prices to customers to a partial extent or with a delay.

18.3
14.9

9.3

2009 2010 2011

271.4

49.6

316.4

47.1

371.5

34.5

  Revenue in EUR million 
  EBIT in EUR million 
  EBIT margin in %
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Growth potential and trends
Global demand for examination gloves exhibits strong regional differences and pecu-

liarities. Total annual sales volumes are currently estimated to equal around 155 billion units, 
with the USA accounting for 30% and Europe for 27%. Since these are highly saturated mar-
kets, annual growth is confined to a range of 3% to 5%. By contrast, Asia and the countries of 
Latin America, particularly Brazil, as well as the Eastern European markets such as Russia and 
Ukraine are growing substantially more dynamically, at annual rates of between 8% and 12% 
in these markets. This momentum is attributable to heightened awareness of the importance 
of hygiene as well as stricter rules in public medicine. In any case, these markets are starting 
from a substantially lower level. Whereas roughly 150 gloves per capita and year are used in 
the USA and over 60 in Europe, this figure stands at only 30 in Latin America and around 13 
in Asia.

Sempermed will be broadening its presence and strengthening distribution activities 
in these markets at the same time as well as widening market share in Europe and the USA 
to achieve its strategic goal of total sales of around 23 billion gloves by 2015. Around 70% 
of global demand is for products made from elastomer rubber, natural latex and synthetic 
latex (nitrile), with vinyl accounting for the remainder; in 2011, the nitrile business grew at a 
disproportionately strong rate. Looking forward over the coming years, the market share of 
nitrile as well as vinyl gloves is likely to continue expanding.

Global demand for surgical gloves currently stands at 1.7 billion pairs and is growing by 
around 3% per year. Given the nature of the application and the resulting significant demand 
for protection, the target groups are conservative and must be continuously convinced of 
the sustained reliability of the products and future product innovations. Sempermed reaps 
benefits from its strong brand image and will be intensifying efforts to set itself apart from its 
competitors, which are strengthening their positions in Asia in particular.

Modern immersion facility for glove manufacturing in Surat Thani, Thailand

Increase in sales volumes 
to 23 billion gloves by 
2015 planned 
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With revenue of EUR 186.9 million in 2011, Semperflex contributes around 22.8% to 
Semperit Group‘s revenue. Semperflex develops, produces and distributes hydraulic 
and industrial hoses as well as elastomer and wear-resistant sheeting.

Product portfolio and markets
The Semperflex hydraulic hoses business unit manufactures products for the transmis-

sion of energy in powerful heavy-duty machinery such as excavators and cranes. The portfolio 
comprises standard hydraulic hoses in line with relevant global standards and for modern 
heavy-duty hydraulic applications exceeding the relevant standards, as well as spiral hoses 
that satisfy high requirements with respect to pressure, temperature and impulse resistance. 
Washing machine hoses in different forms and variations are also manufactured. Customers 
chiefly include large and renowned industrial companies and dealers. Geographically, Europe 
accounts for around 50% of sales, with the balance divided between America and Asia.

Semperflex

Industrial and hydraulic hoses, for transport or efficient transmission of force

Semperflex industrial 
and hydraulic hoses are 
characterised by their 
variety of applications 
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The industrial hoses business unit covers the broad range of hose applications for 
industrial and technical requirements. Customers in the chemicals, gas, process, oil, automo-
tive and food industries are supplied via technical distribution partners. Hence, Semperflex 
industrial hoses can be found in milk collecting wagons as well as in aircraft fuelling systems, 
in mining, in the beverages industries, at steel mills and in the construction industry. 

Elastomer and wear-resistant sheeting forms a further element of Semperflex‘s busi-
ness. Elastomer sheeting is primarily sold to punching companies and technical traders for 
producing all kinds of seals. Wear-resistant sheeting is used for lining, among other things, 
and is characterised by high workability and abrasion resistance. 

Technology 
Hydraulic and industrial hoses chiefly comprise three elements: the rubber lining, also 

known as the hose core, comes into direct contact with the medium to be transported. The 
selection of the appropriate rubber compound ensures that the hose is suitable for carrying 
the medium in question. The reinforcement provides the hose with the necessary resistance 
to pressure or ensures that a vacuum is maintained. Depending on use, this reinforcement is 
made from textiles or steel wire or a combination of these two materials. The cover forms the 
exterior and visible part of the hose, protecting it from external factors such as weather and 
mechanical impact in line with its intended use.

The technology center in Wimpassing is responsible for the ongoing further devel-
opment of the Semperflex product range and the production technologies used. Centrally 
defined standards ensure uniform quality. Comparable production processes and raw materi-
als are used at all production facilities around the world. In this way, customers are able to 
rely on Semperflex‘s quality regardless of where they are and simultaneously benefit from the 
Group‘s geographic proximity. 

Production facilities
Spiral hydraulic hoses, industrial hoses fabricated using steel spikes and elastomer and 

wear-resistant sheeting are produced at the Wimpassing facility. In Hatyai, Thailand, Semper-
flex operates one of the largest hose plants in Asia, which has been producing hydraulic and 
washing machine hoses for global distribution for over 15 years. The competence and produc-
tion center for long-length industrial hoses is based in Odry, Czech Republic. Hydraulic braid 
hoses are also manufactured there for the European market. In addition, the hydraulic hose 
testing center is responsible for quality assurance for this product group. Bespoke industrial 
hoses for individual applications are produced in Rovigo, North Italy. Hydraulic hoses for the 
Chinese market are manufactured in Shanghai.

Example construction of 
a hose

Production sites for 
hoses in Austria, the 
Czech Republic, Italy, 
Thailand and China 

Broad range of uses for 
industrial hoses, Europe 
in focus 
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Semperflex hydraulic hoses, for optimum transmission of force

Revenue, EBIT,  
EBIT margin Semperflex

186.9

25.0

13.4

24.2

16.7

0.4

105.3

145.5

2009 2010 2011

0.4

Growth potential and trends
The performance of Semperflex‘s hydraulic hose business – and to a lesser extent its 

industrial hose business as well – is influenced by the trend in (end-) customers‘ investments. 
Given the difficult overall economic situation in Europe and the USA, demand is unlikely to 
surge substantially – at least not in the short term. 

By contrast, growth is expected to be a good deal more robust in the markets of Asia 
and Latin America. Semperflex should benefit from this momentum with the planned expan-
sions of its production facilities in China and Thailand. Sales activities in the industrial hose 
business are being stepped up in Ukraine and Russia, and production capacity in the Czech 
Republic boosted.

Business performance in 2011
Revenue in the Semperflex segment rose by 28.5% to EUR 186.9 million in 2011. In 

addition to substantial volume growth, this was also due to price effects caused by higher raw 
material costs. EBIT climbed by 3.3% versus the previous year to 25.0 EUR million. A detailed 
analysis of business performance can be found in the management report on page 85.

Semperflex key figures	 2011	  Change	 2010	 2009

Revenue in EUR million	 186.9	 28.5%	 145.5	 105.3

EBIT in EUR million	 25.0	 3.3%	 24.2	 0.4

EBIT margin in %	 13.4	 –3.3 PP	 16.7	 0.4

Investments in EUR million	 16.1	 15.8%	 13.9	 4.4

Annual average headcount	 1,382	 19.0%	 1,161	 1,058

  Revenue in EUR million 
  EBIT in EUR million 
  EBIT margin in %
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As one of the world‘s largest producers of technical conveyor belts, Sempertrans 
generated revenue of EUR 147.0 million in 2011, thus contributing 17.9% to Semperit 
Group‘s total revenue. 

Product portfolio 
Sempertrans specialises in developing, producing and distributing conveyor belts 

used primarily in mining, the steel industry, the cement industry, in power stations, in civil 
engineering and in the transport industry (particularly for ports). The range comprises textile 
and steel-cord conveyor belts able to meet the requirements of the specific application to 
optimum effect. The core characteristics include high resistance to abrasion, heat and oil 
coupled with excellent high-strength performance. Sempertrans‘ extensive technical skills 
in designing and configuring conveyor belts help customers to achieve an optimum plant 
layout. Assembly and maintenance service and advice ensure that customers are able to use 
the belts as efficiently as possible. Furthermore, these services ensure direct contact with the 
application and customers‘ operations, thus providing valuable feedback that is used for the 
ongoing improvement of the product portfolio.

With more than 50 years of experience, Sempertrans is able to offer an optimum solu-
tion for just about any application. Sempertrans‘ steel-cord conveyor belts are characterised 
by high reliability and durability. Belt widths range from 500 to 3,200 millimeters. The require-
ments that must be met vary according to the specific application. Sempertrans steel-cord 
conveyor belts are particularly suitable for harsh conditions and wide axle distances and are 
additionally characterised by high tensile strength. 

Sempertrans supplies textile conveyor belts in widths of 400 to 2,750 millimeters for 
transporting bulk materials of all characteristics. For example, the Transoil conveyor belt has 
been specifically developed for transporting products containing oil or fat, while Transflam 
and Transtherm offer fire and heat-resistant conveyor belts. 

Sempertrans

Sempertrans textile 
or steel-cord conveyor 
belts are used world-
wide.      
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Markets
Sempertrans‘ total production output came to around 36,000 tons in 2011. In Europe, 

it holds 20% of the market and globally it is the fourth largest producer, with 5% of the market. 
Directly supplied customers primarily comprise companies in mining and heavy-duty industry. 
In addition, it supplies plant construction companies, distributors and service providers. All 
customer segments are addressed by a globally active sales team and professional key ac-
count management. Sempertrans Maintenance France Nord offers global customers special 
services characterised by extensive skills and many years of experience in the on-site installa-
tion and maintenance of conveyor belts. 

Production facilities
Sempertrans fabricates high-quality steel-cord and textile conveyor belts at its Bel-

chatów facility in Poland. This facility specialises in heavy-duty, high-strength wide/extrawide 
belts. Stolin, which is located at the same site, also produces steel cords for internal use, 
thus ensuring individual solutions and short delivery times. Located in a suburb of Paris, the 
Argenteuil site specialises in producing technically complex textile and steel-cord conveyor 
belts for special uses. 

In Asia, Sempertrans has two production facilities of its own in the world‘s two largest 
single markets: namely, China and India. In India, Sempertrans Nirlon joined the Semperit 
Group in 2000. Light and middle-heavy textile conveyor belts meeting the highest possible 
standards of quality are produced in the city of Roha, approximately 120 kilometers south-
east of Mumbai. Semperit acquired a majority interest in Sempertrans Best in China in 2009. 
Located in the province of Shandong, this production facility manufactures textile and steel-
cord conveyor belts.

Production facility, Belchatów, Poland

20% market share in 
Europe, world number 4

Production sites in 
Poland, France, India 
and China 
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Revenue, EBIT,  
EBIT margin  
Sempertrans

147.0

11.3

7.7

2009 2010 2011

0.0

118.1114.9

11.8

10.3

0.0

  Revenue in EUR million 
  EBIT in EUR million 
  EBIT margin in %

Business performance in 2011
Revenue in the Sempertrans segment rose by 24.5% to EUR 147.0 million in 2011. At 

the same time, there was a fundamental improvement in EBIT to EUR 11.3 million. A detailed 
analysis of business performance can be found in the management report on page 87.

Growth potential and trends
Sempertrans is pursuing two mega-trends of modern times: raw materials and en-

ergy, which in the coming years too will primarily be driven by Asia and Latin America. Hav-
ing already entered the Chinese market successfully in 2009 and now currently optimising 
production operations, Sempertrans is set to expand its position in the Asian markets. An 
order implemented in Thailand in 2011 for a 22 kilometer-long facility has become a refer-
ence project for the Asia-Pacific region. Additional growth in Europe is being driven by coal 
production, boosted by Germany‘s exit from nuclear power. 

Thanks to product innovations such as the LRR conveyor belt (low rolling resistance) to 
reduce energy consumption (see page 53) and the acquisition of new customers in all regions, 
2011 marked the achievement of several important milestones in terms of the future develop-
ment of Sempertrans. The growth strategy is being supported by investments in production 
locations, most recently in Belchatów. This is where a highly modern rollerhead installation 
has been constructed, further enhancing quality and increasing productivity. Furthermore, 
know-how in China is constantly being expanded and improved.

Sempertrans key figures	 2011	 Change	 2010	 2009

Revenue in EUR million	 147.0	 24.5%	 118.1	 114.9

EBIT in EUR million	 11.3	 –	 0.0	 11.8

EBIT margin in %	 7.7	 7.7 PP	 0.0	 10.3

Investments in EUR million	 2.0	 –66.6%	 5.9	 5.5

Annual average headcount	 931	 0.4%	 927	 759

Sempertrans conveyor belts
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As one of the leading European manufacturers of moulded and extrusion products 
made of rubber and plastic, the Semperform segment generated revenue of EUR 114.6 
million in the 2011 financial year.

Product portfolio 
Semperform has a comprehensive portfolio of products ranging from elastomer and 

insulation profiles, handrails, sheaves, liners and rubber foils to construction profiles. The suc-
cess of these products depends on many different factors and conditions. The one common 
thread, however, is that tailored solutions are developed in close consultation with customers, 
forming a basis for many years of future collaboration. The most important product groups 
are described in the following section.

Construction profile
The construction profile business unit generates the most sales for Semperform, offer-

ing seals for windows, doors and facades. Thanks to specially developed cross-section pro-
files, the rubber window seals not only ensure thermal insulation, but also provide protection 
between adjoining construction units, frames and window casements. Semperform is one of 
the market leaders in Europe with seals for plastic windows. Semperform seals for doors and 
gates are characterised by their special surface coating that prevents abrasion against the slid-
ing surface. Seals for aluminum windows and facades by Semperform are used all around the 
world and are proven to be highly resistant to wind and rain as well as durable. The customers 
in these three product segments are largely system suppliers, and the principal sales markets 
are Austria, Germany, France, Poland, Ukraine and Russia. All of the seals are manufactured in 
Deggendorf, Germany, which has a capacity of more than 400 million meters. The main base 
material is EPDM (ethylene propylene diene monomer), prices for which rose sharply in 2011.

Handrails
Semperform manufactures handrails for escalators with varying technical specifications 

and properties in Wimpassing (Austria) and in Shanghai (China). Commanding a significant 
world market share, it is one of the market leaders not only in terms of volume, but also in 
the areas of quality and technology. The Chinese market accounts for roughly two-thirds of 
annual sales volumes. Handrails are safety components for use both indoors and outdoors 
and represent very sophisticated technology. The advantages of Semperit handrails lie in the 
high dimensional stability of the profiles and the high tensile strength, which exceed statutory 
safety standards.

Semperform

Very good market 
position for escalator 
handrails 

Market leader in Europe 
for profiles for plastic 
windows 
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Industrial moulds  
The Semperform product portfolio also includes injection moulding items for sealing 

or absorbing purposes. For example, elastic mountings for sleepers are manufactured for 
track superstructures to absorb noise (sleeper shoes), or sleepers that are used for prefabri-
cated track parts. Other key segments include pipe construction, sanitary and industrial seals. 
The moulds are produced in Wimpassing, Austria and in Sopron, Hungary.

Sheave and bullwheel liners
Semperit sheaves and liners are used as wearing parts in ropeway facilities. Semperform 

has managed to position itself as one of the global market leaders in this niche market and 
works together with all of the main manufacturers of ropeways, surface lifts and cableways. 
In addition to constructing new systems, demand depends on the use of existing installations 
and therefore ultimately on the weather as well as snowfall in winter sports destinations. 

Rubber foils
Semperform rubber foils are characterised by their special surface texture that guar-

antees optimal adhesive properties and therefore opens up new opportunities for use. They 
are used in many lightweight structures in the aviation and body construction sectors. These 
foils are also used as ski foils in the products of almost every popular brand, bringing added 
stability. Semperit is global market leader in this niche market.

Semperform sheave and bullwheel liners and ski foil

Comprehensive product 
portfolio for track 
superstructures 
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Semperform handrails are used for escalators worldwide

  Revenue in EUR million 
  EBIT in EUR million
  EBIT margin in %

Business performance in 2011
Revenue in the Semperform segment rose by 4.7% to EUR 114.6 million in 2011. Sup-

ported by effective cost management and non-recurring effects, EBIT improved by 18.9% to 
EUR 18.9 million. A detailed analysis of business performance can be found in the manage-
ment report on page 88.

Market trends and potential
Semperform benefits from its efficient positioning in selected niche markets, but ones 

that are growing at different rates. In the window profile business unit, the aim is to continue 
expanding the position accomplished with PVC windows and transfer this to the segment of 
metal windows. The handrails business unit is increasingly being influenced by the Chinese 
market, for which Semperform develops reasonably priced yet high-quality products. For 
all business segments, the objective is to improve customer support further with a view to 
countering the current uncertainties on the market and safeguarding earnings levels by means 
of active cost and materials management.

Semperform key figures	 2011	  Change	 2010	 2009

Revenue in EUR million	 114.6	 4.7%	 109.4	 96.5

EBIT in EUR million	 18.9	 18.9%	 15.9	 10.3

EBIT margin in %	 16.5	 2.0 PP	 14,5	 10.7

Investments in EUR million	 5.6	 –3.0%	 5.8	 2.5

Annual average headcount	 654	 0.6%	 650	 666

Revenue, EBIT,  
EBIT margin  
Semperform

114.6
109.4

2009 2010 2011

10.7

14.5
16.5

96.5

10.3

18.915.9
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Investment in production capacity: Semperit plant in China

Semperit Group has the strategic goal of achieving double-digit average growth in rev-
enue in the years to 2015 (compound annual growth rate, CAGR), thereby safeguarding 
the company‘s earnings capacity. The main growth impulses are expected to come 
from the Sempermed and Semperflex segments. 

Ambitious 
growth strategy

Strategy process and responsibility
Semperit Group‘s Management Board launched a company-wide process at the end of 

2010 to re-focus and define corporate strategy. In early 2011, this evolved into a comprehen-
sive package of measures to achieve growth objectives. 

The strategic goals are regularly addressed and updated by the Executive Committee, 
which comprises not only the directors but also the heads of segments and central admin-
istrative units. The Supervisory Board of Semperit AG Holding is regularly involved in this 
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process via the Management Board. The entire strategy process is supported by the central 
Corporate Development department. The segment heads are responsible for implementing 
the agreed measures, and are supported in these efforts by central admin units such as Hu-
man Resources, Purchasing, R&D and Technology. 

Strategic goals 
Accelerating revenue and earnings growth and therefore securing a sustained increase 

in the company‘s enterprise value are key elements of the Semperit corporate strategy. The 
objective is to achieve double-digit average growth in revenue in the years to 2015 (CAGR),  
organically as well as through selected acquisitions. 

In parallel, attention must be paid to cost management and therefore protecting the 
high earnings capacity of Semperit Group. The key figures for assessing these goals are the 
return on total assets before taxes and the EBIT margin. In both cases, the aim is to maintain 
these indicators in double digits.

For the two sectors of Medical and Industrial, this means adapting to different cir-
cumstances. While capacity growth for Medical has to be aligned with long-term market 
opportunities, the Industrial sector – with the segments of Semperflex, Sempertrans and 
Semperform – experiences strong cyclical demand in many areas, which explains why pro-
duction capacities and resources here must be adapted quickly and flexibly to changes in 
demand. Semperit Group enjoys a valuable sectoral and geographical diversification thanks 
to the stability of the Medical sector combined with the growth and cyclical nature of the 
Industrial sector and the international focus. 

Semperit Group‘s balance sheet structure is very stable, with an equity ratio of 60.4% 
as of year-end 2011 and cash and cash equivalents of EUR 97.9 million. To safeguard this 
stability and expansion opportunities, Semperit Group‘s resource utilisation strategy aims 
to strike a balance between growth investments and reasonable shareholder compensation. 
A payout ratio of 30% is now seen as appropriate shareholder remuneration. Investments to 
increase capacities or to develop new markets will be given priority if these can achieve a 
sustained increase in the company‘s enterprise value. 

Semperit‘s growth strategy is based on the following factors and requirements, 
among other things:

•	 Significant expansion in sales channels
•	 Rapid integration of any corporate acquisitions
•	 Safeguarding cost management
•	 Development of market-driven product innovations  

		  in defined core business fields (see on page 51)
•	 Further improvements in customer service (see page 46)
•	 Positioning as attractive employer (see on page 58)
•	 Establishment of a platform for all corporate activities in China 
•	 Gradual expansion of operations in Latin America
•	 Lean and effective corporate structures

Accelerated growth, on 
average double-digit 
revenue increases until 
2015 

Stability gained from 
the medical sector, com-
bined with the growth 
and cyclical tendency of 
the industrial sector 

Solid balance sheet 
structure with an equity 
ratio of 60.4% 
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Focus on customer needs
Semperit Group has to hold its own in business areas that are extremely competitive, 

some of which have dominant players. Furthermore, the economic climate is characterised 
by volatile commodity prices, and above all, an industrial sector clouded by persistent uncer-
tainty among market participants. Hence, optimising customer service plays a key role when 
implementing the growth strategy. 

In the 2011 financial year, a group-wide initiative was launched to improve the standard 
of customer service. The main objectives here were to gradually increase delivery reliability, 
shorten order throughput times and optimise complaints management. Toward the end of 
2011, an international customer survey was initiated to evaluate their most important con-
cerns. The resulting findings were channeled into a comprehensive package of measures that 
is being implemented by the operating segments and gauged based on selected indicators. 

Effective structures and focus on performance
To meet the structural requirements for continued growth, the organisational focus of 

Semperit Group is based on the four operating segments of Sempermed, Semperflex, Sem-
pertrans and Semperform. The segment heads manage the various company units in their 
segments and coordinate their strategic focus with the overall strategy of Semperit Group. 

To encourage this focus on performance and boost motivation, efforts began in the 
reporting year to implement various instruments such as management by objectives and a 
bonus framework, which should embrace all management levels in the coming years. The 
development of a common corporate culture and values is just as important here as effective 
feedback, internal career and junior staff planning as well as fostering special talent. The 
Management Board is particularly keen to promote international exchanges in the context of 
global cooperation and knowledge transfer (more details on this are available from page 58).

Sempermed – accelerated growth
In the business unit of Examination Gloves, the Sempermed segment has set itself the 

objective of raising its global market share from approximately 8% at present to 12% by 2015, 
which means doubling sold quantities to roughly 23 billion examination gloves. The countries 
of Brazil, Russia and China are likely to lend some particularly strong momentum to these 
growth plans, alongside the expansion of market share in the core regions of the USA and 
Europe. Sempermed sites in Thailand are currently being expanded to provide the capacities 
needed for this, and they will move into production in various stages by 2015. The goal for the 
business unit of Surgical Gloves is to increase production volumes by 2015 from the current 
128 million pairs to 160 million, thereby increasing the global market share from 7% to 8% 
(more details on Sempermed can be found from page 30 as well as in the management report 
from page 84).

Semperflex – increase of market shares
By strengthening our presence in the growth markets of Asia and Latin America as well 

as expanding existing and acquiring new capacities, Semperflex wants to carve out a leading 
position on the global market by 2015 for the business unit of Hydraulic Hoses. Sales activities 
in the business unit for Industrial Hoses are being stepped up in Ukraine, Russia and Turkey 
to carve out a leading market position in Europe, while production capacities are also being 
widened in the Czech Republic. The field of elastomer sheeting will continue to target the 
quality segment in Western European markets. (For more details on Semperflex please refer 
to page 35 as well as the management report on page 85).

Semperflex

Group-wide initiative 
launched to further 
improve customer 
satisfaction 

Clear structures and  
effective tools to 
promote the company’s 
identity and motivation
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Sempertrans – selective growth
To benefit from the continued strong demand for materials and energy, Sempertrans 

will continue to drive business in the markets of Asia and Latin America. The planned invest-
ments focus on quality products to serve the growth markets and segments. After achieving 
the turnaround in the reporting year, the overarching objectives are to safeguard long-term 
earnings on the one hand, and to achieve region and segment-specific growth on the other 
(for more details on Sempertrans please refer to page 38 as well as the management report 
on page 87).

Semperform – focus on profitable market niches
In Semperform’s Building Construction Profile business unit, the aim is to defend the 

achieved market position attained in Europe and fully exploit the potential in selected mar-
kets throughout Eastern Europe. In the Handrails business unit, work is progressing in line 
with the high demand of the Chinese market for a differentiated product range that meets 
local needs as accurately as possible (for more details on Semperform please refer to page 41 
and the management report on page 88).

Expansion of capacities
The operating segments of Semperit Group are currently working on several projects 

to boost their capacities, which are estimated to cost up to EUR 45 million. These efforts 
focus on the two segments of Sempermed and Semperflex, and the following table provides 
an overview of the plans. 

Sempertrans

Semperform

Current investment projects 2011–2013

Sector	 Segment	 Measure	 Place or country	 Capacity	 Year

Medical	 Sempermed	 Construction	 Trang, 	 3 billion units		 from 2013 

			   of new	 Thailand	 (option of an 

			   facility		  increase to 

					     4.5 billion)	

		  Sempermed	 Expansion	 Surat Thani, 	 3 billion units		 from 2012	

				    Thailand	 (option of an 

					     increase to 

					     4.7 billion)

		  Sempermed	 Production	 Malaysia			  from 2012	

			   of porcelain-					   

			   dip moulds				  

Investment volume up to EUR 35 million				     		

Industrial	 Semperflex	 Expansion	 Thailand	 up to +15%		  H2 2012

		  Semperflex	 Expansion	 China	 up to +15%		  H2 2012

		  Semperflex	 Expansion	 Czech Republic	 up to +20%		  H2 2012

		  Sempertrans	 Expansion	 India	 up to +30%		  2012

		  Semperform	 Expansion	 China	 up to +15%		  2012

Investment volume up to EUR 10 million

47

Semperit AG Holding  
Annual Report

Strategy



Given the high proportion of raw materials in Semperit Group‘s total expenditures, 
pursuing an active purchasing policy along with integrated raw materials management 
is strategically important. While personnel costs have been limited over several years to 
roughly 15% of operating performance, material costs make up approximately 60%. Due to  
Semperit‘s product portfolio, a large part of these expenses relate to latex and rubber, syn-
thetic raw materials and auxiliary materials that are required for further processing. 

As part of the active cost and raw materials management approach, risks incurred 
due to volatile trends in raw material costs are minimised. Detailed market analyses enable 
countermeasures to be introduced in time, leading to delivery conditions that meet the needs 
of the market. Thanks to the flexible design of production lines and formulas, the raw materi-
als used can quickly be changed: e.g. switching from natural latex to nitrile latex. Group-wide 
programs ensure that resource utilisation is continuously optimised (for details see page 52, 
Research and development).

Natural rubber and natural latex
Around 11 million tons of natural rubber and natural latex are produced each year, 70% 

of which in Thailand, Malaysia and Indonesia. As a renewable resource, natural latex comes 
from rubber trees, and 80% to 90% of it is processed into natural rubber. Rubber trees grow 
for about seven years after being planted before they can be tapped for the first time by mak-
ing an incision into the bark. Every day, one tree can provide roughly 100 milliliters of latex, 
which corresponds to about 30–40 grams of solid rubber. In the countries referred to above, 
around 80% to 90% of the total area under cultivation is managed by so-called smallholders. 
The average area cultivated is about two hectares, which can yield roughly two to three tons 
of solid rubber per year. These quantities are sold by intermediaries who supply the process-
ing businesses with the latex or raw rubber. A large proportion of the processed quantities 
– about 80% to 90% – is required by the markets and sold in the form of rubber. Prices for 
end-users are determined on commodity exchanges. Given the small scale of the processes 
to tap latex, it is very difficult to manage supply, while the quality fluctuates strongly too. This 
creates significant challenges for Semperit both with production and purchasing. 

Natural rubber can 
only be harvested seven 
years after planting 

Active cost and 
raw materials 
management

Volatile raw mate-
rial costs demand 
active management 
and flexible production 
processes 
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The price of natural rubber proved to be exceedingly volatile in the course of 2011, 
reaching a high for the year of USD 6.49 per kg in February and averaging out at USD 4.80 
per kg for the year, which is 30% higher than in the previous year. The price headed steadily 
downward from the second quarter, leading to a price of around USD 3.00 per kg by the end 
of 2011, but this was still profitable for farmers and manufacturers. In addition to supply being 
influenced by the weather and market speculation surrounding the rubber exchanges, prices 
are determined above all by demand in the tire industry, which accounts for approximately 
70% to 80% of annual quantities.

The market for natural latex also reached its annual peak toward the end of the first 
quarter and the start of the second quarter. Prices fell steadily in what remained of the year. 

Synthetic rubber and synthetic latex
Butadiene is the main raw material for synthetic latex and rubber. As a petrochemical 

by-product, its price is partially dependent on the price of crude oil, and in this case we have 
seen above-average increases in recent years caused by factors specific to the market. In 
the first eight months of 2011, the price of butadiene almost doubled to around EUR 2,500, 
but by the end of the year it had fallen back down below EUR 2,000 per tonne. The price of 
butadiene had a significant influence on pricing trends for the main types of synthetic rubber 
and latex. After bottlenecks in supply in the first six months of 2011, prices rose until the third 
quarter by more than the inflation of the base material, but then proceeded to fall again from 
September.

Industrial carbon black and wire
Industrial carbon blacks play a crucial role in the processing of rubber. They increase the 

firmness of the rubber and therefore make it stiffer, harder, give it better impact resistance, 
greater tensile strength and optimal abrasion resistance. Global annual demand amounts 
to approximately nine million tons. The production of carbon blacks requires a significant 
amount of energy. The high demand from the tire industry resulted in significant problems 
with supply in the second quarter of 2011, while higher energy costs also led to higher prices. 
In the second half of the year, spot prices receded to contract level and stabilised. 

Raw natural rubber, Thai farmer harvesting rubber

The price of natural 
rubber rose by 30% on 
average in 2011 

Doubling of the price of 
butadiene to EUR 2,500 
per tonne, although 
levelling out towards the 
end of the year 

Sharp rise in the price of 
wires and carbon black 
in 2011 
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Higher prices for long steel and the strong economic activity in the automobile and tire 
sectors pushed wire prices up in the first half of 2011. Toward the end of the year, however, 
the reduction in demand exerted downward pressure on prices, and prices in China especially 
dropped sharply from November.

Centralised purchasing
Semperit Group‘s company-wide purchasing processes are guided by centralised pro-

curement procedures to take advantage of economies of scale and uniform quality standards. 

Semperit safeguards its supply of raw materials by working closely with many suppli-
ers. One such partnership is with Sri Trang Agro-Industry, the largest producer and exporter 
of latex and natural rubber in Thailand, with whom the company also has a production joint 
venture in Thailand. To intensify efforts on the procurement market, purchasing responsibili-
ties for latex and natural rubber were relocated to Singapore in 2011.

The purchasing of industrial carbon black is also diversified over several sources, 
whereby producers from China and India are increasingly moving into the global markets in 
addition to European players. The work on these markets is supported by local organisations. 
For example, around the middle of the year a purchasing office was opened in Shanghai, 
which is responsible for coordinating all purchasing activities in China.

The acquisition prices for wires and steel cord that are used in the conveyor belt instal-
lations of Sempertrans and in the hoses of Semperflex are naturally dependent on the prices 
of the corresponding raw material and have proven to be extremely volatile in recent years. In 
these segments, the company works together with leading market suppliers, achieving cost 
advantages via supplies from Asia. The purchasing risk with steel cord is minimised thanks to 
the company‘s own production operations in Belchatów.

Economies of scale with purchasing are secured by pooling raw material requirements 
within a region and on a global scale. Additionally, standardising raw material specifications 
forms the basis for high-quality standards at Semperit. A centralised supplier management 
and information system supports the operating units and helps to establish a cross-segment 
supplier network. 

Bundling and coordina-
tion of purchasing to 
ensure economies of 
scale 

Natural rubber in 
processing 
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Semperit Group has established itself as a leader in cost, innovation and quality, de-
pending on the requirements of the different sales markets. The varying requirements 
for product characteristics and manufacturing processes are met thanks to a funda-
mental research and development strategy.

Research and 
development

Employee in the research and development centre in Wimpassing, Austria
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Research strategy and organisation
The high value placed on research and development is also reflected by the research 

center at the Austrian Wimpassing site, which approves and manages all related agendas. It 
also serves as a cross-departmental transfer of knowledge and exchange of experience, as 
well as for coordinating with external development partners. An average of 65 employees 
work at this main center of excellence. Semperit Group‘s research strategy focuses on the 
following objectives:

•	 Market-oriented product innovations in the specified business segments
•	 Securing a competitive edge by reducing costs and quality advantages
•	 Flexible production processes thanks to the optimisation of the capacity  

		  of reaction to changes in raw material prices and market needs.
•	 Securing internal synergies through the transfer of knowledge

Optimising the use of resources
In order to achieve the aforementioned strategic objective, Semperit Group has been 

pursuing two central program for several years: With the Waste of Material Program (WOM), 
the use of resources is being continuously improved through three focal points. WOM 1 fo-
cuses on inspecting the quantities delivered, to the extent that is permitted by law. WOM 2 
focuses on reducing the amount of waste, aborted work and complaints by improving the 
stability and control of processes. The ongoing optimisation of product designs is guaranteed 
thanks to WOM 3. The Waste of Properties Program (WOP) refers to the characteristics of 
raw materials and of materials developed and manufactured internally. At the same time, it is 
critically scrutinised as to which characteristics of the end-product are actually expected, and 
which of them could be made more efficient. Stable and reproducible processes are the bases 
for the practicability of both programs. In order to determine which influencing variables are 
relevant, it is crucial that the key basic and auxiliary processes of the rubber processing indus-
try – such as mixing, shaping and vulcanising – are fundamentally scrutinised. After evaluating 
the degree of conversion used up until now, and identifying the potential, the WOM and WOP 
programs were relaunched in the fourth quarter of 2011, when the requirements for further 
optimisation steps in the subsequent years were established.

Research collaborations
Semperit Group is involved in numerous basic research collaborations with internation-

al research institutes and universities. The research areas range from basic development to 
rheology (deformation and flow behavior), and from the life expectancy of rubber mixtures to 
dynamically stressed objects and the development of elastomer adhesives. In addition to col-
laborating with universities, the Group is notably also conducting basic research at so-called 
Kplus centers, which are research facilities operated jointly by business and scientific experts 
for a limited period of time. An example of successful collaboration is the UV Crosslinking 
Project, which was undertaken by Semperit together with the Polymer Competence Center 
Leoben (PCCL), the Graz University of Technology and the University of Leoben. The aim of 
the project is to reduce allergies and skin irritations caused by natural latex gloves by eliminat-
ing irritant chemicals and latex proteins. UV Crosslinking is an innovative process, whereby 
natural latex is prevulcanised by way of a UV-induced reaction, which means that sensitising 
or allergenic chemicals are not required. The procedure was patent pending in 2011, and 
should finally allow UV-connected surgical gloves to be manufactured. A detailed study of 
the production processes and procedures necessary for this is currently being undertaken. 

Research centre 
Wimpassing approves 
and manages all R&D 
agendas 

Two group-wide 
programmes to reduce 
the consumption of re-
sources and to optimise 
product characteristics 

Cooperations with 
universities focus on 
basic developments and 
market-driven product 
innovations 
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Sempermed 
After completing the development process for the production of powder-free natural 

and synthetic latex gloves in an online process last year, the manufacturing process could be 
implemented on the Thai production line in 2011. The production processes are currently 
being stabilised, and preparations are being made for automatic packaging directly on the 
production line. In addition, various production stabilisation projects were completed in 2011. 
The projects for developing procurement alternatives for strategically important raw materi-
als – which can only be obtained from a small number of suppliers – will also continue in the 
next few years, as well as studies into the reduction of allergenic proteins. An additional 
development project is focusing on an innovative packaging concept involving the automatic 
cuffing of surgical gloves. 

Semperflex
In the 2011 financial year, the Hydraulics business undertook several procedural 

projects with the aim of improving process capability and safety, developing materials and 
harmonising materials that had previously been used differently across various regions. The 
Industrial sector successfully pushed forward with the redesign of sandblasting and welding 
gas hoses, as well as the redevelopment of hoses for new and existing operational areas. 
Important preliminary work was carried out for the development of new products, such as the 
channel flush hose and abrasion hose. In the Elastomer Sheeting business, the procedural and 
material-related projects aimed at retaining competitiveness were continued. 

Sempertrans
Numerous research projects and initiatives were also completed or continued in the 

Sempertrans business in 2011. This included a project for reducing vulcanisation times during 
the manufacture of steel rope and textile conveyor belts, the completion of the development 
of flame-retardant, oil-resistant and cryogenically suitable conveyor belts, and an examination 
of the energy-saving potential of steel rope conveyor belts. Four years ago, the low rolling 
resistance belt marked the beginning of a research project carried out by the Sempertrans 
segment into the development of an energy-saving conveyor belt. The defined objective was 
to reduce the energy needs of an entire conveyor mechanism by 20%. Since the rolling friction 
of the conveyor belt was the cause of about 60% of the total resistance, it was necessary to 
reduce energy loss by optimising the materials used to cover the belt. Two generations of the 
ECO Belt have now been developed. In comparison with previous solutions, during the first 
generation, a potential energy-saving rate of around 20% was achieved with the material. 
The second generation then achieved a saving of between 35% and 40%. An endurance test 
was then carried out at the Institution for Transport and Automation Technology (ITA) in the 
German city of Hanover, and a practical test phase began in early 2011. The actual market 
launch is planned for 2012. 

Semperform
In 2011, the Semperform segment was able to finalise the development process for 

the partly automated manufacture of handrails for the factory in China. In addition to the 
achievement of cost-reduction potential, a handrail was developed, which meets tailor-made 
new, customer-specific requirements. In the area of window, door and façade sections, two 
projects were carried out, in which economically optimised solutions were developed thanks 
to improved use of materials, and the manufacturing process for the complex alloy window 
structures was optimised. There were also redevelopments for stoneware pipe seals, heating 
expansion tank membranes and filter membranes. In addition, product development projects 
are currently being undertaken for insulating rail pads and rail mounting elements, for opti-
mising vulcanisation times, and in the area of aluminium windows and façades.

Ongoing product 
innovations and further 
optimisation of produc-
tion processes 

Redesign of industrial 
hoses and preliminary 
work for new applica-
tions 

Low rolling resistance 
belt increases energy 
efficiency, market entry 
planned for 2012 

Improved material usage 
and partly automated 
manufacture of handrails 
in China  
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Semperit Group‘s primary strategic objective is aimed at achieving a sustainable  
increase in the company‘s enterprise value. In order to achieve this goal, it is vital to 
strike a balance between economic, ecological and social aspects. Due to the Group‘s 
line of business, the economical use of resources of all types and the fair, responsible 
treatment of employees are particularly important. 

Sustainable 
company  
management

Longstanding collaboration with SOS Children’s Villages in Thailand
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Environmental management
Semperit Group is preventing pollution caused by all segments during production to 

the greatest extent possible by means of an effective environmental management system. 
The bases for this management system are statutory provisions and requirements aimed 
at environmental protection and the reduction of emissions. The management staff of the 
respective production and business premises are responsible for complying with these provi-
sions. Furthermore, there are clear regulations governing responsibilities for the different is-
sues of environmental protection, such as waste management officers and effluent treatment 
managers. Employees are regularly informed about and trained on the issue of compliance 
with the relevant regulations and instructions, and officers are familiarised with the latest 
versions of laws and ordinances. 

Semperit Technische Produkte GmbH has been certified under ISO 9001 for many 
years, as well as under ISO EN 13485 in the area of medical technology. In the 2010 financial 
year, the Shanghai Semperit Rubber & Plastic Products Co. Ltd. factory became the first site 
in the Group to undergo an external evaluation of its environmental performance and was 
certified under ISO 140001:2004 at the beginning of 2011. 

Semperit Group supports the REACH (Registration, Evaluation and Authorisation of 
Chemicals) guidelines, which took effect in 2007, and are designed to promote the respon-
sible use of chemical substances.

Economical use of resources
By constantly increasing its resource efficiency, Semperit wants to reduce pollution, 

while at the same time improving profitability. During the planning stage, all raw materials, 
mixtures and processes that were originally used are researched to ascertain their impact on 
the environment, and are then optimised. The use of environmentally harmful raw materials is 
avoided during the main material development as far as is practically possible. Detailed ob-
jectives for the reduction of material usage and energy consumption have been established, 
which are periodically examined by the management and amended for further procedures. 
No banned materials are used in any part of the production process. Furthermore, wherever 
possible, extreme caution is exercised when using putrescible or recyclable raw materials 
(replacing foil with paper, PVC with PP etc.). 

Minimising the impact on the environment 
Semperit‘s typical business activities involve air and water emissions and waste. Sem-

perit makes an effort to coordinate production processes in such a way that emissions and 
waste not only conform with legal regulations, but also fall significantly below the permitted 
limits. Through the use of effective technology – such as sewage treatment and filtering plants, 
extraction units, dust filters and closed weighing systems for raw materials and chemicals that 
leave large quantities of dust – Semperit is playing an active role in minimising its impact on 
the environment.

All sewage released by Semperit is disposed of in accordance with the respective lo-
cal regulations. The company has partially installed its own sewage treatment plants, which 
operate in line with the valid regulatory requirements. Any dirt residues are disposed of pro-
fessionally. Semperit‘s waste management concept, which was approved by the responsible 
authorities in Austria, places great value on environmentally friendly waste disposal and aims 
to prevent or reduce the amount of waste as much as possible. Each site has its own detailed 
objectives, which derive from Semperit‘s waste avoidance program. Waste is recycled back 
into the cycle of materials wherever physically and economically possible. Recyclable rubber 
waste is processed in its own rubber recycling plant and is reclaimed as a raw material. If re-
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cycling is not possible or practical, the materials are incinerated under thermically controlled 
conditions by a qualified waste disposal company. In order to reduce packaging materials, 
reusable palettes, wire mesh crates and PAL boxes are used.

Further details regarding these programs run by Semperit can be found in the “Re-
search and development“ section on page 51.

Fair working conditions 
About 70% of Semperit‘s employees work in plants in Asia, mainly in Thailand. Sem-

perit is deeply concerned that local regulations ensuring safe working conditions and the 
avoidance of child labor are complied with. Furthermore, the company additionally sets 
standards that far exceed the average conditions in this region. Siam Sempermed therefore 
only hires employees and staff over 18 years of age and is committed to constantly improv-
ing employees‘ living conditions through numerous voluntary social security benefits. This 
offer ranges from providing low-cost housing opportunities and work clothes for employees, 
to granting special payments and additional insurance. The measures, which fall under the 
motto of “happy workplace,“ should improve satisfaction in the workplace as well as enhance 
the company‘s reputation. Further information about the topic of personnel development can 
be found on page 58.

Promotion of employee satisfaction and corporate identity through numerous measures

Voluntary social security 
benefits for employees 
at all sites 
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Employees in a Chinese Semperit production facility

Local responsibility 
Semperit feels a particular responsibility for the regions in which the group operates. 

This also applies to Austria, where acknowledgement at the Wimpassing site has been reaf-
firmed several times in the last few years, as well as for international activities. Thailand is 
particularly important since it is the world‘s largest and most important producer of natural 
rubber for Semperit Group. Semperit has been operating in Thailand since 1989, through both 
Siam Sempermed Corp. Ltd. and Semperflex Asia Corp. Ltd. Considerable financial resources 
will be invested in the further expansion and construction of manufacturing plants in the next 
few years, which will support economic development in this region. 

Social commitment
Semperit regularly donates examination and surgical gloves for charitable causes, and 

it is a partner of Doctors Without Borders / Médecins Sans Frontières (MSF) and a supporter 
of SOS Children‘s Villages. Alongside these sponsorship activities, Semperit AG Holding also 
supports the respective business sites with economically sustainable projects and initiatives. 
For example, in Hatyai, Thailand, Siam Sempermed has been carrying out conservation proj-
ects in the local SOS Children‘s Village for several years, providing educational materials and 
sports equipment for children to use in their spare time.

Positive economic trend 
for Thailand through 
massive investment 

Semperit supports 
selected social institu-
tions worldwide and 
accepts its corporate 
responsibility
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Semperit Group‘s strategic growth targets call for professional human resources man-
agement, which prepares employees for the challenges ahead and caters for the future 
need for managers and specialists. In parallel, the Group aims to foster employees‘ 
focus on achievement and entrepreneurial thinking, as well as establish a general con-
cept of values.

7,833 employees 
worldwide

One of 7,833 Semperit employees
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Semperit AG Holding

0.4 %

Sempertrans

11.9 %

Semperflex

17.6 %

Sempermed

61.7 %

Semperform

8.4 %

Employee structure 2011 by segment

Boosting headcount by 11.8%
In 2011, Semperit Group employed an average of 7,833 employees – an 11.8% increase 

on the previous year. Sempermed makes up the largest segment, with 4,834 employees, most 
of whom work at the manufacturing plants in Asia. Roughly 1,382 employees worked in the 
Semperflex segment, which corresponds to 17.6% of the total workforce. Moreover, 931 and 
654 employees worked in the Sempertrans and Semperform segments respectively, with 32 
employees working in Semperit AG Holding. 

Human Resources management
Semperit Group‘s Human Resources management was previously characterised by 

peripheral structures and regional strategies. Without curtailing the advantages arising from 
this, important initiatives for implementing group-wide standards and management tools 
began during the year under review. The central Human Resources unit took on more person-
nel and developed in consultation with the guidelines of the Management Board to support 
those responsible for the segments and regional business units.

The cornerstones of this strategy are the identification of talent and qualified employ-
ees, the promotion of international exchanges and diversity in the company, and instruments 
promoting achievement orientation and executive development. Alongside the gradual 
introduction of feedback discussions and individual target agreements for employees with 
management responsibilities, an effective performance management system was developed. 
Qualitative goals for encouraging leadership and professional skills were also defined, as well 
as financial indicators, such as results development or capital commitment through stock-
keeping. The Group therefore clearly aims to strengthen the sense of responsibility at all 
management levels, and to develop a common understanding of staffing issues. 

Growth-related rise in 
the number of employ-
ees in all segments 

Initiatives to standardise 
human resources 
throughout the group 

Promotion of talents and 
focus on achievements 

Annual average headcount		  2011	 % Change	 2010	 2009

Sempermed		  4,834	 13.9	 4,244	 4,141

Semperflex		  1,382	 19.0	 1,161	 1,058

Sempertrans 		  931	 0.4	 927	 759

Semperform		  654	 0.6	 650 	 666

Semperit AG Holding		  32	 18.5	 27	 25

Total 		  7,833	 11.8	 7,008	 6,649

of which in Austria 		  702	 6.0	 662	 709
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Training and continuing education
Semperit Group‘s management understands that the expertise and innovative strength 

of employees is an important success factor for justifying and extending the current market 
positions. Semperit therefore offers its employees an extensive training and continuing edu-
cation program, which can prepare employees optimally for operational and strategic chal-
lenges. Personality development training is offered, which provides employees with skills in 
conflict, time and target management and presentation techniques. Subject-specific training 
focuses on, among other things, rubber technology, process validation and methods engi-
neering. EDP training and language courses are also offered in the Group‘s advanced training 
program. Selected managers are also offered training at the prestigious Malik Management 
Institute in St Gallen.

New employees complete a standard enrolment program, which provides them with 
an overview of the company‘s individual segments and facilitates integration. Furthermore, 
new employees also receive segment-specific on-the-job training, which varies according to 
the segment.  

A training program for foremen, which was initiated in 2010, was successfully completed 
by production workers in the year under review. The training concept, which was restructured 
in the previous year, was implemented in 2011 and includes a new training process consisting 
of clear and uniformly structured process documents. These give clear instructions, both for 
task-specific procedures and for both upstream and downstream activities. 

In the 2011 financial year, 14 trainees in Austria gained qualifications in the area of 
maintenance. Semperit offers these young people well-founded access to the world of work, 
and furthermore gains qualified specialists who are familiar with process operations. 

Internal transfer of knowledge 
Semperit Group places great importance on the exchange of knowledge and experi-

ence within the company, in order to utilise the various areas of knowledge through inter-
nationalisation and diversification as well as possible, and for them to interconnect with one 
another. The synergies intended through these exchanges are ensured through numerous 
international meetings of technicians and sales employees, and through cross-departmental 
training programs. For example, a group-wide rubber technology training program was  
organised in 2011. 

As part of the “XPERIENCE XCHANGE“ program, talented young employees meet 
several times a year to exchange their experiences and discuss current issues relevant to 
the company. The target audience for this program is academics and graduates of technical 
higher education institutions. 

Collaboration with universities
In order to meet the current and future need for specialists and managers, Semperit 

Group supports several collaborations with technical higher education institutions, universi-
ties and technical colleges, with the aim of attracting qualified and ambitious employees. The 
Group provides support for numerous theses and dissertations that are relevant to the com-
pany. Furthermore, the Company enables students to gain insight into the world of Semperit 
through facility visits and field trips. Semperit Group also offers work experience placements 
of varying characteristics and durations. By taking part in careers fairs and recruitment days, 
such as TUday11 at the Vienna University of Technology, the job fair at the Wiener Neustadt 
University of Applied Sciences or the open semester at the Graz University of Technology, 
Semperit presents itself as an attractive employer with fascinating occupational fields and 
career opportunities, both in Austria and abroad.

Extensive range of train-
ing helps employees to 
overcome professional 
challenges 

Completion of the 
training programme 
for foremen and new 
training concept

International meetings 
and training sessions 
ensure that knowledge is 
exchanged internally 
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Health and safety 
Semperit is fully aware of its business responsibility to employees and actively takes 

measures to constantly improve operational safety and promote health. Safety-related and 
workplace-specific training is regularly offered, and new employees are given extensive safety 
instructions as part of their general initial training. There are specific instructions, amongst 
other things, for contact with hazardous materials and welding equipment, as well as for 
operating cranes and forklift trucks. Furthermore, employees responsible for these safety 
aspects provide an intensive personal introduction, and periodic focus training is offered. 
Customised advanced training events are organised for first-aid workers, forklift truck drivers 
and members of the Company fire-service basic training at the Wimpassing site.  

The Safety Technology department offers all employees free access to general training 
documents and safety training programs. It also compiles the accident frequency statistics 
that are reported to the Steering Committee after evaluation. It is also mandatory to report 
near misses, in order to be able to take appropriate preventative measures in the future. 
Detailed instructions for the work stations are available in the respective production depart-
ments.

Modern working environment promotes employee satisfaction

Effective measures to 
improve operational 
safety and promote 
health 
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Semperit‘s employees are offered numerous means of improving their health, by way 
of sports facilities, seminars, regular health surveys and first aid courses. The Semperit Sports 
Club has many sections, which ranges from therapeutic sport to archery. Further encourage-
ment is provided by way of company runs, skiing competitions and skittles tournaments. 

Vaccinations for health protection are offered by the company‘s own medical depart-
ment and a occupational physician, and a first aid kit is provided. Semperit‘s private founda-
tion for the promotion of the health of employees supports employees with subsidies for 
vaccinations, visual and hearing aids and dentures. 

Equal opportunities
Characterised by its image as a fair and responsible employer, Semperit strives to 

continuously improve the notion of equal opportunities within the company. In Austria, the 
proportion of female employees at technically focused traditional industrial companies is cur-
rently only 19%. Flexible models in the form of flexitime and part-time work, as well as special 
arrangements for employees with children, should contribute to a continual increase in the 
proportion of female employees. 

Employee in hose production
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With a stock market listing that dates back to 1890, Semperit is one of the oldest shares 
trading on the Vienna stock exchange. During the last ten years, the Semperit share 
price has gained terrain by almost 290% and has thereby succeeded in significantly 
outperforming the ATX.

Performance on capital markets
In 2011, the performance on international capital markets was characterised by major 

price disruptions. While profit could still be made at the beginning of 2011 due to the economic 
growth of the previous year, as the year progressed, capital markets started to be affected 
by the turbulence caused by the worsening debt problems in Europe and the USA. The fall in 
prices in European stock markets was particularly drastic. The German DAX lost 15% on the 
previous year, the CAC 40 in France lost 19%, and the DJ EURO STOXX 50 – representing the 
whole of Europe – lost around 17% versus the level at the beginning of the year. The declines 
in British and American share prices were comparatively moderate, and in some cases, prices 
even rose. The FTSE 100, the leading index at the London Stock Exchange, was down only 
6% on the previous year, while the Dow Jones Industrial Average even managed to gain 5%. 
The Dow Jones Global Index, which covers about 95% of shares worldwide, lost about 10% in 
value compared with the previous year.

The performance of Asian share prices through the year was also affected by global 
concerns over growth and inflation, as well as by the euro debt crisis. The MSCI Far East 
(ex-Japan) Index lost 13% of its value in 2011. Losses were particularly high in Japan due to 
the Fukushima nuclear accident in that country. The Nikkei Index lost more than 17% in the 
course of the year. 

ATX, the leading index at the Vienna Stock Exchange, lost 35% of its value from the 
previous year and closed at 1,891.7 points at the end of 2011. The total turnover of all market 
segments at the Vienna Stock Exchange decreased by 19% to EUR 62.3 million. 

Performance of the Semperit share
Until May 2011, the Semperit share experienced a stable trend, on a par with the ATX. 

During the summer of 2011, a downmove began, the lowest point of which occurred on Sep-
tember 12, with a price of EUR 27.15. From then until the end of 2011, the share price trended 
on a positive and stable course. With a year-end closing price of EUR 29.75, the Semperit 
share lost ground by about 25% – albeit still a significantly better performance than the ATX. 

The Semperit 
share

Volatility dominates 
stock market in 2011 

Massive price falls  
in Asia 

Semperit share  
outperforms ATX by  
a clear margin 

63

Semperit Share Semperit AG Holding  
Annual Report



Semperit AG Holding‘s market capitalisation at the end of 2011 totaled EUR 612.1 mil-
lion, compared with EUR 814.5 million on the same day of the previous year. The Semperit 
share‘s stock exchange turnover decreased from EUR 454.8 million to EUR 340.5 million, while 
the total number of shares traded declined from 14.9 million to 9.8 million. Possible reasons 
for this are the change in shareholder structure and withdrawal of the Semperit share from 
the ATX in September 2011.

Shareholder structure
Semperit AG Holding lists 20,573,434 no-par value bearer shares on the prime market 

of the Vienna Stock Exchange. With a share of 54.18% (11,145,917 shares), B & C Industriehold-
ing is the majority stakeholder and long-term core shareholder. 

In March 2011, Semperit AG Holding was informed that Legg Mason Inc. held a total 
10.06% share across two management companies. At the time of the previous report in No-
vember 2010, Legg Mason Inc. declared that it had a 5.10% share. 

The remaining shares are diversified holdings, mainly held by American institutional 
investors and Austrian private shareholders.

Shareholder structure

B & C Industrie-
holding GmbH

54.18%

Legg Mason Inc.

10.06%

Free float

35.76%

Key figures on the Semperit share			   2011	 2010	 Change 	 2009	 2008

Highest price		  in EUR	 41.47	 39.67	 4,5%	 28.30	 31.62

Lowest price 		  in EUR	 27.15	 25.94	 4,7%	 13.83	 11.80

Price at year-end		  in EUR	 29.75	 39.59	 –24,9%	 26.97	 11.80

Number of shares issued		  in thousand units	 20,573	 20,573	 – 	 20,573	 20,573

Market capitalisation at year-end		  in EUR million	 612.1	 814.5	 –24.8%	 554.9	 242.8

Earnings per share		  in EUR	 2.63	 2.21	 19.2%	 1.89	 1.83

Gross cash flow per share		  in EUR	 4.33	 4.42	 –2.1%	 4.50	 3.79

Equity per share		  in EUR	 18.10	 17.06	 6.1%	 15.10	 14.19

Dividend per share		  in EUR	 0.80	 1.25	 –36.0%	 1.15	 1.09

Dividend payout ratio		  in %	 30.4	 56.6	 –26.2 PP	 61.0	 59.6

Price/earnings ratio at year-end		  	 11.3	 17.9	 –36.9%	 14.3	 6.5

Average trading volume per day		  in EUR million	 1.4	 1.8	 –22.2%	 1.1	 0.9

Share price performance
Semperit/ATX January 2011 to December 2011, indexed (1.1.2011 = 100)
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Investor relations
Semperit AG Holding would like to portray a true and fair depiction of the business 

performance of the company to current and potential shareholders, by way of a transparent 
and prompt communications policy. Hence, this should pave the way for an accurate valuation 
of the Semperit share on stock exchanges and facilitate a long-term relationship of trust with 
both shareholders and the general public.

The Chairman of the Management Board and Chief Financial Officer are actively pursu-
ing dialogue with key players on the financial markets; both are giving presentations about 
Semperit Group at numerous events. For example, in 2011, several road shows and investor 
conferences were held, in London, Frankfurt and Zürs amongst other venues. Additionally, 
numerous discussions were held with analysts and conference calls were organised within the 
scope of financial reporting during the course of the year.

The responsibilities of Investor Relations are assigned to the Group Accounting de-
partment. It works in close collaboration with the Chief Financial Officer on the preparation 
of annual and quarterly reports. In addition to regular updates, the website www.semperit.
at/investor-relations/, which underwent a large-scale makeover in the year under review, pro-
vides current information, presentations and further accounts of Semperit Group.  

Dividend policy
The aim of the Semperit Group‘s allocation of funds strategy is to achieve a balance 

between investments in growth and appropriate remuneration to shareholders in the form 
of dividends. Investments for increasing capacities or breaking into new markets will then 
be given precedence if it leads to a sustainable increase in the company‘s enterprise value. 
Semperit Group is now aiming for a payout ratio of around 30%.

At the Annual General Meeting on April 23, 2012, the Management Board will propose 
a dividend in the amount of EUR 0.80 per eligible share for the 2011 financial year. This cor-
responds to a dividend payout ratio of 30.4% of the annual net profit, compared to 56.6% in 
the previous year. With a year-end closing price of EUR 29.75 per share, the dividend yield 
will amount to 2.7% (2010: 3.2%), based on an average year-end price of 2.3% (2010: 4,2%).

Profit and dividends per share

Transparent and  
prompt corporate 
communication

Payout ratio reduced to 
fund growth plans 

Relaunch of company 
website   
www.semperit.at

Financial calendar 2012

March 29, 2012 Publication of 2011 annual financial statements 

and press conference 

April 23, 2012 Annual General Meeting

April 26, 2012 Ex-dividend day

May 2, 2012 Dividend payment day

May 15, 2012 Report on the first quarter of 2012

August 14, 2012 Half-year financial report 2012

November 13, 2012 Report on the third quarter of 2012

1.83

1.09

1.89

1.15

2.21

1.25

2.63

0.80

2008 2009 2010 2011

  Earnings per share in EUR

  Dividends per share in EUR (2011 Proposal to the Annual General Meeting)
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Austrian Corporate  
Governance Code

In 2002 the Austrian Corporate Governance Code established a regulatory framework 
for the management and monitoring of Austrian joint stock companies. This code contains 
internationally adopted standards, as well as significant related regulations stipulated in the 
Austrian Stock Corporation, Stock Exchange and Capital Markets Acts and the basic prin-
ciples encompassed in the OECD Guidelines for Corporate Governance. 

The rules are aimed at ensuring the responsible management and supervision of com-
panies and corporations with the goal of achieving a sustainable and long-term creation of 
value. The code seeks to create a high level of transparency for all company stakeholders. It 
creates guidelines for the equal treatment of all shareholders, for transparency, open com-
munication between the Management and Supervisory Boards, the avoidance of conflicts of 
interest between bodies, and efficient checks by the Supervisory Board and auditors. 

Companies voluntarily undertake to comply with the guidelines contained in the Aus-
trian Corporate Governance Code in the current and binding version. The version of the 
code that was applicable in the 2011 financial year was published in January 2010 and takes 
into account the changes included in the Austrian Stock Corporation Amendment Act of 
2009 and the implementation of the European Commission’s Recommendation on Directors’ 
Remuneration of April 30, 2009. The Austrian Corporate Governance Code was last amended 
in January 2012. The amendments contained therein are valid for financial years that begin 
after December 31, 2011 and therefore do not apply to the present Corporate Governance 
Report of Semperit AG Holding. 

The Austrian Corporate Governance Code can be viewed at the website  
www.corporate-governance.at.

Statement on corporate governance
The Semperit Group hereby declares that it will voluntarily observe the Austrian Cor-

porate Governance Code, and also intends to observe the code in the future or justify any 
deviations from it. The Supervisory Board also reached a corresponding unanimous decision. 

Corporate  
Governance  
Report

Voluntary commitment  
to the Austrian Corporate 
Governance Code

Compliance  
with the code
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Semperit Holding AG complies with all legally binding L-rules (Legal Requirement). Unless 
otherwise declared, the C-rules (Comply-or-Explain) will be observed by the relevant bodies 
and the company.

Corporate bodies of  
Semperit AG Holding
Management Board

Thomas Fahnemann
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer since April 14, 2011; previously Deputy  
Chairman since joining the company on December 1, 2010; current period of office 
ends November 30, 2013
Departmental responsibilities: Medical Sector, which includes the Sempermed seg-
ment, Corporate Development & Strategy, Human Resources, Internal Audit, Com-
munications, Purchasing, Compliance and Legal Matters

Following his studies in business administration in Mainz, Germany, Thomas Fahne- 
mann, who was born in 1961, completed an Executive MBA Program at Northwestern 
University in Chicago. Thomas Fahnemann began his professional career with Hoechst 
AG in Frankfurt in 1983. He subsequently assumed several executive positions in Ger-
many and the USA. In 1995 he was appointed Group Department Manager for Trevira 
in North Carolina, USA and starting 1998 served as Chief Operating Officer for KoSa 
in Houston, USA. In 2003 he returned to Austria and worked as CEO and Chairman of 
the Management Board of Lenzing AG. From 2009 to 2010 he was Chairman of the 
Management Board of RHI AG, Vienna. He exercises no Supervisory Board mandates 
in other companies not included in the consolidated financial statements pursuant to 
C-rule 16 of the Austrian Corporate Governance Code.

Richard Ehrenfeldner
Member of the Management Board since October 1, 2001; current period of office 
ends May 31, 2012; in September 2011 this was extended early, until May 31, 2015
Departmental responsibilities: Technology, Innovation, Operational Excellence and 
Quality Assurance

After concluding his studies in process engineering (chemical plant engineering) at 
Graz University of Technology, Richard Ehrenfeldner, who was born in 1954, com-
menced his professional career in 1984 with AT&S in Leoben, where he headed the 
Production and Expansion Departments, with a particular focus on large investments 
in expanding production capabilities. In 1989 he moved to Semperit AG Holding. As 
Technical Manager of the Sempermed segment, he was responsible for the expansion 
of manufacturing facilities as well as the construction and development of new plants 
in Sopron, Hat Yai and Shanghai. He exercises no Supervisory Board mandates in other 
companies not included in the consolidated financial statements pursuant to C-rule 16 
of the Austrian Corporate Governance Code.

Johannes Schmidt-Schultes
Member of the Management Board since April 15, 2011; Chief Financial Officer (CFO); 
current period of office ends April 14, 2014
Departmental responsibilities: Accounting, Segment Controlling, Treasury, IT, Plan-
ning & Reporting, Taxes and Investor Relations
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Johannes Schmidt-Schultes, who was born in 1966, concluded his studies in economics  
at the University of Hanover in 1993. In 1996 he graduated with a PhD from the Ludwig 
Maximilian University, Munich. He also studied abroad at Aston University in Birming-
ham, UK, as well as the University of California in Berkeley, USA.
During his doctoral studies, Johannes Schmidt-Schultes worked for the strategic 
consultants Bain & Company in Munich. From 1996 to 1999 he served as head of the 
Department of Investment Controlling and Group Development at VIAG AG in Munich, 
and from 1999 to 2001 he was Managing Director of Finance for Kloeckner & Co in  
Vienna. In 2001 he moved to Deutsche Telekom Group – first as CFO of T-Mobile 
Austria in Vienna and then, from 2004 to 2007, of T-Mobile UK in Hatfield, UK. From 
2007 to 2011 he was Deputy Chief Financial Officer of the Australian Telekom Telstra  
Corporation, which is based in Melbourne. He exercises no Supervisory Board man-
dates in other companies not included in the consolidated financial statements pursu-
ant to C-rule 16 of the Austrian Corporate Governance Code.

Richard Stralz
Member of the Management Board since June 1, 2004; current period of office ends 
May 31, 2013
Departmental responsibilities: Heads the Industrial Sector, including the Semperflex, 
Sempertrans and Semperform segments, as well as Marketing, Sales and Logistics

Following the completion of his studies at Montan University of Leoben, Richard Stralz, 
who was born in 1963, started his professional career at Semperit AG Holding in 1987 
as a Semperform Production Management Assistant. In 1989 he became Production 
Manager for Rubber and Plastic Moulded Parts. From 1991 to 1994 he headed the 
Industrial Engineering and Logistics Departments. Subsequently he switched to the 
Semperflex segment, first as Technical Segment Manager from 1994 to 1996, and 
later as Commercial Division Manager during the years 1996 to 2004. He exercises 
no Supervisory Board mandates in other companies not included in the consolidated  
financial statements pursuant to C-rule 16 of the Austrian Corporate Governance Code.

Rainer Zellner
Chairman of the Management Board and CEO from October 1, 1989 to April 14, 2011; 
previously member of the Management Board from March 1, 1983

The Management Board consists of four members. It has full responsibility for manag-
ing the company for the benefit of the enterprise while taking account of the interests of 
shareholders and employees as well as the public interest (L-rule 13).

In April 2011, Rainer Zellner stepped down as Chairman of the Management Board. His 
deputy, Thomas Fahnemann, was appointed to succeed him. In April 2011, Johannes Schmidt-
Schultes was appointed as Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and in September 2011 Richard  
Ehrenfeldner’s period of office was extended early, for a further three years.

Internal rules of procedure govern the allocation of business responsibility and co-
operation between members of the Management Board. Decisions of primary importance 
are taken by the Management Board as a whole. The Management Board itself takes full 
responsibility for communication tasks that have a significant impact on how the company 
is perceived by its stakeholders. The legally binding regulations, the Articles of Association 
and the internal rules of procedure laid down by the Supervisory Board form the basis for 
corporate management. In addition, behavioural guidelines are also contained in the Austrian 
Corporate Governance Code.
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1) One fifth of the members of the Supervisory Board automatically leave their positions every year at the end of the Annual General Meeting, pursuant to the Articles of Association.

2) Have declared their independence vis-à-vis the Supervisory Board in accordance with Rule 53 of the Austrian Corporate Governance Code.

3) Executive Committee

4) Remuneration Committee

5) Audit Committee

6) Nominating Committee

7) No representation by a shareholder over 10% (Rule 54 of the Austrian Corporate Governance Code).

Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board consists of six shareholder representatives and three employee 

representatives. 

The Supervisory Board resolved to establish the following committees consisting of its 
own members to carry out specific functions: Executive Committee, Remuneration Committee, 
Audit Committee, Nominating Committee and Strategy Committee (see page 70). The author-
ity to make decisions and pass resolutions rests in the hands of the entire Supervisory Board. 

The Supervisory Board supervises the Management Board and supports it in managing 
the company, particularly when decisions of primary importance are to be made.

Supervisory Board 

				    		  Supervisory Board

					     End of current	 positions in other

			   Year of birth	 First appointed	 term of office 1)	 listed companies

Shareholder representatives

Veit Sorger	 2) 3) 4) 5) 6) 7)	 1942	 26.5.2004	 Until the Annual General 	 Lenzing AG 

Chairman				    Meeting (AGM) resolving 

					     upon the 2011 financial year

Michael Junghans	 2) 3) 4) 5) 6)	 1967	 28.4.2010	 Until the Annual General	 Lenzing AG (Chairman) 

Deputy Chairman				    Meeting (AGM) resolving	 Allgemeine Baugesellschaft	

					     upon the 2012 financial year	 A. Porr AG

Walter Lederer	 2)	 1961	 7.6.2002	 Until 14.4.2011	 – 

Member					   

Martin Payer	 2) 7)	 1978	 24.5.2007	 Until the Annual General	 Lenzing AG 

Member				    Meeting (AGM) resolving 

					     upon the 2011 financial year

Patrick Prügger	 2) 5)	 1975	 14.4.2011	 Until the Annual General	 Lenzing AG 

Member				    Meeting (AGM) resolving 

					     upon the 2013 financial year

Andreas Schmidradner	 2)	 1961	 20.5.2008	 Until the Annual General	 Lenzing AG 

Member				    Meeting (AGM) resolving 

					     upon the 2012 financial year

Anton Schneider	 2) 7)	 1951	 30.4.2009	 Until the Annual General	 Linz Textil AG 

Member				    Meeting (AGM) resolving	 SHW AG (Germany) 

					     upon the 2011 financial year	 (Chairman)

 

Employee representatives

Alexander Hollerer	 5) 6)	 1954	 1.7.1998	 -	 -

Andreas Slama	 5)	 1966	 31.1.2009	 -	 -

Matthias Unkrig		  1968	 5.4.2005	 -	 -
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Meetings of the Supervisory Board and its committees
The Supervisory Board convened for five meetings and a separate strategy workshop 

during the 2011 financial year. No member of the Supervisory Board attended less than 50% 
of the meetings in the course of 2011.

The Audit Committee led by Veit Sorger carried out its activities in accordance with 
prevailing legal regulations (two meetings), and in particular dealt with risk management, 
corporate governance and cooperation with the auditors. 

The Nominating Committee, also under the chairmanship of Veit Sorger, met twice to 
prepare for the selection of a new Chief Financial Officer and the reappointment of Richard 
Ehrenfeldner as a member of the Management Board.

The Strategy Committee was set up for the first time in December 2011.

The Remuneration Committee, chaired by Veit Sorger, held three meetings at which it 
discussed the objectives of the newly appointed members of the Management Board and the 
remuneration system for the reappointed member of the Management Board.

An explicit and formal self-evaluation (in accordance with Rule 36) did not take place in 
the 2011 financial year. However, the Supervisory Board regularly focused on its own work and 
its consequences for the company, and is working on its own further development. There are 
plans to introduce a structured self-evaluation process in the 2012 financial year. 

Guidelines for the independence of Supervisory Board members
A member of the Supervisory Board shall be deemed independent if he/she has no 

business or personal relations with the company or its Management Board that would consti-
tute a material conflict of interests, and thus could influence the member’s behaviour.

In evaluating the independence of a Supervisory Board member, the Supervisory 
Board uses the following guidelines, which correspond to those contained in Appendix 1 of 
the January 2010 version of the Austrian Corporate Governance Code:

•	 The Supervisory Board member shall not have served as a member of the  
		  Management Board or as a senior manager of the company or one of its  
		  subsidiaries in the past five years.

•	 The Supervisory Board member shall not maintain or have maintained in the 
		  past year any business relations with the company or one of its subsidiaries to  
		  an extent of significance for the Supervisory Board member. This shall also  
		  apply to relationships with companies in which the Supervisory Board member  
		  has a considerable economic interest. The approval of individual transactions  
		  by the Supervisory Board according to Section 95 Para. 5 Austrian Stock Corpora-	
		  tion Act does not automatically mean the person is qualified as not independent.

•	 The Supervisory Board member shall not have been auditor of the company  
		  or have owned a share in the auditing company or have worked there as an  
		  employee in the past three years.

•	 The Supervisory Board member shall not be a member of the Management Board  
		  of another company in which a Management Board member of the company  
		  is a Supervisory Board member.

•	 The Supervisory Board member shall not be a close relative (direct offspring,  
		  spouse, partner, parent, uncle, aunt, sibling, niece, nephew) of a Management  
		  Board member or of persons in one of the aforementioned positions.
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Fixed and variable 
remuneration

Cooperation between Management Board and Supervisory Board
The strategic direction of the company is determined in close cooperation between 

the Management Board and the Supervisory Board and discussed in Supervisory Board meet-
ings held at regular intervals. In addition, a strategy workshop was held during the year under 
review. 

The Supervisory Board determines the division of departments and responsibilities in 
the Management Board, as well as those transactions requiring its explicit authorisation in 
accordance with statutory provisions. Furthermore, the Supervisory Board supports the Man-
agement Board in managing the company, particularly when decisions of primary importance 
are to be made. 

Remuneration of Management 
Board and Supervisory Board

The remuneration of the Management Board encompasses both a fixed salary com-
ponent and a variable, performance-based component, as well as remuneration in kind. The 
assessment for the variable salary component of the Management Board is based on net 
profit (earnings after tax), the dividend amount distributed and the return on total assets. 

In line with the stipulations contained in the Austrian Corporate Governance Code, a 
third salary component was integrated in the remuneration of the most recently appointed 
Management Board members Thomas Fahnemann and Johannes Schmidt-Schultes. This is 
linked to the achievement of sustainable, long-term and multi-annual performance criteria. 
Based on the achievement of the targeted objectives, this bonus is subsequently deter-
mined for the past financial year and paid in three equal instalments over a period of three  
years. If the pre-defined goals are not attained, no bonus is assigned to the variable remu-
neration category, or else the still unpaid share of the bonus is either reduced or completely 
cancelled.

The variable remuneration components (the performance-based share and the third 
salary component) may not exceed more than 111% of the annual fixed remuneration.

In the 2011 financial year, the remuneration paid to the Management Board totalled 
kEUR 3,099 (previous year: kEUR 2,716), of which kEUR 1,619 (previous year: kEUR 1,540) con-
sisted of variable salary components. Owing to changes in the composition of the Manage-
ment Board during the year under review, the comparability with the previous year is limited.

A contractual agreement stipulating direct retirement benefits for the former Chair-
man of the Management Board was concluded on his initial appointment to this position. For 
the new Chairman and other members of the Management Board, retirement benefits are 
either specified in the Articles of Association, which prescribe pension plan reinsurance using 
the defined contribution principle, or specified in the respective contract using the defined 
contribution principle. 

In the case of termination of the employment contract of a Management Board mem-
ber, the respective member is entitled to a severance payment in accordance with the Salaried 
Employees Act or the Corporate Employee and Self-Employed Pension Act.

No share options have been granted. 

Responsible corporate 
management
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A Directors and Officers (D&O) insurance has been taken out for the members of the 
Management Board and senior executives; the company bears the related costs.

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board is governed by Section 15 of the Articles of 
Association. Accordingly, each member of the Supervisory Board receives an attendance 
fee for each session totalling EUR 120 as compensation for expenses, as well as an annual 
fee amounting to EUR 4,360. Both fees are linked to the consumer price index (basis: CPI 
2000, annual average 2004 = 108.1), therefore the fees for 2011 are slightly higher than the 
aforementioned amounts. The fixed annual fee is increased by 100% for the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board and 50% for the Deputy Chairman. In addition, the members of the Super-
visory Board as a whole (excluding employee representatives) receive 0.15% of the earnings 
after tax of Semperit Holding AG as a performance-based profit-sharing bonus, after the con-
solidated financial statements have been granted an unqualified opinion by the auditors. This 
profit-sharing bonus is divided among the Supervisory Board members so that each member 
receives an equal share, the Chairman an additional 100% of this share and the Deputy Chair-
man an additional 50%. Moreover, the performance-based component may not exceed 2.5 
times the annual fixed fee (excluding attendance fees) for each Supervisory Board member. 

The remuneration paid to the Management and Supervisory Boards is not disclosed 
separately for each member but for the board as a whole (pursuant to Rules 31 and 51). 
Publication of the individual remuneration is the personal decision of each member of the 
Management and Supervisory Boards and in the opinion of Semperit AG Holding does not 
constitute additional information relevant to the capital market, nor does it provide significant 
additional information from the business perspective. Individual remuneration is therefore 
not disclosed in this report. 

Compliance Directive
Semperit has issued its own compliance guidelines designed to prevent the misuse or 

dissemination of insider information. Compliance is monitored and administered by a specially 
designated compliance officer reporting directly to the Management Board. The Compliance 
Directive has been published on the company website at www.semperit.at.

Advancement of women
The Semperit Group attaches great importance to ensuring the equal treatment of 

men and women in all respects. In recent years, the number of women employed in man-
agement-track positions within the Semperit Group has steadily increased. In Austria women 
already comprise about one-third of the employees participating in junior management de-
velopment programmes. Moreover, if the respective job position allows, Semperit promotes 
the compatibility of family and career by providing flexible working models and teleworking 
opportunities.

Directors’ dealings
In accordance with Section 48d of the Austrian Stock Exchange Act, share purchases 

or sales by members of the Management and Supervisory Boards must be reported to the 
Austrian Financial Market Authority within five working days following conclusion of the trans-
action, and published on its website.

Own compliance officer

Proportion of women 
steadily increasing

Disclosure of  
directors’ dealings

Statutory  
remuneration of the 
Supervisory Board
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Internal auditing  
and risk management

The Internal Audit department reports directly to the Management Board and prepares 
an audit plan and an annual activity report for the previous financial year. The Management 
Board discusses these reports with the members of the Supervisory Board. 

The effectiveness of the company’s risk management system is evaluated by the auditor 
on the basis of the reports and other documents provided. The auditor’s report is presented 
to the Management Board as well as to the Supervisory Board. At the beginning of 2011, the 
Audit Committee commissioned an external evaluation to examine the effectiveness of the 
company’s risk management system, and the results were reported to the Supervisory Board.

The Internal Control System (ICS) established in the Semperit Group serves to ensure 
the effectiveness and profitability of business operations, the integrity and reliability of finan-
cial reporting and adherence to the applicable laws and regulations. It is being continually 
updated and expanded by the Internal Audit department and the related departments in the 
company as a means of supporting the early identification and ongoing monitoring of risk. 
The ICS was last subject to an external evaluation in 2010, and the results were reported to 
the Supervisory Board.

External evaluation
In accordance with Rule 62 of the Austrian Corporate Governance Code, the Semperit 

Group has its compliance with the stipulations contained in the code and the accuracy of its 
related public reporting evaluated by an external institution. This was last performed at the 
beginning of 2011. The most recent evaluation carried out by KPMG did not discover any facts 
which are inconsistent with the declaration of the Management Board and Supervisory Board 
found in the Corporate Governance Report of the company with respect to its compliance 
with the C-Rules and R-Rules of the Austrian Corporate Governance Code.

Vienna, March 9, 2012 

Internal Control 
System

Johannes Schmidt-Schultes 
Chief Financial Officer

Thomas Fahnemann
Chairman

Richard Ehrenfeldner 
Member of the  
Management Board

Richard Stralz
Member of the  
Management Board
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Dear Sir or Madam,
The Semperit Group had another successful financial year in 2011, again significantly 

increasing revenues and earnings. At the same time, preparations were made to considerably 
accelerate growth, and important foundations were laid for the future of the company in 
terms of personnel and organisational measures. 

The Supervisory Board held five meetings and a special strategy workshop during the 
financial year 2011 and fulfilled the duties required from it by law and the company‘s statutes. 
The meetings focused primarily on business performance, the further strategic development 
of the Group and key business events and measures. Two meetings of the Audit Committee, 
two meetings of the Nominating Committee and three meetings of the Remuneration Com-
mittee took place in the financial year 2011. In addition, the Strategy Committee was newly 
formed in December 2011.

The Management Board keeps the Supervisory Board informed of business develop-
ments with a regular monthly report. In-depth documents are made available in good time 
in advance of the Supervisory Board meetings. Between these meetings, the Management 
Board also reported to the Executive Committee regularly on the progress of the business 
and the situation of the company. 

In the meeting on April 14, 2011, the Supervisory Board appointed Thomas Fahnemann 
as the new Chairman of the Management Board of Semperit AG Holding, following his ap-
pointment as Vice-Chairman on December 1, 2010. He succeeds Rainer Zellner in the post, 
who made a decisive and very successful contribution to the development of the Semperit 
Group from the 1980s onwards, for which I would like to thank him on behalf of the entire 
Supervisory Board. 

In addition, Johannes Schmidt-Schultes was appointed Chief Financial Officer for a 
period of three years on April 15, 2011, and at the meeting on September 12, 2011 Richard 
Ehrenfeldner‘s mandate as a member of the Management Board was extended ahead of time 
until May 31, 2015.

The annual financial statements of Semperit AG Holding, including the management 
report, were audited on the basis of the accounts kept by the auditor, Deloitte Audit Wirt- 
schaftsprüfungs GmbH of Vienna. The auditor confirmed that the annual financial statements 
comply with the statutory regulations; that they give a true and fair view of the company‘s 
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assets and financial position at December 31, 2011 and of the company‘s earnings for the  
financial year from January 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011 in compliance with generally  
accepted Austrian accounting principles; and that the management report is consistent with 
the annual financial statements. Furthermore, the auditor confirmed that a Corporate Gover-
nance Report had been prepared. The auditor awarded an unqualified audit opinion to the 
annual financial statements for 2011.

Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs GmbH of Vienna audited and issued an unqualified 
audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements, which were prepared in compliance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as they are applied in the EU, and 
the Group management report, which was prepared in accordance with the Austrian Com-
pany Code (UGB). The auditor confirmed that the consolidated financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the Group‘s assets and financial position at December 31, 2011 and of the 
Group‘s earnings and cash flows for the financial year from January 1, 2011 to December 31, 
2011, and that the Group management report is consistent with the consolidated financial 
statements. The auditor awarded an unqualified audit opinion to the consolidated financial 
statements for 2011.

In a meeting held on March 23, 2012, the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board 
gave detailed consideration to the annual financial statements, the Corporate Governance 
Report, the consolidated financial statements and the auditor‘s reports and discussed the 
results of the audit in detail with the auditor. 

The Supervisory Board has examined the annual financial statements, the consolidated 
financial statements, the management report and the Group management report and concurs 
with the conclusions of the auditor. The Supervisory Board formally approves the annual fi-
nancial statements for the financial year 2011, which are consequently adopted in accordance 
with Section 96 Para. 4 of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act. The management report, the 
consolidated financial statements and the Group management report for 2011 have been 
approved by the Supervisory Board. 

The Supervisory Board accepts the Management Board‘s proposal on the distribution 
of profits, according to which a dividend of EUR 0.80 per eligible share is to be paid from 
Semperit AG Holding‘s reported net profit for the year of kEUR 16,835, with the remaining 
profit being carried forward.

On behalf of the Supervisory Board, I would like to thank the Management Board 
and all members of staff for their commitment and for the very good results achieved for  
the financial year. I would also like to thank the shareholders and customers of Semperit AG 
Holding for their faith and express the hope that they will accompany the company on its 
forward way into what promises to be a successful future.

Vienna, March 23, 2012

Veit Sorger m.p.
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Unqualified audit 
opinion awarded  

Annual financial  
statements 2011 
adopted 
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Economic environment
Weak growth

The global economy in 2011 was marked by the resurgence of the financial and debt 
crisis which originated in 2008. The global economic recovery of the previous year was still 
producing positive economic data at the start of 2011; however, from the third quarter on they 
became markedly less positive in light of the growing economic uncertainty. The slowdown in 
the economy was caused by the euro crisis as well as the weak economic data from the USA 
and the increased fear of another recession. According to the World Bank, in 2011 growth of 
global domestic product (GDP) stood at 3.2%, down from 3.8% in the previous year. In the 
Eurozone GDP growth was 1.7% and in the USA it was 2.6%. In China, GDP growth fell by 
a percentage point to 9.3%, and India recorded an increase of 8.0%, after 8.8% in the prior 
year. The fall was also significant in Brazil, where in 2011 a figure of only 4.2% was achieved, 
after 7.5% GDP growth in the previous year. Russia, however, recorded an increase from 4.0%  
to 4.4%. 

Austria’s economy expanded particularly at the start of the year and in the first two 
quarters of 2011 it was still strong. According to the Austrian National Bank (OeNB), a real 
GDP growth figure of 3.3% (2010: 2.3%) can be assumed, which places Austria above both 
the global average as well as the average growth rate for the Eurozone. In 2012 however, a 
significant slowdown in the economic dynamic is expected. 

Global trade and global industrial production have, according to the International 
Monetary Fund (IMF), slowed significantly since the second quarter of 2011. Global supply 
chains were impacted by the earthquake and tsunami in Japan. Furthermore, the high price 
of oil led to modest consumer spending in industrialised nations. 

Developments in the commodities markets
Commodities prices in 2011 were markedly affected by the global economic conditions 

and the developments on the financial markets. Falling economic growth rates were accom-
panied by lower prices for industrial commodities in particular. While gold made gains of 
roughly 12% in dollar terms due to its reputation as a refuge in economic crises, the industrial 
metal copper lost around 23% of its value over the course of the year. The price of aluminium 
fell by around 20% over the year.  

Group Management 
Report
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The energy market was considerably influenced in 2011 by geo-political tensions in the 
Near and Middle East. The crude oil price for the Brent benchmark increased by 12% in dollar 
terms in comparison with the previous year.

In February 2011 the international prices for natural rubber increased to highs of up 
to USD 6.49/kg due to the ongoing demand-driven price rally which started in 2010. Subse-
quently, a marked weakening began, which was caused by higher supply, as well as decreased 
demand due to the economic slowdown. Nevertheless, the annual average price level stood 
at USD 4.80/kg, 30% more than the comparable price in the previous year.

The prices for synthetic rubber increased significantly with a time lag to the natural 
rubber prices in the financial year 2011 and reached an all-time high at the end of the third 
quarter, which was fundamentally linked to the growing demand for high-quality tyres and 
capacity constraints. However, there was a significant slump in the fourth quarter, caused 
by falling sales figures in the automotive sector as well as lower prices for butadiene, an 
important component in synthetic rubber. While during the first eight months of 2011 the 
price for butadiene almost doubled to around EUR 2,500/tonne, it level off to around EUR 
2,000/tonne by year end 2011.

12

Source: World Bank, 2011

Pricing trend of natural rubber in 2011 in dollar cents / kg
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Revenue
The Semperit Group increased group revenue by 18.9% to a record level of EUR 820 

million in 2011, based on strong price and volume growth and supported by a positive general 
economic development that progressively slackened in the second half. Some 12.8 percent-
age points of the growth were due to price effects and 6.1 percentage points were due to the 
volume increase. All four operating segments contributed to the increased revenue, with the 
strongest growth seen in the Semperflex and Sempertrans segments.

The Sempermed segment managed to increase revenue by 17.4% to EUR 371.5 million 
through the positive development, at both business units, of examination gloves as well as 
surgical gloves. The share of group revenue amounted to 45.3%, after 45.9% in the previous 
year, which meant that Sempermed remained unchanged as the most important segment of 
the Semperit Group.

The strongest revenue growth in 2011 was seen in the Semperflex segment. Based on 
stronger demand across all three business units (hydraulic hoses, industrial hoses, elastomer 
and anti-wear protection plates), Semperflex increased revenue by 28.5% to EUR 186.9 mil-
lion. Semperflex recorded a 22.8% share of group revenue, after 21.1% in 2010.

The Sempertrans segment was able to take advantage of the positive business for 
steel cord conveyor belts and increased revenue by 24.5% to EUR 147.0 million. That equates 
to a 17.9% share of group revenue, after 17.1% in the previous year.

The Semperform segment grew revenue volume by 4.7% to EUR 114.6 million, primarily 
due to the higher sales volumes in the industrial moulds and special applications business 
units. However, the Semperform share of total group revenue was reduced from 15.9% to 
14.0%. Revenue growth was recorded in all sales regions. Growth levels in Asia and the EU 

Financial development

Abstract from the consolidated income statement   
for the financial year from January 1, 2011 until December 31, 2011

In EUR million	 2011	 2010	 Change in %

Revenue	 820.0	 689.4	 18.9

Changes in inventories 	 2.8	 13.6	 –79.5

Own work capitalised	 0.8	 0.8	 1.0

Operating revenue	 823.6	 703.8	 17.0

Other operating income  	 33.8	 38.0	 –11.0

Material costs	 –513.1	 –410.2	 25.1

Personnel expenses	 –114.9	 –109.9	 4.6

Other operating expenses	 –116.6	 –109.5	 6.5

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA)	 112.8	 112.3	 0.5

Depreciation and amortisation of tangible and intangible assets	 –29.7	 –29.9	 –0.9

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)	 83.1	 82.3	 0.9

Financial result	 –13.2	 –19.2	 –31.1

Earnings before tax (EBT)	 69.9	 63.1	 10.7

Income taxes	 –15.8	 –17.7	 –10.9

Earnings after tax	 54.1	 45.4	 19.2
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were especially high. Despite the already high market penetration in Austria, further growth 
was achieved, albeit at a slower pace. By contrast, in the USA and in the rest of Europe, 
growth rates were in the double-digit range. Likewise, revenues from the rest of the world 
were encouraging.

In total, the Semperit Group recorded revenue of EUR 433.8 million from customers 
in the EU member states, which corresponds to 52.9% of total group revenue, after 54.3% in 
the previous year. In the rest of Europe, revenue of EUR 64.8 million, or 7.9% (2010: 8.2%), was 
achieved. The USA accounted for EUR 191.8 million, or a 23.4% share (previous year: 22.9%). 
Revenue of EUR 108.1 million (13.2% compared to 12.6% in the previous year) was recorded 
in Asia, and in the rest of the world there was revenue of EUR 21.5 million (2.6% after 2.0% in 
the previous year).

Revenue by segment in EUR million
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Profitability
Other operating income fell by 11.0% year-on-year to EUR 33.8 million. Chiefly respon-

sible were insurance compensation claims that were received in the previous year due to the 
flooding in Thailand. 

2011 was marked by a difficult commodities price environment, which was also re-
flected in the trend of material costs. They increased by 25.1% in the reporting period due 
to price and volume factors and were thus significantly higher than revenue growth. Passing 
on the increased purchasing price to customers proved to be difficult. These challenging 
general conditions were successfully countered by the constant adjustment of material used 
by actively managing raw materials, as well as through economies of scale for long periods. 
Nevertheless, the share of cost of materials to operating profit (EBIT) grew by 4.0 percentage 
points to 62.3%.

Compared with the increase in revenue, personnel costs as well as the other operating 
expenses posted disproportionately small increases to EUR 114.9 million and EUR 116.6 mil-
lion, respectively. The growth rates were 4.6% and 6.5%, respectively.

Headcount increased on average by 825 people to 7,833 due to capacity expansion and 
the positive order situation for most of the year. Despite this trend, and supported by a lower 
discount rate for the calculation of personnel provisions, the share of the personnel costs to 
the operating profit (EBIT) was reduced to 14.0%, down from 15.6% in the previous year.

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) increased 
slightly in the financial year 2011 by EUR 0.5 million to EUR 112.8 million; the EBITDA margin 
on revenue fell from 16.3% to 13.8%. 

Depreciation and amortisation remained almost unchanged compared to the previous 
year at EUR 29.7 million.

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) grew by 0.9% year-on-year to EUR 83.1 million. 
The EBIT margin on revenue reached 10.1% after 11.9% in the previous year.

Revenue, EBIT and EBIT margin trends
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The financial result improved on the year from negative EUR 19.2 million to negative 
EUR 13.2 million. This development is mainly attributable to the weaker result, which was 
caused by redeemable non-controlling shares – predominantly in the Sempermed segment.  

Earnings before tax for the Semperit Group were EUR 69.9 million in the reported 
period, up 10.7% from the previous year. 

The tax burden decreased in the financial year 2011 by EUR 1.9 million to EUR 15.8 
million. The effective tax rate (calculated on profit before taxes and before redeemable non-
controlling shares) decreased from 21.1% to 18.7% due to a changed geographical profit distri-
bution, which consequently resulted in a lower tax burden, and to tax investment allowances.

Earnings after tax for the Semperit Group increased by 19.2% to EUR 54.1 million due 
to improved financial results and lower tax expenditure. 

As a result of this improved profit, the return on equity improved from 12.9% in the 
previous year to 14.5% and the return on total assets before taxes fell from 14.2% to 13.8%. 

Results of operations and earnings in comparison with the previous year were quite 
mixed in the individual segments. The Sempermed segment recorded a fall in operating profit 
(EBIT) from EUR 47.1 million to EUR 34.5 million on the year, mainly due to increased price 
pressure, and the EBIT margin fell from 14.9% to 9.3%.

The Semperflex segment slightly improved operating profit (EBIT) by EUR 0.8 million 
to EUR 25.0 million, and EBIT margin was 13.4% after 16.7% in the previous year. There was a 
trend reversal for the Sempertrans segment after the crisis year of 2010; operating profit (EBIT) 
was improved to EUR 11.3 million, and an EBIT margin of 7.7% (2010: 0.0%) was achieved. The 
Semperform segment recorded a renewed increase in operating profit to EUR 18.9 million 
(previous year: EUR 15.9 million) and this improved the EBIT margin from 14.5% to 16.5%. 

The share capital of Semperit AG Holding amounts to EUR 21.4 million and is com-
posed of 20,573,434 no-parvalue shares, whereby each share participates equally in the share 
capital.

EBIT trend in comparison with the previous year in EUR million
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Earnings per share increased from EUR 2.21 in 2010 to a new record high of EUR 2.63.

The board will propose reducing the dividend to EUR 0.80 per share to the annual 
general meeting. The distribution rate for 2011 of 30.4% is subject to agreement at the annual 
general meeting. The dividend yield on the closing price of EUR 29.75 amounts to 2.7% and 
2.3% measured against the average share price for 2011. 

Financial position

Abstract from the consolidated balance sheet dated December 31, 2011

In EUR million	 Dec. 31, 2011	 Dec. 31, 2010	 Change in %

Assets			 

Fixed assets	 233.4	 219.8	 6.2

Inventories	 137.6	 113.7	 21.0

Trade accounts receivable	 114.3	 85.5	 33.6

Current assets including deferred taxes 	 131.3	 174.4	 –24.7

Balance sheet total	 616.7	 593.5	 3.9

Equity and liabilities

Equity	 372.5	 351.1	 6.1

Liabilities from redeemable non-controlling shares 	 97.3	 83.4	 16.6

Provisions including social capital	 79.1	 91.5	 –13.5

Other liabilities including deferred taxes	 67.8	 67.5	 0.4

Balance sheet total	 616.7	 593.5	 3.9

The balance sheet total of Semperit Group increased by 3.9% to EUR 616.7 million in 
the financial year. 

Fixed assets increased once again by 6.2% to EUR 233.4 million due to higher invest-
ments. Contained in this are advance payments and plant under construction worth EUR 38.0 
million (2010: EUR 28.8 million). 

Current assets including deferred taxes were increased by 2.5% to EUR 383.2 million. 
Against the increase in provisions and the trade receivables is a reduction in the liquid assets 
(cash and cash equivalents).

Working capital, composed of inventories plus trade receivables less trade liabilities, 
was at EUR 213.1 million, 34.6% above the previous year’s figure of EUR 158.3 million. 

Due to the higher sales volume and the marked increase in commodity prices, invento-
ries were increased by 21.0% to EUR 137.6 million. 

The increased revenue lead, in combination with heightened competition which  
impacted the agreed terms of payment, to an increase in the trade receivables by 33.6% to 
EUR 114.3 million.
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Cash and cash equivalents decreased to EUR 97.9 million in comparison with EUR 139.2 
million the previous year due to the working capital increase described above and the invest-
ments effected by the balance sheet date. The Semperit Group continues to command a very 
sound basis for the financing of the planned investments and future acquisitions.

Equity increased by 6.1% to EUR 372.5 million, composed of earnings after tax of  
EUR 54.1 million, the disbursement of the dividend payment to the shareholders (EUR 25.7 
million) and the negative amendment of the currency translation differences (EUR 6.9 million) 
as well as the negative effects of the revaluations (EUR 0.1 million).

The equity ratio as a measure of the financial independence of the company is 60.4% 
(previous year: 59.2%). Shareholders’ funds cover the fixed assets of the Semperit Group to 
159.6% (previous year: 159.7%). 

Debt remained largely unaltered; an increase in liabilities arising from redeemable 
non-controlling shares of EUR 13.9 million was contrasted by a fall in provisions including 
social capital by EUR 12.4 million. Other liabilities including deferred taxes increased only 
slightly by EUR 0.3 million to EUR 67.8 million.

Cash flow

Abstract from the cash flow statement 
for the financial year from January 1, 2011 until December 31, 2011

In EUR million	 2011	 2010	 Change in %

Gross cash flow	 89.0	 91.0	 –2.2

Cash flow from operating activities	 29.4	 50.4	 –41.6

Cash flow from investing activities	 –43.0	 –66.4	 –35.3

Cash flow from financing activities	 –24.4	 –46.6	 –47.6

Changes in cash and cash equivalents	 –38.1	 –62.7	 –39.3

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period	 97.9	 139.2	 –29.7

Gross cash flow from earnings in 2011 decreased by 2.2% to EUR 89.0 million, while 
cash flow from operating activities decreased by 41.6% to EUR 29.4 million due to the increase 
in working capital. 

Cash flow from investing activities was EUR -43.0 million in the 2011 financial year and 
showed a fall of 35.3%. EUR 45.1 million was spent on replacement, expansion and rationalisa-
tion investments in tangible assets and intangible assets (previous year: EUR 52.5 million). 

Cash flow from financing activities fell by 47.6% to EUR -24.4 million and includes the 
dividend payment to shareholders of Semperit AG Holding for the financial year 2010 amount-
ing to EUR 25.7 million, dividend payments to non-controlling shareholders in subsidiaries 
amounting to EUR 1.2 million, and net deposits from financing totalling EUR 1.5 million, as well 
as deposits from non-controlling shareholders amounting to EUR 1.0 million. 
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The closing balance of cash and cash equivalents taking into account currency ex-
change rate fluctuations was EUR 97.9 million as at the balance sheet date, thus EUR 41.3 
million short of the previous year’s figure.

The cash flow ratio is an indicator of the company’s ability to finance investment and 
thus future corporate growth from its own earnings, and is expressed as the percentage ratio 
of operating cash flow to sales. The Semperit Group achieved a cash flow ratio of 10.9% in 
2011 (previous year: 13.2%). This fall is primarily due to the increase in material costs.

Performance of the segments 
Sempermed

Despite difficult conditions the Sempermed segment continued its growth of recent 
years in the financial year 2011, increasing revenues by 17.4% to EUR 371.5 million. This signifi-
cant increase in revenue is due in more or less equal measures to price and volume effects.

The strong demand for high quality gloves for the medical sector continued, however 
volatile commodity prices, changes to production processes between natural latex and nitrile 
due to the changed demand mix, and the extended start-up phase for the plant in Surat Thani 
led to a charge against earnings. By means of a flexible pricing policy, ongoing productivity 
improvements and strict material cost management it was possible to partly offset these 
negative factors. 

Due to the prevailing pressure on markets prices, operating profit (EBIT) was down by 
26.8% to EUR 34.5 million in 2011 and the return on sales of 14.9% fell to 9.3%. 

Performance 
The growth in sales volume of examination gloves in 2011 was again positive overall, 

although the challenges posed by the market varied from one half of the year to the next. 
Due to the increases in raw materials prices during the first few months the main difficulty was 
to pass on the increased costs of key inputs on the price side to customers. The year’s raw 
materials price high was followed by growing pressure on prices, which was exacerbated by 
the existing overcapacity in the market and aggressive pricing by competitors.

Sempermed: Growth in revenue, EBIT and EBIT margin
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The extraordinarily large increase in the price of natural latex reinforced the market 
trend towards high quality gloves made of synthetic nitrile. The share accounted for by nitrile 
in 2011 was 30%, compared to 20% in the previous year. While nitrile has always been a very 
expensive raw material compared to natural latex in recent years, this situation has changed 
with the increase in the price of natural latex. Similar price levels have led to a situation in 
which, due to their excellent properties, products made of nitrile have become more attrac-
tive for many customers. 

Indeed, as a result of the switching of individual distribution channels from natural 
latex to nitrile products, some distribution partners found that they had temporarily built up 
surplus stocks of examination gloves made of natural latex; the consequence was a temporary 
reduction in order intake in this product area. 

Start-up of the new lines at the new production location in Surat Thani was adapted to 
existing demand and gradually implemented over the course of the year. 

The increase in sales volume in the financial year 2011 is mainly due to very good 
growth in demand in South America and a slight increase in volume in the US. By contrast, 
sales volume in Europe and Asia stagnated.

In surgical gloves an increase in sales volume of 11% was achieved in 2011, after the 
market had shown signs of saturation in 2010. This revenue growth is mainly due to improved 
demand in the main market, the EU, and the increase in packaging capacity at the Sopron 
location in Hungary. In this business area, too, profitability was dampened by the volatility of 
commodity prices.

In-house production of PVC examination gloves at the Shanghai location was discon-
tinued at the end of 2011. Since then, this niche product has been manufactured by external 
contractors in accordance with Sempermed’s designs and quality standards.

Investments
Once again, investment in 2011 was concentrated on the plants in Thailand, amounting 

to EUR 20.7 million. After the delays in construction work due to the floods in November of 
2010, in 2011 Sempermed succeeded in completing the basic structure of the new plant at Su-
rat Thani and in starting up seven state-of-the-art production lines. The planning and prepara-
tion phase for the new plant at Trang, the third location in Thailand, was largely completed. 

At the manufacturing location for surgical gloves in Wimpassing, Austria, the batch 
tunnel washer and dryer were modernised last fiscal year and improved batch tracking sys-
tems were installed. Furthermore, at the finishing plant in Sopron, Hungary, the packaging 
line newly constructed in the previous year was optimised. 

Semperflex
In 2011 the Semperflex segment continued its upward trend of 2010, achieving a re-

cord revenue of EUR 186.9 million, up 28.5% on the previous year. The bulk of this increase 
was due to volume effects. 

The demand situation in 2011 varied greatly over the course of the year. In the Sem-
perflex segment the first few months of 2011 were marked by continued strong order intake 
and dynamic volume growth, which resulted in full capacity utilisation. By increasing the 
number of shifts the company tried to minimise the lengthening of delivery times and best 
meet customer requirements. However, from mid-year we saw demand consolidate in some 
geographical markets; given the uncertainty with commodities, full warehouses and slowing 
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economic growth customers were much more cautious in their ordering behaviour, resulting 
in normalisation of order intake and order book size as the year progressed. In response to 
these conditions production capacity at a number of plants, which had been fully utilised in 
the first half of the year, was adjusted to take account of the lower demand.

Semperflex achieved an operating profit (EBIT) of EUR 25.0 million last financial year 
and was thus able to generate a return on sales of 13.4%, which was respectable in view of the 
challenges posed by the market. The significant increase in sales volume thus compensated 
for the inflation in raw materials prices, the poor availability of certain raw materials, and the 
difficulties experienced in implementing customer price increases.

Performance 
The Hydraulic Hose business unit posted a significant increase in sales volume for 

the reporting period of about one quarter, but passing on higher raw materials prices to 
customers proved difficult. The strong fluctuation in the order situation in the course of the 
year previously referred to combined with the necessary capacity adjustments due to more 
cautious customer stocking behaviour mainly impacted this business unit.

The volume growth in hydraulic hoses was boosted above all by overseas markets, the 
Thai plant in particular significantly increasing its sales and gaining market shares in Asia. The 
newly-established Brazilian distributor of hydraulic hoses established a good foothold in the 
market.

The Industrial Hose business unit increased its revenues by roughly one-fifth in the 
financial year 2011, despite below-average growth in volumes. Due to the absence of global 
standards for these products Semperflex focused on European growth markets such as Russia 
and Ukraine in order to expand sales volume. 

The Elastomer and Wear-resistant Sheeting business unit, the smallest unit in the seg-
ment, was just short of double-digit unit revenue growth in 2011, and its capacities were well 
utilised over the course of the year. However, order intake fell off slightly towards year-end.

Semperflex: Growth in revenue, EBIT and EBIT margin
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Investments
In the financial year 2011 EUR 16.1 million was invested in the Semperflex segment, 

with the focus being on expansion of capacity at the plants in the Czech Republic, Thailand 
and China. In the course of 2012 the available production capacity at these locations will be 
increased by about a fifth in total.

Sempertrans
In the financial year 2011 the Sempertrans segment reported a significant increase 

in revenue of 24.5% to EUR 147.0 million, thus achieving a new revenue record. The trading 
environment was characterised by very dynamic demand throughout 2011, mainly driven by 
strong order volume from the mining sector. Attractive major contracts were won not only in 
the core regions of Eastern and Central Europe, but also in the high-growth markets of South 
America, Asia and North Africa. Demand from the steel and cement industry and for port 
facilities was lower. 

After the difficult business climate of the previous year Sempertrans succeeded in 
greatly improving profitability during the fiscal year by means of pricing designed to allow 
better and faster adaptation to the raw materials situation, optimisation of the product mix, 
and consistent cost management. Following a break-even result in 2010, the turnaround was 
achieved in 2011 with EBIT of EUR 11.3 million. Nevertheless, the competitive situation con-
tinues to be marked by severe price competition between market players. In addition there is 
a growing trend towards import of Asian products in the standard conveyor belts business.

Performance
All the plants were working at full capacity in the financial year 2011, though the strike 

in the plant in Nirlon, India, triggered a reduction in the available volume from the segment 
in the fourth quarter. However, any impact on customers was largely forestalled by shipments 
from the plants in Europe and Asia. Due to the entrenched positions the strike is continuing 
into 2012 and it had not been settled at the time of writing this report.

Following the start-up in 2010 of the extra-wide extruder combined with a modern 
roller head system, the Polish plant in Belchatów greatly increased its capacity and also com-
pletely filled it. The French production facility in Argenteuil concentrated on manufacturing 
high quality metal and special conveyor belts due to the challenging market situation and the 
cutthroat competition in standard conveyor belts. The manufacturing facility in Shandong, 
China, focused on stabilising quality and on technical development. In addition, the focus was 
on improvement of local marketing and supply within the segment.

Sempertrans: Growth in revenue, EBIT and EBIT margin
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Investments
Investment was concentrated on ongoing productivity and quality improvements to-

gether with optimisation at the existing locations. Total investment after completion of major 
projects in the previous years was EUR 2.0 million.

Semperform
The Semperform segment ended the financial year 2011 with revenue growth of 4.7% 

to EUR 114.6 million. This was assisted in particular by the Moulded Parts and Special Applica-
tions business units, which contributed double-digit growth, while the Building Profiles and 
Handrails business units were slightly down and remained unchanged respectively.

The difficulties experienced in passing on rises in raw materials prices to customers 
had a negative impact on earnings. Nevertheless, due to the reversal of a provision, the Sem-
perform segment reported an increase in operating profit (EBIT) of 18.9% to EUR 18.9 million. 

Performance 
The largest business unit, Building Profiles, comprising window and door seals, was 

particularly hard hit by the raw material price increases and also faced very aggressive pric-
ing behaviour from competitors in some markets. Selective order control ultimately led to a 
reduction in sales volume and hence to a flattening of revenue growth. This quantitative fall 
in sales mainly took place in Eastern Europe and was only partly offset by the price increases 
which became necessary on the revenue side, so sales fell slightly in 2011 compared to the 
previous year.

In Moulded Parts, the second-largest business unit, satisfactory performance was 
achieved in fiscal 2011, mainly driven by price-related growth. Strong demand from construc-
tion and industrial clients was a major factor here.

2009 2010 2011
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Handrails, the third-largest business unit, posted static revenue growth in 2011 – slight 
volume growth contrasted with a negative price trend. The competitive situation worsened 
noticeably, especially in the main market, China, and Semperform will be addressing this 
situation with a new and differentiated product strategy.

The smallest business unit, Special Applications, which comprises the rubber foils, 
sheave and bull wheel liners and sponge rubber product groups, achieved double-digit rev-
enue growth in 2011. This growth can be attributed to price increases, though sales volume 
fell slightly

Investments
In total Semperform invested EUR 5.6 million in the year under review compared to 

EUR 5.8 million in the previous year. The investment activity focused on new capacity at the 
Chinese location in Shanghai, adaptation of buildings at the Deggendorf location in Germany, 
and a new injection moulding machine at the main plant in Wimpassing, Austria.  

Employees
The Semperit Group employed an average of 7,833 individuals in 2011, or 11.8% more 

than in the prior year. The Sempermed and Semperflex segments recorded the largest in-
crease. A total of 702 individuals were employed in Austria and thus 6.0% more than in the 
prior year. The ratio of personnel expenses in the amount of EUR 114.9 million to gross profit 
was 14.0% following 15.6% in the prior year. 

Personnel expenses as a % of gross profit

2009 2010 2011

17.2
15.6

14.0

The Semperit Group’s management regards its employees’ expertise and innovative-
ness to be an important factor of success for defending and further expanding the current 
market position. Therefore, Semperit offers its employees a comprehensive program for basic 
and advanced training intended to optimally prepare them for operational and strategic chal-
lenges. Personnel management focuses on continuously improving operating security and 
promoting the health of all employees.
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Research and development
In order to successfully position itself among the competition, the Semperit Group 

pursues a clearly defined research strategy that focuses on increasing the flexibility of pro-
duction processes for optimising the use of raw materials in addition to continuous product 
innovations. Safeguarding and further developing the standard of quality also forms a central 
element. Group-wide research activities are coordinated and managed in the research centre 
Wimpassing, Lower Austria.

Environmental protection  
and conservation of resources

The Semperit Group reduces the environmental burden resulting from production that 
is typical for the industry as much as possible through an effective environmental management 
system, based on legal provisions and requirements. The management of each production 
and operating facility is responsible for compliance with these provisions. In addition, there 
are clear rules and regulations governing responsibility for various environmental protection 
issues; for instance, waste and effluent treatment managers. The employees are regularly 
instructed and trained to adhere to the corresponding provisions and instructions. The en-
vironmental effects of all raw materials, mixtures, and processes used for the first time are 
inspected and optimised in the planning stage. Detailed goals for reducing materials usage 
and energy consumption are established and are periodically reviewed by management and 
supplemented by further measures.  

Disclosures pursuant to Section 243a  
Para. 1 Austrian Company Code (UGB)

The share capital of Semperit AG Holding amounted to EUR 21,358,996.53 as at De-
cember 31, 2011, and consisted of 20,573,434 no-par-value ordinary shares, each carrying 
equal rights in every respect. 

There are no restrictions with regard to voting rights except for provisions contained 
in the Austrian Stock Corporation Act.

B&C Semperit Holding GmbH owned more than 50% of the shares in Semperit AG 
Holding as at December 31, 2011. More than 10% of the ordinary shares have been held by 
Legg Mason Inc., USA since March 10, 2011. The remaining shares are in free float. 

No shares were issued entitling the owners to special control rights. 

Employees who own shares are entitled to exercise their right to vote at the Annual 
General Meeting.

The age limit for members of the Management Board is 65. The duration of their last 
possible term of office on the Management Board ends with the Annual General Meeting fol-
lowing their 65th birthday. Otherwise there are no other regulations extending beyond legal 
requirements that relate to the appointment and dismissal of members of the Management 
Board. 
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The age limit for members of the Supervisory Board is 70. They are only permitted to 
carry out their mandate until the Annual General Meeting following their 70th birthday. 

The following applies with respect to the appointment and revocation of Supervisory 
Board members pursuant to the Articles of Association:

Unless a shorter term of office is specified, Supervisory Board members are elected 
until the end of the Annual General Meeting resolving upon the ratification of the actions of 
the Management and Supervisory Boards for the fourth financial year after the election, not 
including the financial year in which the election took place. However, at least one-fifth of all 
Supervisory Board members are required to resign each year, effective at the end of the An-
nual General Meeting. In cases in which the number of Supervisory Board members is greater 
than but not divisible by five, this number will be alternately raised and lowered to numbers 
divisible by five. In cases in which the number of Supervisory Board members is less than five, 
the number five will be used as a base only in every second year.

The selection of the members departing will be undertaken using the following pro-
cedures:

Those members whose terms of office expire are to be the first to depart. Should the 
above divisibility not be attained by this, those members are to depart whose terms of func-
tion are the longest. In cases in which this procedure yields a number of members eligible for 
departure that is greater than required, the selection among them will be undertaken through 
the drawing of lots. This procedure is also used to decide in cases in which the above rules 
do not suffice to determine which members will depart. Those departing are immediately 
eligible for re-election.

Should members – not including those cases described in the previous paragraph – 
depart from the board prior to the expiry of their term of office, the election held to replace 
them need not be held before the next Annual General Meeting. An election to replace 
them is, however, to be held without delay via the convening of an Extraordinary General 
Meeting in cases in which the number of Supervisory Board members declines to less than 
five. These replacement elections are for the remaining term of office of the members who 
have departed. In cases in which a member is elected to the Supervisory Board by convening 
an Extraordinary General Meeting, the member’s first year of office is deemed to conclude at 
the end of the next Annual General Meeting.

Any member of the Supervisory Board can resign from it even without good cause 
by submitting written notification of such. Should this cause the number of members of the 
Supervisory Board to decline to below the minimum specified number, the observation of a 
four-week time period is required. 

With regard to amendments to the Articles of Association, these are enacted with a 
simple majority of the share capital represented at the Annual General Meeting, inasmuch as 
the Austrian Stock Corporation Act does not stipulate any other procedure.

The authorisation granted to the Management Board by the 120th Annual General 
Meeting held on April 30, 2009, pursuant to Section 65 Para. 1 (8) of the Austrian Stock 
Corporation Act to repurchase shares comprising up to 5% of the share capital expired on 
November 30, 2011. In addition, the Management Board has no powers within the meaning of 
Section 243a Para. 7, Austrian Company Code (UGB). 

The company has not concluded any agreements in respect to a potential change of 
controlling interest in the event of takeovers within the meaning of Section 243a Para. 1 (8), 
Austrian Company Code (UGB). 
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No compensation agreements pursuant to Section 243a Para. 9 of the Austrian Com-
pany Code (UGB) exist.

Risk report
Risk environment

The fragility of the current global economy, with its stark regional discontinuities, 
presents Semperit as an internationally active corporate group with certain challenges. The 
strategic orientation of Semperit‘s four operating segments means that their success depends 
to differing degrees on the general economic situation. Our global presence itself helps to 
ensure that our risks are diversified. 

In the current economic environment, high volatility between the euro and the US 
dollar itself constitutes a potential threat. Moreover rising commodity prices and energy costs 
may lead to a deterioration in the Semperit Group‘s earnings if they cannot be passed on in 
selling prices quickly enough.

Semperit is active in countries that are at different stages in their economic and social 
development. Adverse changes in the political and economic environment may therefore give 
rise to further risks. Risks such as fire and natural or environment disasters are also associated 
with significant potential losses for the Semperit Group.

Risk management
Semperit‘s objective is an effective risk-management system that minimises potential 

threats from future events and actively exploits opportunities for growth in pursuit of con-
tinual increases in enterprise value.

The Management Board of Semperit AG Holding and the bodies subordinate to it 
undertake extensive monitoring and controlling tasks with respect to operating units in the 
context of an integrated control system covering all group sites. Identifying and evaluating 
strategic risks and opportunities and responding to them at an early stage is accordingly an 
important component of these units‘ management activity, based on a uniform group-wide 
system of monthly reporting. General market risks that may arise from developments in the 
global economy and from demand trends in the relevant regions and sectors are systematically 
analysed, and the results are explicitly incorporated into operating and strategic planning. 

Whenever necessary, measures to reduce risk are implemented with the responsible 
departments and by arranging external insurance cover. Risk assessment involves evaluating 
the damage that an event might cause and estimating the likelihood of its occurring, in ac-
cordance with the international COSO Standards (Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of 
the Treadway Commission).

Risk organisation
Beginning in 2012, the Internal Audit department will take over responsibility for risk 

management. This particularly includes the central coordination and monitoring of risk-man-
agement processes for the Group as a whole, as well as risk assessment and comprehensive 
reporting to the Management and Supervisory Boards. 
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Beginning in 2012, the Internal Audit department will take over responsibility for risk 
management. This particularly includes the central coordination and monitoring of risk-man-
agement processes for the Group as a whole, as well as risk assessment and comprehensive 
reporting to the Management and Supervisory Boards.

Significant individual risks
General market risks that may arise from developments in the global economy and 

from the regions and sectors relevant to Semperit are explicitly assessed in the Management 
Report under Outlook. Selected individual risks are explained below.

Operating risk

Procurement risk
Semperit takes account of this risk category by actively managing its supplier portfolio, 

and through a globally oriented purchasing-management system that is coordinated through-
out the Group. There are long-term supply contracts in place for the procurement of natural 
rubber. Semperit‘s presence in Asia, the world‘s most important region for rubber produc-
tion, ensures proximity to producers at all points on the value chain. Long-term relations also 
exist with suppliers of other important raw materials such as chemicals, bulking agents and 
both textile and steel reinforcing materials.

At the Semperit research and development centre in Wimpassing, interdisciplinary 
teams are constantly at work on developing alternative formulas so that we can react rapidly 
and flexibly to fluctuations in commodity prices and supply bottlenecks. An additional element 
in our adaptability is the flexible, formula-dependent orientation of our production facilities. 

Sales and customer default risk
The customer structure of the Semperit Group is broad and well-balanced, thus avoid-

ing concentrating too much on individual consumers with regard to risk. No client accounts 
for more than 10% of sales. Bad debt losses and sales losses play a minor role. Credit risks and 
the risk of payment default are reduced with the use of standardised credit checks, set credit 
limits and loan insurance. The measures initiated in the reporting year aimed at improving the 
management of client relationships also certainly serve to reduce this risk class.

The sales risk is also reduced through an active management of the product portfolio 
as well as the ongoing development of product innovations and by tapping into new markets. 
Semperit is confronting the risk of overcapacities with its ongoing evaluation of market and 
order data, thus allowing it to react quickly to changes with the appropriate measures such as 
temporary shutdowns and shift adjustments.

Production risk
The Semperit Group has set high technological and safety standards for its production 

sites both at home and abroad. The risk that the production plants will break down is also re-
duced through regular maintenance as well as through flexible production control. Despite all 
its efforts, the risk of operational disruptions, accidents and environmental damage cannot be 
completely ruled out, as disruptions can come about especially through natural occurrences 
beyond the control of the Semperit Group. The company safeguards against these types of 
risk to the extent feasible with an economically sensible level of insurance.
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Personnel risk
The business performance of Semperit in the future will largely be determined by the 

commitment, expertise, and productivity of its employees. Semperit rises to the competition 
for highly qualified specialists and executive staff in the form of cooperations with universi-
ties, colleges and advanced technical colleges and its positioning as an attractive employer 
with trade fairs and similar events. In addition to forward-looking estate planning, attractive 
qualification options and performance-based remuneration systems form the basis for human 
resource management.

Financial risk
As is stipulated in IFRS 7.31, the financial risks are shown in detail in the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements on page 146. The following is a summary and interpretation.

Default risk of financial instruments
Default risks of the Semperit Group with regard to securities as well as receivables and 

deposits at banks are assessed as low given the fact that most of the contractual partners are 
banks with outstanding creditworthiness. Each contractual partner also has defined maximum 
amounts in order to minimise risk.

Interest-rate risk
To a minor extent, operating resources and investments are financed using debt capi-

tal in the scope of the business operations. As at the balance sheet date of December 31, 
2011, liabilities to banks amounting to EUR 6.2 million (2010: EUR 6.0 million) are shown. The 
liabilities have variable interest rates and are subject to the usual interest-rate risk within the 
market. The interest-rate risk is assessed as insignificant due to the volume mentioned.

Liquidity risk
Cash and cash equivalents amounted to EUR 97.9 million as at the balance sheet date 

December 31, 2011 (2010: EUR 139.2 million). The ongoing improvement to the group‘s trea-
sury guidelines and information systems helps recognise financial risks early on and enables 
suitable measures to take hold in due time. The solid balance sheet structure of the Semperit 
Group, with an equity ratio of 60.4% as at the end of 2011 (2010: 59.2%), ensures access to 
cheap debt financing when needed. 

Currency risk
In light of the subsidiaries‘ international trade relations, the Semperit Group is exposed 

to currency risk. Transaction risks can be found above all at subsidiaries which are not located 
in the Eurozone, but maintain business relationships there, and in exchange rate fluctuations 
between the euro and US dollar. The company protects against these risks with forward 
transactions where appropriate. No derivative financial instruments are entered into for the 
purpose of speculation.
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Internal Controls System (ICS)
The Semperit Group‘s internal control system pursues the goal of securing the ef-

fectiveness and efficiency of its business activities, the reliability of its financial reporting, 
and compliance with relevant statutory provisions. It also supports the early recognition and 
monitoring of risks from insufficient monitoring systems and fraudulent actions and is currently 
being revised and expanded by the Internal Audit department together with the respective 
specialised departments. The management of the respective business unit is responsible for 
implementing and monitoring the ICS and the risk management system. The Management 
Board of Semperit AG Holding prescribes cross-divisional framework conditions and regula-
tions applicable throughout the group.

The following principles form the basis of the ICS:
•	 Risk-oriented approach
•	 Clear organisation and responsibilities
•	 Standardised rules or procedure for preparing the financial reporting  

(documentation, controls, approval)
•	 Separation of functions (review by second person)
•	 Analysis and plausibility checks
•	 IT process control
•	 Inclusion of specialist divisions
•	 IT general controls

At the time this management report was prepared, no risks were identified in connec-
tion with the future development that could threaten the existence of the Semperit Group as 
a going concern either in isolated cases or jointly. Adequate insurance has been taken out for 
specific liability risks and damages where this makes economic sense.
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Outlook
Short-term improvement in the economic environment is not expected for 2012. 

Moreover, the World Bank expects global economic growth to further weaken in 2012 
compared to 2011, whereby growth should gradually increase in the second half of the 
year. Economic indicators are first forecast to recover again from an annual perspective 
in 2013. 

Both developed markets as well as emerging regions will be affected by this 
temporary economic downturn. For instance, the Eurozone is expected to stagnate on 
average in 2012; but growth markets in Asia and South America will also be confronted 
with reduced expectations for growth according to the World Bank’s estimates. 

In light of these estimates regarding overall economic development and in the 
expectation that commodities markets will remain volatile, visibility for the earnings trend 
for the 2012 fiscal year is significantly limited. The Semperit Group will orient its short-term 
operational focus on further optimising the development of sales and earnings in 2012 
without neglecting its medium-term growth plans or to improve its strategic orientation. 

Selective order management, ongoing measures to increase productivity and ef-
ficiency, and a more flexible adjustment of sales to raw materials prices should contribute 
to continued earnings-oriented growth. 

The Semperit Group will put the planned expansions of capacity in both the 
medical and industrial sectors successively into operation in order to achieve the planned 
increases in market share as well as to maintain the price and volume-based sales policies. 

A surplus of capacity and a continuation of the aggressive pricing behavior of 
some competitors are foreseeable for medical products, so that the margin trend in the 
Sempermed segment is expected to be slightly below average in the first half of 2012. We 
are currently not able to determine how much this situation will change in the second half 
of 2012. However, we continue to pursue the goal of increasing the global market share 
for examination gloves from currently 8% to 12% by 2015 with the acceleration in sales 
activities implemented in 2011 and the further improvement of customer service. 

Planning in the industrial sector is based on the assumption that the current busi-
ness trend will continue and the Semperit Group will be in a position to take advantage of 
growth opportunities resulting from the intended expansions of capacity after the order 
situation normalises in the second half of 2011. The Semperflex segment plans to actively 
take advantage of growth opportunities in Asia and Latin America by strengthening sales 
in order to at least compensate for the current stagnation on the markets in Europe and 
the USA. The Sempertrans segment should continue to profit from the sustained boom in 
the energy economy and commodities. Semperform will continue to concentrate on the 
selected niche markets and plans to strengthen development in the Asian market through 
reasonably priced product variations.
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The Semperit Group expects volume to continue to grow for the full 2012 year. Due 
to the limited operational visibility, dominated in particular by the raw materials price trend 
and the difficult to forecast economic environment, a well-founded outlook with respect to 
the development of sales and earnings for the 2012 fiscal year is not possible at this time. 
However, the Semperit Group continues to maintain the same multi-year growth targets. On 
average, double-digit sales growth should be realised in the years up to and including 2015, 
while simultaneously maintaining the current level of profitability. 

This outlook for the 2012 fiscal year corresponds to the estimates of the Board of 
Managing Directors as of March 9, 2012, and does not reflect any effects from possible acqui-
sitions, sales, or other structural changes during 2012. The cited estimates are subject to both 
identified as well as unidentified risks and uncertainties that could cause the actual results to 
differ from the statements made here.

 

Events after the balance sheet date
There have been no events of particular significance since January 1, 2012 which would 

be expected to have a substantial influence on the asset, financial and earnings position of 
the Semperit Group. 

Vienna, March 9, 2012
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Consolidated income statement 
for the financial year 2011 starting January 1, and ending December 31, 2011

in kEUR	 Note	 2011	 2010

Revenue	 5.1.	 820,006	 689,425

Changes in inventories		  2,786	 13,603

Own work capitalised		  802	 793

Operating revenue		  823,595	 703,821

Other operating income	 5.2.	 33,782	 37,961

Material costs	 5.3.	 –513,059	 –410,173

Personnel expenses	 5.4.	 –114,947	 –109,872

Other operating expenses	 5.5.	 –116,594	 –109,470

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA)		  112,776	 112,267

Depreciation and amortisation of tangible and intangible assets	 5.6.	 –29,673	 –29,939

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)		  83,103	 82,328

Share of profit from associated companies		  207	 162

Interest and other financial income 		  1,703	 1,887

Expenses on financial assets		  –52	 –89

Interest and other financial expenses 		  –418	 –222

Profit/loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling shares		  –14,680	 –20,969

Financial result	 5.7.	 –13,241	 –19,231

Earnings before tax (EBT)		  69,862	 63,098

Income taxes	 5.8.	 –15,784	 –17,715

Earnings after tax		  54,078	 45,382

Earnings per share (undiluted)	 5.9.	 2.63	 2.21

The following notes to the consolidated financial statements comprise an integral part of this consolidated income statement.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the financial year 2011 starting January 1, and ending December 31, 2011			 

in kEUR	 Note	 2011	 2010

Earnings after tax 		  54,078	 45,382

Other comprehensive income 			 

“Available for sale” financial assets		  –132	 –21

thereof deferred taxes		  33	 6

Currency translation differences for the period		  –6,879	 18,729

Reclassification to net profit		  5	 68

			   –6,973	 18,782

Total recognised comprehensive income		  47,105	 64,164

The following notes to the consolidated financial statements comprise an integral part of this consolidated statement of comprehensive income.		
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Consolidated balance sheet
as at December 31, 2011

in kEUR	 Note	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2010

Assets			 

Non-current assets			 

Intangible assets	 6.1.	 5,615	 6,031

Tangible assets	 6.2.	 216,720	 199,843

Investments in associated companies	 3.2.	 767	 560

Other financial assets	 6.5.	 11,884	 13,720

Other assets	 6.6.	 310	 445

Deferred taxes	 6.8.	 8,772	 10,761

				    244,068	 231,359

Current assets			 

Inventories	 6.3.	 137,595	 113,689

Trade receivables	 6.4.	 114,329	 85,546

Other financial assets	 6.5.	 3,695	 4,869

Other assets	 6.6.	 11,390	 11,953

Current tax receivables		  7,681	 6,874

Cash and cash equivalents	 6.7.	 97,892	 139,186

				    372,582	 362,116

total Assets		  616,650	 593,476

			 

Equity and liabilities			 

Capital and reserves	 6.9.		

Share capital		  21,359	 21,359

Capital reserves		  21,503	 21,503

Revenue reserves		  316,875	 288,613

Currency translation adjustments		  12,716	 19,590

				    372,453	 351,065

Non-current provisions and liabilities			 

Provisions for pension and severance payments 	 6.11.	 36,924	 41,998

Other provisions	 6.12.	 17,084	 18,924

Liabilities from redeemable non-controlling shares	 6.10.	 97,292	 83,405

Liabilities to banks	 6.13.	 0	 5,974

Other financial liabilities	 6.15.	 3,074	 762

Other liabilities 	 6.16.	 200	 211

Deferred taxes	 6.8.	 2,178	 4,206

				    156,751	 155,480

Current provisions and liabilities			 

Other provisions	 6.12.	 20,561	 24,848

Liabilities to banks	 6.13.	 6,178	 0

Trade payables	 6.14.	 38,815	 40,969

Other financial liabilities	 6.15.	 8,816	 9,646

Other liabilities	 6.16.	 7,084	 4,964

Current tax liabilities		  5,991	 6,504

				    87,445	 86,931

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES		  616,650	 593,476

The following notes to the consolidated financial statements comprise an integral part of this consolidated balance sheet.
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Consolidated cash flow statement 
for the financial year 2011 starting January 1, and ending December 31, 2011

in kEUR	 Note	 2011	 2010

Earnings after tax		  54,078	 45,382

Depreciation/write-ups of tangible and intangible assets		  28,862	 26,320

Profit and loss from disposal of assets		  –126	 71

Changes in non-current provisions		  –8,188	 –2,285

Share of profit from associated companies		  –207	 –162

Profit/loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling shares		  14,680	 20,969

Other non-cash expense/income		  –51	 674

Gross cash flow		  89,049	 90,969

Increase/decrease in inventories		  –23,906	 –38,704

Increase/decrease in trade receivables		  –28,783	 –6,037

Increase/decrease in other receivables and assets		  4,541	 –9,965

Increase/decrease in trade payables		  –6,375	 10,970

Increase/decrease in other liablilities and current provisions		  –2,679	 3,618

Changes in working capital resulting from currency translation adjustments		  –2,442	 –468

Cash flow from operating activities		  29,405	 50,383

Proceeds from sale of tangible and intangible assets		  1,312	 172

Proceeds from sale of  current and non-current financial assets		  3,000	 179

Investments in tangible and intangible assets		  –45,098	 –52,462

Investments in current and non-current financial assets		  –2,235	 –4,722

Net cash outflow on acquisition of businesses		  0	 –9,615

Cash flow from investing activities		  –43,020	 –66,448

Net payments from current and non-current financing liabilities		  1,485	 0

Dividends to shareholders of Semperit AG Holding		  –25,717	 –23,659

Dividends to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries		  –1,187	 –22,410

Equity payments received from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries		  973	 0

Payments due to capital decrease		  0	 –565

Cash flow from financing activities		  –24,446	 –46,635

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents		  –38,062	 –62,700

Effects resulting from currency translation		  –3,233	 16,130

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		  139,186	 185,756

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year	 7.	 97,892	 139,186

The following notes to the consolidated financial statements comprise an integral part of this consolidated cash flow statement.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the financial year 2011 starting January 1, and ending December 31, 2011

						      Re- 
			S   hare	 Capital	 Revenue	 valuation	 Currency 	  
in kEUR	 capital	 reserves	 reserves	 reserves	 translation	 Total

Balance at 31.12.2009	 21,359	 21,503	 267,085	 –182	 793	 310,558

Total recognised comprehensive income			   45,382	 –15	 18,797	 64,164

Dividends			   –23,659			   –23,659

Other			   3			   3

Balance at 31.12.2010	 21,359	 21,503	 288,811	 –198	 19,590	 351,065

Total recognised comprehensive income			   54,078	 –99	 –6,874	 47,105

Dividends			   –25,717			   –25,717

Balance at 31.12.2011	 21,359	 21,503	 317,172	 –297	 12,716	 372,453

The following notes to the consolidated financial statements comprise an integral part of this consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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Notes to the  
consolidated financial 
statements

1. General information
Semperit Aktiengesellschaft Holding, a joint stock company according to Austrian law, is an internationally operating 

industrial group headquartered at the address Modecenterstrasse 22, 1031 Vienna, Austria. B&C Semperit Holding GmbH is 
the direct majority shareholder of Semperit Aktiengesellschaft Holding and B&C Privatstiftung is the dominant legal entity. 
The activities of the Group are divided into four strategic business segments: Sempermed, Semperflex, Sempertrans and 
Semperform.

1.1.	 Preparation and presentation of consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2011 were prepared in accordance with Section 245a of the 

Austrian Company Code (UGB) in conjunction with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the 
European Union. The financial year covers the period from January 1 to December 31.

The reporting currency is the euro, in which case figures are rounded off to thousands of euros (kEUR) unless specified 
otherwise. Rounding differences in the totalling of rounded amounts and percents may arise from the automatic processing 
of data.

The receivables from income taxes, as well as the financial and non-financial assets and liabilities previously summa-
rised under other receivables and assets or under other liabilities on the balance sheet are now reported separately; the pre-
vious year’s figures have been adjusted accordingly.

 
1.2.	 Adoption of new and revised accounting standards  
First-time adoption of standards

The following new or revised standards and interpretations were adopted by the EU and are to be applied for the first 
time in business year 2011:

IFRS 1 First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Amendment: Exemption from 
IFRS 7 Comparatives

The amendment had no relevance for the Semperit Group.

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation – Amendment: Classification of Rights Issues
In accordance with this amendment, rights (e.g. options or subscription rights) to acquire a fixed number of the entity’s 

own equity instruments for a fixed amount of currency are to be classified as equity instruments if offered pro rata to all exist-
ing shareholders of the entity. The amendment had no effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Semperit Group.
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IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (revised 2009)
This standard, revised in 2009, simplifies the definition of related entities and persons, clarifies the intended meaning 

of these terms and eliminates contradictions. A partial exemption for government-related entities is provided. The first-time 
adoption in business year 2011 had no major effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Semperit Group.

Various standards – Improvements to IFRS (2010)
Adjustments focused on changes relating to presentation, recognition and measurement, as well as new terms or edi-

torial changes. The changes did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Semperit Group.

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments
This interpretation stipulates that an entity’s own equity instruments used to extinguish financial liabilities, initially rec-

ognised at fair value, represent “consideration paid” in accordance with IAS 39.41. The interpretation had no effect on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Semperit Group.

IFRIC 14 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction
The amendment allows voluntary prepayments for minimum funding contributions to be recognised as an asset. The 

amendment had no effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Semperit Group.

Standards already issued but not yet applied
The following new and revised standards and interpretations had already been issued up to the time of preparation of 

the consolidated financial statements. Their application to business years beginning on or before January 1, 2011 is not man-
datory and they were not applied early on a voluntary basis.

IFRS 1 First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Amendment:  
Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters

Subject to adoption by the EU, the amendment is applicable to business years beginning on or after July 1, 2011 and 
has no relevance for the Semperit Group.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Amendment: Transfers of Financial Assets
Additional disclosures are required for the accounting treatment of financial assets which were already transferred but 

not fully derecognised. This amendment has been adopted by the EU, and is applicable to business years beginning on or 
after July 1, 2012. This change is not expected to have an effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Semperit 
Group.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 regulates the classification and measurement of financial assets. A new classification of financial instruments in 

the categories of “at amortised cost” and “at fair value” will be introduced. Whether an instrument is classified in the “at 
amortised cost” category depends on the company’s business model and on the contractual cash flows of the instrument in 
question. Subject to adoption by the EU amendments must be applied with retrospective effect to business years beginning 
on or after January 1, 2015. The effects on the consolidated financial statements of the Semperit Group are currently being 
examined. The expected amendments will predominantly relate to the measurement and presentation of changes in the value 
of financial assets in the income statement or in other comprehensive income.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 10 replaces IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose 

Entities. By redefining the term “control”, the new standard creates a uniform basis for determining the scope of consolida-
tion and includes numerous application examples for individual issues not previously covered, such as intellectual property 
rights and principal/agent relationships. Subject to adoption by the EU, the standard is applicable to business years beginning 
on or after January 1, 2013 and is not expected to have any major effects on the consolidated financial statements of the 
Semperit Group. 
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IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
IFRS 11 regulates the accounting treatment of joint ventures and joint operations. The new standard replaces IAS 31 

Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers. The most 
important difference between IFRS 11 and IAS 31 is the elimination of proportionate consolidation; under IFRS 11 joint ven-
tures are always accounted for using the equity method. For joint operations, assets, liabilities, income and expenses directly 
attributable to the participating company are recognised directly in the consolidated financial statements of the participating 
company. The standard is – subject to adoption by the EU – applicable to business years beginning on or after January 1, 
2013. This change is not expected to have a major effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Semperit Group.

IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12 contains the disclosure requirements resulting from the new standards IFRS 10 and IFRS 11. The standard 

replaces the disclosure requirements currently contained in IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and  
IAS 28 Investments in Associates. Subject to adoption by the EU, the standard is applicable to business years beginning on 
or after January 1, 2013 and is expected to lead to an expansion of the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements of 
the Semperit Group.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements
IFRS 13 provides guidance for measuring fair value and expands the required disclosures. Subject to adoption by the 

EU, the amendment is applicable to business years beginning on or after July 1, 2013. Earlier application is permissible. The 
effects on the consolidated financial statements of the Semperit Group are currently being reviewed; the new standard is 
expected to lead to additional disclosures.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendment: Presentation of Items of  
Other Comprehensive Income

In accordance with this amendment, items presented in other comprehensive income are to be divided into two cat-
egories, depending on whether they can be reclassified to profit or loss in the future (or “recycled”). If items of other compre-
hensive income are presented before tax, the associated tax must be shown separately for each of the two categories. The 
term “statement of comprehensive income” used so far in IAS 1 has been replaced with “profit and loss and other compre-
hensive income”. Subject to adoption by the EU, the standard is applicable with retroactive effect to business years beginning 
on or after January 1, 2012 and is expected to lead to an adjustment in the presentation of other comprehensive income in 
the consolidated financial statements of the Semperit Group.

IAS 12 Income Taxes – Amendment: Deferred Tax Recovery of Underlying Assets
The amendment states that the measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities relating to real estate and tangible 

assets held as financial investments which are measured using the fair value or revaluation model is based on the refutable 
presumption that the carrying amounts of these assets will be realised through sale. Subject to adoption by the EU, the 
amendment is applicable to business years beginning on or after January 1, 2012 and is currently not expected to have any 
major effects on the consolidated financial statements of the Semperit Group.

IAS 19 Employee Benefits (revised 2011)
The most important amendment is that actuarial gains and losses must be recognised in other comprehensive income. 

The application of the corridor method or an immediate recognition in profit or loss are no longer permissible. Other major 
amendments concern the recognition of past-service costs, the annual valuation of the expense of the defined benefit plans 
funded with plan assets and the disclosures in the notes. Subject to adoption by the EU, the standard is applicable to business 
years beginning on or after July 1, 2013. The effects on the consolidated financial statements of the Semperit Group are cur-
rently being examined. The primary effect of the amendments will be that actuarial gains and losses will no longer be recog-
nised directly in profit and loss for the reporting period in which they accrued as per the current method, but rather in other 
comprehensive income, and additional disclosures will be required.
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IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (amended 2011)
IAS 27 was revised in connection with the publication of IFRS 10 and now exclusively contains the unchanged provi-

sions on IFRS individual financial statements. The revised IAS 27 is – subject to adoption by the EU – applicable to business 
years beginning on or after January 1, 2013 and has no relevance for the Semperit Group.

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (amended 2011)
IAS 28 was revised in connection with the publications of IFRS 10, 11 and 12 and adapted to the new standards. Subject 

to adoption by the EU, the amended standard is also applicable to business years beginning on or after January 1, 2013 and 
will not have any major effects on the consolidated financial statements of the Semperit Group.

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation – Amendment: Offsetting Financial Assets  
and Financial Liabilities

The amendment clarifies the requirements for offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities. The standard must be 
applied – subject to adoption by the EUR – with retrospective effect to business years beginning on or after January 1, 2014. 
This change is not expected to have a major effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Semperit Group.

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine
The new interpretation is applicable to business years beginning on or after January 1, 2013 and has no relevance for 

the Semperit Group.

1.3.	 Principles and methods of consolidation, business combinations
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the parent company and the financial state-

ments of the companies under its control, the subsidiaries. Exercising control entails the possibility to determine the financial 
and business policy of a company in order to benefit from its activities.

The annual financial statements of the fully-consolidated individual domestic and international companies were pre-
pared as at December 31, 2011, the balance sheet date of the consolidated financial statements. If required, the annual finan-
cial statements of the subsidiaries are adjusted in accordance with the accounting and valuation methods applied by the 
Semperit Group.

The financial statements of all major or fully consolidated companies in Austria and abroad that are subject to statutory 
audits were audited by independent auditors and were awarded unqualified opinions. The statutory transition of commercial 
balance sheets prepared in conformance with national regulations to the financial statements in accordance with the report-
ing and valuation guidelines stipulated in International Financial Reporting Standards was also confirmed by locally certified 
auditors.

Items 3.1 and 3.2 of the notes to the financial statements provide an overview of the fully consolidated companies and 
companies included at equity. 

Capital consolidation involves offsetting the acquisition costs of the shares in the subsidiary and the prorated equity 
of the respective subsidiary. 

Business combinations are accounted for in accordance with the acquisition method. This stipulates that identifiable 
assets and liabilities which are acquired as well as contingent liabilities at the date of acquisition are to be recognised at fair 
value at this acquisition date. The exceptions are deferred tax assets or liabilities, the recognition of which are defined in  
IAS 12 Income Taxes, as well as the accounting treatment for liabilities or provisions for commitments to employees, for which 
IAS 19 Employee Benefits is applicable. 
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The difference between the sum total of the consideration transferred in the business combination for the acquisition 
including any liabilities measured at fair value from the redeemable shares of non-controlling shareholders in the acquired 
company (see below) and equity of non-controlling shareholders in the acquired company which involve equity instruments 
on the one hand, and the net value of the acquired identifiable assets and the recognised value of the acquired liabilities and 
contingent liabilities on the acquisition date on the other hand, inasmuch as they are asset items, is to be recognised as good-
will. 

If the difference is negative, this is immediately recognised as a profit or loss in the period and presented within other 
operating income. 

Incidental acquisition costs are recognised to profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

If the accounting treatment for a business combination is not yet finalised for the subsequent balance sheet date fol-
lowing the date of acquisition, preliminary values are recognised in the consolidated financial statements. These preliminary 
values are adjusted within one year following the date of acquisition on the basis of information which was already available 
on the acquisition date but which was not yet known on the balance sheet date.

In the course of debt consolidation, all inter-company receivables and liabilities are fully netted off. 

Inter-company profits from intra-Group deliveries of fixed assets and inventories are eliminated by means of a sur-
charge method if they are not of immaterial significance.

In the course of expenses and income elimination, all inter-company income and expenses that arise from the sale of 
goods or services between Group companies are eliminated.

The shares held by shareholders who do not exercise a controlling influence on subsidiaries (non-controlling interests) 
are reported separately in equity from the shares in these subsidiaries owned by shareholders of the parent company. 

The non-controlling interests are initially capitalised either 
a) �at a proportionate share of the net value of the identifiable assets and the recognised total for the acquired liabilities 

and contingent liabilities on the date of acquisition or 
b) recognised at fair value (limited to business combinations as of January 1, 2010).

This choice of recognition relating to business combinations as of January 1, 2010 can be exercised differently depend-
ing on the type of transaction. On subsequent balance sheet dates, the carrying amounts of the non-controlling interests are 
carried forward and adjusted to reflect the changes in equity assignable to the non-controlling interests, even if the carrying 
amount of the non-controlling interests comprises a negative value.

Transactions resulting in the alteration of interest held by the Group in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control 
are accounted for as equity transactions. The difference between the value by which the carrying amounts of the non-control-
ling interests in subsidiaries are adjusted and the fair value of the assignable consideration paid or received is recognised 
directly in equity less tax effects.

If the non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary is entitled to an unconditional right of termination or if the company 
in which the non-controlling shareholder is involved has a fixed term, there is a liability of the Group towards this non-control-
ling shareholder. For such interests the “anticipated acquisition approach” is assumed, in which the Group is considered to 
have already acquired these shares and is only obliged to compensate the non-controlling shareholder for its shares. If a liabil-
ity to a non-controlling shareholder exists, the proportionate share of net assets held by the non-controlling shareholder of 
the respective subsidiary is not reported within equity as “equity attributable to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries”. 
The financial liability relating to such a shareholding is reported as “Liabilities from redeemable shares of non-controlling 
shares” and recognised at fair value on the acquisition date of the respective subsidiary (reference is made in particular to the 
subsequent measurement as explained in the Notes 2.12).
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1.4.	 Currency translation
The individual financial statements of the subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements are prepared 

in the currency of the economic region in which the company primarily operates, thus in its functional currency. For all com-
panies included in consolidation, the functional currency is the currency of the country in which the respective company  
operates, with the exception of two companies, Sempermed Singapore Pte Ltd. and Sempermed Kft. The currency of the pri-
mary business environment in which Sempermed Singapore Pte Ltd. and Sempermed Kft. operate is the US dollar or euro. 

The individual financial statements included in consolidation which are not reported in euros, the currency used as the 
basis for the consolidated financial statements, must be translated into euros. Assets and liabilities of these companies,  
including goodwill, and any adjustments made to the fair values originally reported at the acquisition date, are translated at 
the reference exchange rate on the balance sheet date. Items in the income statement and other results are translated as the 
average reference rates of the financial year, which correspond to the arithmetic mean of the average reference rates on the 
Fridays of the financial year in question. These average reference rates led to accumulated amounts in euros, which do not 
materially differ from the accumulated amounts which would have arisen when translating the transactions at the reference 
exchange rate at the date of transaction. 

The accumulated foreign currency translation differences resulting from the conversion of the individual financial state-
ments of subsidiaries for the purpose of consolidation are recognised in the other comprehensive income, and reclassified at 
the disposal or other method of deconsolidation of the respective subsidiary to profit or loss.

Gains or losses resulting from exchange rate changes derived from transactions of consolidated companies in a  
currency other than the functional currency are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Monetary items 
of the consolidated companies denominated in foreign currency and not in the functional currency are converted into the  
respective functional currency at the reference exchange rate on the balance sheet date, and any gains or losses resulting 
from the conversion are also recognised in profit or loss. 

The following key rates of exchange vis-à-vis the euro were applied: 

		  Rate on 
	 Average rate	 balance sheet date
FX rate for 1 EUR	 2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

US dollar	 1.39	 1.33	 1.30	 1.34

Thai baht 	 42.11	 41.72	 40.72	 39.63

Polish zloty	 4.11	 4.00	 4.43	 3.97

Czech koruna	 24.55	 25.24	 25.82	 25.08

Hungarian forint 	 278.23	 275.26	 312.00	 278.00

British pound sterling	 0.87	 0.86	 0.84	 0.86

Brazilian real	 2.31	 2.33	 2.41	 2.20

Chinese renminbi	 8.99	 8.98	 8.15	 8.75

Indian rupee	 64.61	 60.53	 68.56	 59.80

Malaysian ringgit	 4.25	 –	 4.11	 –
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2.	Accounting and valuation methods

2.1.	 Valuation principles
With the exception of the revaluation of specified financial instruments, the consolidated financial statements are pre-

pared on the basis of the cost of acquisition or production. The historical cost of acquisition or production is generally based 
on the fair value of the service rendered in exchange for the asset.

2.2.	 Recognition and valuation of revenue and other income
Revenue and other income are recognised at the fair value of the underlying service rendered, in which case deduc-

tions are carried out for probable return deliveries, discounts, rebates, cash discounts and similar applicable reductions in the 
income received. 

Revenue and income from deliveries is generally considered realised upon transfer of risk (at transfer date of risks and 
utilisation or provision of service). Interest income is realised pro rata temporis taking into account the effective rate. 

Income from services is recognised to the degree of their completion. 

After expiration, licence and rental revenues are realised pro rate temporis on a straight line basis over the contract 
term. Licence income measured according to other parameters is measured and recognised in accordance with these under-
lying parameters. 

2.3.	 Earnings per share
Earnings per share are determined in accordance with IAS 33 Earnings Per Share. The undiluted earnings per share are 

calculated by dividing the share of profit attributable to shareholders of Semperit AG Holding by the weighted average num-
ber of shares issued during the financial year. The diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the share of profit 
attributable to shareholders of Semperit AG Holding and the number of shares issued for all dilution effects of potential ordi-
nary shares. No dilution effects were taken into account as at December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2011. 

2.4.	 Tangible and intangible assets
Acquired intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets are recognised at acquisition cost, which is subsequently subject to scheduled depreciation 
according to their expected useful lives. The expected useful life is usually considered to be in the range of four to ten years.

Internally generated intangible assets
An internally generated intangible asset arising from the development phase of an internal project shall be recognised 

if, and only if, an entity can demonstrate
• �the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
• �its intention and ability to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it, and that the Group also has the required 

technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset;
• �that the respective intangible asset will generate future economic benefits, for example the existence of a market for 

the output of the intangible asset or the intangible asset itself, or, if it is to be used internally, the usefulness of the 
intangible asset; and

• �its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. 
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Only expenditures arising in connection with the development of the respective intangible asset incurred from the 
date when all the recognition criteria have been fulfilled are capitalised as production costs. This means that expenditures 
cannot be reinstated and retroactively recognised as production costs if the recognition criteria are first met at a later date. 

With regard to the scheduled depreciation, the same applies analogously as for the aforementioned acquired intangi-
ble assets.

Intangible assets acquired in the course of business combinations
Intangible assets acquired in the course of a business combination and recognised separately from any acquired good-

will are reported at the fair value of the acquisition costs at the time of acquisition. 

Goodwill
Goodwill is not subject to scheduled depreciation but is subject to an impairment test at least once annually or more 

frequently if there are indications of a potential impairment. 

For the purpose of the impairment test, goodwill is assigned to cash generating units or groups of cash generating 
units which are expected to benefit from the synergies arising from business combinations. Normally, the beneficiary is the 
acquired subsidiary. 

Indications of a potential impairment exist when the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the 
goodwill was assigned is lower than the carry amount of this cash generating unit, including the goodwill. As a rule, the recov-
erable amount of the cash generating unit is considered to be equal to the present value in use of the projected discounted 
cash flows generated by the cash generating unit in the future. Taking the results for the current year, the expected dis-
counted cash flows of the cash generating unit are determined on the basis of multi-period calculations using projections of 
the expected future development of the business. The expected business development for each of the cash generating units 
is ascertained on the basis of the market-specific conditions as well as on the basis of the individual cost structure and the 
development of the relevant raw material prices. The relevant cost of capital underlying the discount rate is determined on 
the basis of a risk premium or risk discount to the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) of the Group, taking the deviation 
of the risk situation of the respective cash generating unit from the risk situation of the Group into account – provided that 
this deviating risk situation is not taken into consideration by adjusting payment flows. 

If an impairment of the cash generating unit including goodwill is determined in this manner, the goodwill assigned to 
this cash generating unit is subsequently amortised. Impairment exceeding the carrying amount of the goodwill is then 
assigned to the other assets of the cash generating unit in proportion to their carrying amounts.

Tangible assets
Tangible fixed assets with the exception of commercial properties are valued at their cost of acquisition or production 

starting at the date in which the assets are put into initial operation according to the straight-line method, taking into account 
their probable useful lives. Any residual values are considered to be negligible, so that the depreciable amount is not reduced 
by the possible residual value. Costs of production in the case of assets generated by the company itself also include pro 
rated overhead costs in addition to the direct costs, and also borrowing costs in the case of qualified assets (see point 2.15). 
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The following table shows the assumed probable useful lives of the asset by investment category or the range per 
investment category within the assumed probable useful lives:

 		  Useful life in years

Buildings	  

	 Technical plant	 20–50

	 Other company buildings	 5–10

Technical equipment, plant and machinery	 5–10

Office furniture and equipment	 3–10

Vehicles	 4–5

Finance leases
Assets used as part of rental and lease agreements are accounted for as Group assets, if all major opportunities and 

risks arising from the use of the leased object (finance lease) revert to the Semperit Group according to the terms of the rental 
and lease agreement. Such assets are recognised at the date of the agreement at the lower of the fair value of the leasing 
object or present value of the future minimum leasing payments; a finance lease liability is recognised in the same amount. 
Depreciation is carried out over the object’s useful life or, if shorter, over the term of the lease agreement.

Impairment 
The same method applies for goodwill as mentioned above. Other intangible and tangible fixed assets are subject to 

an impairment test where there are indications that an asset is impaired. In this case, assets are assigned to cash generating 
units – that is, the smallest possible groups of assets which generate separately identifiable cash flows independently of  
other assets or other groups of assets. The impairment test is carried out on the basis of a comparison of the recoverable 
amount for the respective cash generating unit with the carrying amount. If the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying 
amount, an extraordinary write-down amounting to the difference between the two is carried out. In respect to determining 
the value in use, the same method applies analogously as used to determine impairment on goodwill 

Reversal of impairment 
In the case of tangible and intangible assets (with the exception of goodwill), if the reasons for impairment no longer 

apply, the write-down is reversed, but this reversal may not exceed the amount which would have arisen had the cash gener-
ating unit not been subject to an extraordinary write-down. 

Derecognition of tangible and intangible assets
The carrying amount of a tangible or intangible asset is derecognised if the respective asset is disposed of or if no fur-

ther economic benefit is to be expected from its use or its disposal. The resulting gains or losses resulting from its decon-
solidation, calculated as the difference between the proceeds from the sale and the residual carrying amount, are recognised 
in profit or loss in the period in which the respective asset is deconsolidated.

2.5.	 Investments in associated companies 
An associated company is a company over which the Group has a significant influence, but which comprises neither  

a subsidiary nor a stake in a joint venture. Significant influence means the ability to take part in the decision-making process 
determining the company’s financial and business policies.

Investments in associates are reported using the equity method. According to this method, the interest in an associ-
ated company is first reported at the cost of acquisition, which is then increased or reduced by the proportionate share of  
the net profit or loss of the associated company. Shares in the profit or loss of an associated company are recognised in the 
profit and loss account, whereas the proportionate share of the other income of the associated company is recognised in  
other comprehensive income. Dividends received from an associated company by the Group reduce the carrying amount of 
the investment in the respective associated company.
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2.6.	 Financial assets
The recognition and derecognition of financial assets whose purchase or sale occurs at standard market conditions is 

performed as of the date of fulfilment. Initial recognition occurs at the current market value plus costs of transaction. The 
exceptions are those financial assets categorised as being at “fair value through profit or loss”. In such cases, the costs of 
transaction are not initially recognised and are directly reported as a profit or loss in the income statement. 

Categories of financial assets
Their natures and purposes are used to categorise newly-acquired financial assets as being:
• �financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FAFVTPL)
• held to maturity financial investments (HTM)
• available for sale financial assets (AFS)
• loans and receivables (LAR)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss primarily comprise financial assets held for trading purposes. 

Derivatives are always defined as belonging to this class of trading assets, with the exception of those representing a financial 
guarantee or those designated as a hedge.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised at their fair value. As is the case for earnings from 
interest or from dividends stemming from these financial instruments, each expenditure or income resulting from the subse-
quent measurement of the asset is reported in the income statement compiled for the respective period. Comprised in these 
are earnings or expenditures from the measurement of such derivative financial instruments as forward exchange transac-
tions, with this reporting occurring as other operating expenses or earnings items, and, additionally, earnings and expendi-
tures resulting from the measurement of available for sale financial assets. This also includes the earnings from interest and 
dividends stemming from such financial investments, with these being reported in the interest earnings and other earnings 
from financial investments and the expenditures for financial investments items respectively. 

Held to maturity financial investments
The Group does not hold any financial assets which can be classified as “held to maturity financial investments”.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Federal bonds and shares in funds held by the Group and equity instruments in other companies held as financial 

investments are categorised as being available-for-sale financial assets and recognised at fair value. Profits and losses result-
ing from fluctuations in market value are reported in other earnings and in the revaluation reserves. Earnings from interest 
and from dividends and losses from value impairments are, on the other hand, reported in the earnings from interest and 
other earnings from financial investments or expenditures for financial investments items respectively in the income state-
ment for the period. The sale of such a financial asset or the determination of its value being impaired causes the cumulative 
earnings or expenditures reported in the revaluation reserves being reclassified to the income statement. 

Loans and receivables
Trade accounts receivable, loans and other receivables featuring preset or determinable payments and which are not 

listed on an active market are categorised as being loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any value impairment. This method is used to report interest earnings, with the 
exception of short-term receivables, in which interest plays a negligible role. 

Impairment 
Financial assets with the exception of those assets recognised at fair value through profit or loss are evaluated as of 

every balance sheet date for indications of value impairment. Accounts receivable whose value impairments cannot clearly be 
determined on an individual basis are also to be examined for such impairments on the portfolio level. 

Value impairment with respect to a financial asset or group of financial assets is assumed and recognised if there is 
objective evidence of impairment as the result of one or more events which occurred since initial operation of the respective 
asset or group of assets, and this event or these events impacted or will impact the probable future cash flow of the respec-
tive asset or group of assets. 
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With respect to available for sale equity capital instruments, an ongoing reduction in their fair value which is of mate-
rial importance or covers a longer period of time to a value below the cost of acquisition is considered to constitute objective 
evidence of impairment. 

With respect to financial assets stated at amortised cost, the impairment corresponds to the difference between the 
carrying amount of the respective asset using the effective interest method and the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows of the asset. In principle, in case of impairment the carrying amount of the respective financial asset is directly 
reduced with the exception of impairments relating to accounts receivable which are recognised in a valuation adjustment 
account. Irrecoverable account receivables are deconsolidated based on the previously recognised value adjustments. 

Reversal of impairment
In cases in which a financial asset is first recognised as having undergone a value impairment and then experiences an 

appreciation in value in one of the following reporting periods which is objectively attributable to an event which occurred 
subsequently to the recognition of value impairment, the value impairment is to be reversed using the income statement com-
piled for the period in which the appreciation took place with the exception of impairment losses relating to the disposal of 
available-for-sale equity instruments. 

With respect to available for sale equity instruments in which impairments were carried out in the past and reported 
in the income statement, appreciations in value are not reported in the period’s income statement but rather in other operat-
ing results.

Derecognition
A financial asset is derecognised upon expiration of the contractually stipulated entitlement to the cash flow or if the 

financial asset and more or less all the rights to its related risks and opportunities related to this asset are transferred to a third 
party. 

2.7.	 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Adequate write-downs are taken into consideration 

for stock risks resulting from duration of storage or impaired usability The valuation is generally based on the moving average 
method.

Manufacturing costs encompass direct expenses as well as all variable and fixed overheads incurred by production. 

2.8.	 Emission certificates
Emission certificates allocated free of charge are not reported in the balance sheet (net method). In accordance with 

the Emission Certificate Act, a total of 26,592 emission certificates were allocated to Semperit Technische Produkte GmbH 
and Semperflex Optimit S.R.O. at no charge in the 2010 and 2011 financial years. The companies used 18,739 emission cer-
tificates in the 2011 financial year (previous year: 19,729), and did not purchase or sell any additional certificates. A total of 
26,813 emission certificates were unused as at December 31, 2011 (previous year: 18,960).
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2.9.	 Equity and debt capital instruments issued by the Group
The contents of their contracts of creation dictate whether financial instruments issued by the Group are classified as 

being financial liabilities or equity.

An equity instrument is a contract giving rise to a residual claim on the assets of a company once all debts have been 
subtracted. Equity instruments are reported as the sum of revenues of issuance minus directly attributable costs of issuance. 
These, in turn, are those which would not have been incurred had the equity instrument not been issued.

Profit or loss derived from the issuance, sale, buy-back or termination of equity capital instruments are neither recog-
nised through profit or loss nor in other income but directly in equity, less any tax effects. 

2.10.	Retirement benefit expenses, provisions for pension and severance payments
Contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as expense if the employee has actually rendered 

the service obliging the company to make this contribution.

In the case of defined benefit pension plans, the cost of providing the benefit is calculated using the projected unit 
credit method; for this purpose, an actuarial assessment is carried out on each balance sheet date. Actuarial gains and losses 
are recognised in profit or loss in full in the period in which they arise. 

The provisions recognised in the balance sheet for defined benefit pension plans equal the present value of the ben-
efits accruing to the employees as of the balance sheet date less the fair value of the plan assets required to settle the obliga-
tion as of the balance sheet date.

Further particulars concerning provisions for pension and severance payments can be found in Note 6.11.

2.11.	Other provisions
Provisions are recognised for the Group’s present obligations of an uncertain amount and/or timing resulting from past 

events, the settlement of which is expected to result in an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits. These obligat-
ing events may involve legal or constructive obligations. The amount of the provision is determined on the basis of the best 
possible estimate to settle the obligation. If the obligation is not likely to be settled in the near future, the present value of 
the probable amount required to settle the obligation is recognised.

If it can be assumed that the amount required to settle the obligation will be completely or partially reimbursed by a 
third party, this reimbursement claim is recognised if and to the extent that it is virtually certain that such reimbursement will 
be received and its amount can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are recognised for restructuring expenses only if the Group has developed a formal restructuring plan which 
has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement that plan or 
announcing its main features to those affected by it. These provisions include only the direct restructuring expenses: i.e. only 
those expenses which are caused by restructuring and are not related to the Group’s continuing operations.
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2.12.	Liabilities from redeemable non-controlling shares
Redeemable or restricted shares held by non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries are considered to constitute 

financial liabilities and are recognised as “Liabilities from redeemable non-controlling interests”. 

They are recognised as current liabilities if they are due for settlement within one year after the balance sheet date or 
if the Group has no unconditional right to delay payment by at least twelve months after the balance sheet date, and other-
wise as non-current liabilities.

If the right to redeem is triggered by an event which cannot be influenced by the Group, the liability is classified as cur-
rent if the occurrence of the triggering event has occurred as of the balance sheet date notwithstanding the fact that the 
Group considers the exercise of the right to redeem by the non-controlling shareholder within a twelve month period follow-
ing the balance sheet date to be improbable. 

If the non-controlling shareholder exercises its right to redeem or the right to redeem expires within the agreed 
period, the non-controlling shareholder, in general, must be compensated in an amount equalling the pro-rata share of the 
enterprise value attributable to its interest if the Group decides to acquire the interest from the non-controlling shareholder 
or on the basis of the proportionate share of the liquidation proceeds if the Group does not acquire the interest and the com-
pany is therefore liquidated. 

The liability is initially recognised at its fair value, which as a rule equals the fair value of the non-controlling sharehold-
er’s interest at the time of the investment. 

As the IFRS do not provide any guidance on the subsequent measurement of such an obligation, a method has been 
determined pursuant to IAS 8 which takes account of the information requirements of the users of the financial statements 
and which presents a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position, cash flows and profit and loss of the Group 
and is neutral, i.e. free of any distorting influences, cautious and free of any materially omissions. Thus, for the purposes of 
subsequent measurement, the amount of the liability initially recognised is increased by the share in profit or reduced by the 
share in loss accruing as of measurement date in accordance with the possibility described in the statement issued by  
the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany on individual issues relating to the recognition of financial instruments pursuant to 
IAS 32 (IDW RS HFA 45). In this connection, this share of profit or loss also includes the share in other comprehensive income. 
In addition, any amounts reported directly in equity are included in the measurement of the liability. Dividends distributed to 
non-controlling shareholders are deducted from the liability.

The interests of the non-controlling shareholders in the subsidiary’s comprehensive income to be subsequently meas-
ured and any amounts recognised directly within the subsidiary’s equity are recognised in the income statement and consti-
tute financial expense for the Group, which is disclosed separately as “Profit/Loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling 
shares”.

2.13.	Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities are categorised as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss or as other financial 

liabilities. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
Financial liabilities are recognised at fair value through profit and loss (FLFVTPL) if 
• �they are held for trading purposes; for this purpose, derivative financial instruments with the exception of those 

which constitute a financial guarantee or are designated as hedges and are effective as such are always deemed to 
be held for trading, or

• �they have been designated as “financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss”, something which may be of 
significance particularly if the financial liability in question forms part of a contract in which a derivative is embedded.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss are measured at their fair value. All income or expense arising 
from subsequent measurement as well as interest expense on these financial instruments are recorded in profit and loss for 
the period concerned; specifically, income and expense from the measurement of derivative financial instruments, particularly 
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currency forwards, is reported within other operating income or other operating expenses, as the case may be, and interest 
and expenses from the measurement of financial liabilities and interest expense on such liabilities within interest and other 
financial expenses.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including loans raised, are initially recognised at their fair value net of transaction costs. They 

are then subsequently measured at amortised cost in accordance with the effective interest method.

The effective interest rate is the interest rate which, when used to discount the payments expected to be made until 
settlement of the respective financial liability, results in a present value which exactly matches the carrying amount of the 
financial liability at the time of initial recognition.

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised if and to the extent that the underlying obligation has been settled or terminated 

or has expired. 

2.14.	Derivative financial instruments
In addition to operating measures, individual derivative financial instruments, particularly currency forwards, are used 

to hedge foreign-currency risks. Derivatives are reported in the balance sheet as independent transactions and not as hedges. 
Hedge accounting as defined in IAS 39 is not applied as the conditions for this are not satisfied. They are therefore recognised 
as financial instruments held for trading and are measured at their current market value.  This corresponds to the value that 
the respective company would receive or would have to pay if the transaction were settled on the balance sheet date. Positive 
market values as of the balance sheet date are reported within other financial assets and negative market values within other 
financial liabilities. 

2.15.	Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e. 

assets, the acquisition, construction or production of which entail a substantial period of time for their intended use or sale, 
are included in the cost of such assets up until the date on which they become chiefly available for their intended use or sale. 
Otherwise, borrowing costs are recorded within profit and loss, specifically within interest and other financial expenses for the 
period in which they arise.

2.16.	Income taxes
Income taxes constitute the sum total of current income tax expense and deferred income tax assets and liabilities. As 

a matter of principle, current and deferred income taxes are reported as expense or income in the income statement for the 
period. However, the tax effects of items which are not recorded in profit and loss for the period but in other comprehensive 
income or directly within equity are not included in profit and loss for the period but similarly also in other comprehensive 
income or directly within equity. Similarly, in connection with a business combination, the tax effect arising from the measure-
ment of the assets and liabilities is not recorded in profit and loss but included in the business combination accounts.

Current income tax expense is calculated on the basis of the taxable profit for the period in question. The taxable 
profit differs from the earnings before tax listed in the consolidated income statement. This difference is caused by expenses 
and income which are either subject to tax in a period after the balance sheet date or are not subject to tax liability or are 
tax-deductible at that time.

Deferred income taxes are recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability 
in the consolidated financial statements and the tax base of such asset or liability equalling the expected future tax charge or 
refund. Deferred income tax assets are recognised if and to the extent that taxable profit will be available and can be offset 
against the deductible temporary differences. Similarly, deferred income tax assets are recognised for the carryforward of 
unused tax losses if and to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused 
tax losses can be utilised. However, this does not apply to temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of good-
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will or an asset or liability arising from a transaction with the exception of a business combination which at the time of the 
transaction does not affect either earnings before tax or taxable result.

Deferred income taxes are also recognised for the tax effects resulting from taxable temporary differences in connec-
tion with shares in subsidiaries and associates unless the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred income taxes 
are recognised for the future tax effects of deductible temporary differences involving shares held in subsidiaries and associ-
ates only if and to the extent that it is probable that sufficient future taxable profit will be available against which these tax-
deductible temporary differences can be utilised and it can be assumed that these deductible temporary differences will 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of a deferred income tax asset as of the balance sheet date is examined and adjusted if and to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit against which it can be utilised will be available.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are calculated using the tax laws and rates that have been enacted or sub-
stantively enacted as of the balance sheet date and which will be applicable as of the probable date of reversal of the differ-
ences. The measurement of deferred income tax assets and liabilities also reflects the tax consequences that arise from the 
manner in which the Group expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities from which the under-
lying temporary difference is derived.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities of one and the same taxable entity are offset if they relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority and the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts. The tax 
group formed in Austria in accordance with Section 9 of the Corporate Tax Act is deemed to constitute a taxable entity for 
this purpose.

2.17.	Material assumptions and estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires for estimates and assumptions to be made by man-

agement concerning the future and affecting the recognition and valuation of assets and liabilities shown on the balance 
sheet, the disclosure of other liabilities on the balance sheet date and the recognition of income and expenses during the fis-
cal year. The actual amounts earned may differ from the amounts recognised on the balance sheet on the basis of such 
assumptions and estimates.   

The recoverability of the carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives is determined 
once a year and in the event of any circumstances indicating impairment. The recoverability of the carrying amount of prop-
erty, plant and equipment as well as intangible assets with a finite useful life is to be determined upon any evidence of per-
manent impairment arising. Recoverability of the carrying amount is determined on the basis of forward-looking assumptions 
such as company planning, future inflation rates and currency exchange rates, and assumptions about specific market, sector 
and company discount rates. Any changes in these assumptions may result in impairments having to be recognised in future 
periods.

The actuarial assumptions underlying the measurement of the provisions for pension and severance payments are 
based on estimates concerning interest rates, expected returns on plan assets, salary increases, fluctuation, retirement ages 
and life expectancy. Any changes in these assumptions may lead to a substantially different valuation.  

For the calculation of other provisions, estimates must be made as to the probability of utilisation and the expected 
cash outflow. These estimates may be subject to changes which lead to a substantially different recognition amounts on 
future balance sheet dates.
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The recognition of deferred income tax assets is based on the assumption that there will be sufficient taxable profit 
against which deductible temporary differences and/or tax losses can be offset in the future. If actual future taxable profit 
differs from assumptions, this may render the utilisation of deferred income tax assets unlikely and result in an impairment of 
the value of these assets. 

In addition, assumptions and estimates must be made with respect to determining the useful life of intangible assets 
with a finite useful life, property, plant and equipment and the measurement of receivables and inventories. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed regularly and, where necessary, adjusted.

2.18.	Changes to accounting and valuation methods
There were no changes in the accounting and valuation methods in 2011 over the previous year.
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3.	Consolidated companies

3.1.	S ubsidiaries (fully consolidated)
		  Authorised
		  share capital	 Investment
	 Currency	 in ‘000s	 in %

Domestic	  	  	  

Semperit AG Holding, Vienna	 EUR	 21,359	 –

Semperit Technische Produkte GmbH, Vienna	 EUR	 10,901	 100

Arcit HandelsgmbH, Vienna	 EUR	 36	 100

PA 82 WT Holding GmbH, Vienna	 EUR	 35	 100

Foreign	  	  	  

Semperflex A.H. s.r.o., Odry, Czech Republic	 CZK	 100	 100

Semperflex Optimit s.r.o, Odry, Czech Republic	 CZK	 470,318	 100

Semperit Ibérica S.A., Barcelona, Spain	 EUR	 156	 100

Semperflex Roiter S.r.l., Rovigo, Italy	 EUR	 750	 100

Semperflex Rivalit GmbH, Waldböckelheim, Germany	 EUR	 1,281	 100

Sempermed Kft., Sopron, Hungary	 EUR	 3,680	 100

Semperit (France) S.A.R.L., Argenteuil, France	 EUR	 495	 100

Semperit Gummiwerk Deggendorf GmbH, Deggendorf, Germany	 EUR	 2,050	 100

Semperit Technische Produkte GmbH, Gevelsberg, Germany	 EUR	 50	 100

Sempertrans France Belting Technology S.A.S., Argenteuil, France	 EUR	 3,165	 100

Sempertrans Maintenance France Méditeranée E.U.R.L., Port de Bouc, France	 EUR	 165	 100

Sempertrans Maintenance France Nord E.U.R.L., Argenteuil, France	 EUR	 176	 100

Shanghai Semperit Rubber & Plastic Products Co., Shanghai, China	 EUR	 2,471	 90

Sempertrans Best (Shandong) Belting Co., Shangdong, China	 EUR	 20,000	 80

Semperit Industrial Products Ltd., Daventry, United Kingdom	 GBP	 750	 100

Semperform Kft., Sopron, Hungary	 HUF	 243,000	 100

Sempermed Magyarország Kft., Budapest, Hungary	 HUF	 3,000	 100

Sempertrans Nirlon (P) Ltd., Maharashtra, Roha, India	 INR	 230,769	 100

Fabryka Lin “Stolin” Sp. z o.o., Belchatów, Poland	 PLN	 800	 100

Sempertrans Belchatow Sp. z o.o., Belchatów, Poland	 PLN	 7,301	 100

Semperit Tekniska Produkter AB, Skärholmen, Sweden	 SEK	 800	 100

Semperit Industrial Products Singapore Pte Ltd., Singapore	 SGD	 191	 100

Semperflex Asia Corp. Ltd., Hatyai, Thailand	 THB	 380,000	 501)

Semperform Pacific Corp. Ltd., Hatyai, Thailand	 THB	 15,000	 501)

Siam Sempermed Corp. Ltd., Hatyai, Thailand	 THB	 200,000	 501)

Shanghai Sempermed Gloves Co Ltd., Shanghai, China	 USD	 6,000	 1002)

Sempermed USA Inc., Clearwater, Florida, USA	 USD	 4,000	 752)

Semperit Industrial Products Inc., Fair Lawn, New Jersey, USA	 USD	 1	 100

Semperflex Shanghai Ltd., Shanghai, China	 USD	 15,000	 501)

Sempermed Singapore Pte Ltd., Singapore	 USD	 8,000	 501)

Sempermed Brazil Comèrcio Exterior Ltda. Piracicaba, Brazil	 BRL	 12,547	 1002)

FormTech Engineering (M) Sdn Bhd, Malaysia	 MYR	 7,000 	 82.863)

Semperit Brasil Produtos Tècnicos Ltda., Sao Paulo, Brazil	 BRL	 150	 100

1) As the Chairman nominated by the Semperit Group has the right to cast a deciding vote, the Group has a controlling influence over the company. 2) The de facto shareholding of Semperit 
amounts to 50%. As the Chairman nominated by the Semperit Group has the right to cast a deciding vote, the Group has a controlling influence over the company. 3) The de facto sharehold-
ing of Semperit amounts to 41.43%. As the Chairman nominated by the Semperit Group has the right to cast a deciding vote, the Group has a controlling influence over the company.
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3.2.	 Associated companies (equity method)
		  Nominal
		  currency
Foreign	 Currency	 in ‘000s	S hare %

Isotron Deutschland GmbH, Allershausen, Germany		  EUR	 512	 37.5

 
The company is consolidated in accordance with the equity method with the following values (100%):

in kEUR	 31.03.2011	 31.03.2010

Assets		

Non-current assets	 4,671	 4,603

Current assets	 511	 458

		  5,182	 5,062

 

Equity and liabilities		

Equity	 2,043	 1,492

Non-current provisions	 276	 276

Non-current liabilities	 1,500	 1,500

Current provisions	 368	 284

Current liabilities	 995	 1,510

		  5,182	 5,062

		

in kEUR	 2010/11	 2009/10

Revenue	 3,087	 2,868

Earnings after tax	 551	 433

3.3.	 Business combinations
There were no new business combinations in 2011. 

3.4.	 Changes in scope of consolidation
In May 2011, FormTech Engineering (M) Sdn Bhd, Malaysia, was incorporated together with Sri Trang Agro-Industry 

Public Company Limited and a further two companies. This company will be producing porcelain dip moulds to be used by 
Sempermed for its own needs. The joint venture is to ensure the future supply of glove forms to the production facilities in 
Thailand.
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4.	Segment reporting
The segment reporting is prepared in accordance with IFRS 8 using the “management approach” and is based on the 

internal reports submitted to the Management Board of Semperit AG Holding in its capacity as the chief operating decision 
maker on the allocation of resources to these segments.

The segments have been defined on the basis of product groups. They are managed separately and correspond to the 
Semperit Group’s divisions. 

The Semperit Group thus comprises four reportable segments:
• Sempermed
• Semperflex
• Sempertrans
• Semperform

The Sempermed segment produces protective gloves by means of an immersion technology and sells these gloves 
throughout the world. The product portfolio of these protective gloves encompasses surgical gloves and examination gloves.

The Semperflex segment sells low-pressure and high-pressure hoses. These hoses are reinforced with textiles (indus-
trial hoses) or metal wires (hydraulic hoses).

The Sempertrans segment focuses on the manufacturing and marketing of transport and conveyor belts which are 
reinforced with either textile or steel carcasses. 

Semperform produces and markets moulded goods; the focus of its business activities is in Europe. Rubber and plas-
tics serve as the main raw materials. The individual product groups are manufactured on the basis of different technologies.

The accounting and measurement methods used in determining segment earnings, assets and liabilities are identical 
to those described in Section 2. Segment earnings are presented as earnings before interest and income taxes and are calcu-
lated in the same manner as earnings before interest and income taxes in the consolidated income statement. This is the fig-
ure reported to the Management Board for purposes of resource allocation and performance measurement. 
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Segment reporting by division
This segment reporting by division is based on internal management and reporting.

						      Non- 
						      assigned 

						      and Group 

2011 in kEUR	S empermed	S emperflex	S empertrans	S emperform	 eliminations	 Group

Revenue1)	 371,539	 186,904	 147,001	 114,562	 0 	 820,006

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and  

amortisation (EBITDA)	 44,506	 35,657	 14,895	 24,274	 –6,557	 112,776

Depreciation and amortisation 	 –9,999	 –10,599	 –3,581	 –5,317	 –93	 –29,589

Impairments on property, plant and equipment  

and intangible assets	 –4	 –17	 0 	 –63	 0 	 –84

Operating profit (EBIT) = segment results	 34,503	 25,041	 11,314	 18,894	 –6,650	 83,103

Segment assets	 229,346	 161,301	 125,543	 81,547	 18,913	 616,650

Segment liabilities	 115,824	 48,594	 34,448	 19,557	 25,773	 244,197

Investments in intangible assets and property,  

plant and equipment	 20,726	 16,080	 1,986 	 5,581	 726	 45,098

Shares in associates	 767	 0	 0	 0	 0	 767

Employees	 4,834	 1,382	 931	 654	 32	 7,833

1) After eliminating internal revenue.

						      Non- 
						      assigned 

						      and Group 

2010 in kEUR	S empermed	S emperflex	S empertrans	S emperform	 eliminations	 Group

Revenue1)	 316,440	 145,480	 118,076	 109,428	 0	 689,425

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and  

amortisation (EBITDA)	 56,870	 34,175	 3,621	 22,468	 –4,867	 112,267

Depreciation and amortisation 	 –9,729	 –9,926	 –3,651	 –6,582	 –52	 –29,939

Operating profit (EBIT) = segment results	 47,141	 24,250	 –30	 15,886	 –4,919	 82,328

Segment assets	 220,576	 154,725	 103,652	 89,831	 24,692	 593,476

Segment liabilities	 109,101	 45,010	 36,099	 25,468	 26,733	 242,411

Investments in intangible assets and property,  

plant and equipment	 26,844	 13,883	 5,948 	 5,756 	 31	 52,462

Shares in associates	 560	 0	 0	 0	 0	 560

Employees	 4,244	 1,161	 927	 650	 27	 7,008

1) After eliminating internal revenue.						    

All assets in the Group are assigned to the segments with the exception of the assets of Semperit AG Holding, the 
non-operating parent company. A large percentage of the assets can be clearly assigned to the segments as the companies 
operate in only one segment. The cash and cash equivalents of Semperit Technische Produkte GmbH are assigned in equal 
portions to the segments in which the company is active. The assets of the sales companies are classified according to the 
revenue which is generated.

All of the Group’s liabilities are assigned to the segments with the exception of the liabilities attributable to Semperit 
AG Holding. A large percentage of the liabilities can be clearly assigned to the segments as the companies operate in only 
one segment. Liabilities of Semperit Technische Produkte GmbH, for which the assets of several segments jointly comprise 
the liability fund, are assigned in equal portions to the segments in which the company is active. Liabilities held by sales com-
panies are classified according to the revenue which is generated.
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Segment reporting by geographical areas
Group activities are primarily performed in Europe, Asia and the Americas. 

In accordance with IFRS 8, information on revenue is presented in accordance with the location of the customers, and 
details on non-current assets and investments on the basis of the respective locations of the different companies belonging 
to the Semperit Group. 

Semperit does not depend on any one customer for more than 10% of its total revenue. 

	 Non current	 Invest-	 2011	 Non current	 Invest-	 2010
	 assets2) 3)	 ments	 Revenue1)	 assets2) 3)	 ments	 Revenue1)

Austria	 30,498	 7,799	 34,673	 29,787	 8,214 	 33,904

EU excluding Austria 	 63,502	 10,232 	 399,133	 66,312	 17,555	 340,490

Total for EU	 94,001	 18,031	 433,806	 96,100	 25,796 	 374,394

Rest of Europe	 0	 0	 64,813	 0	 0	 56,389

Total for Europe	 94,001	 18,031 	 498,619	 96,100	 25,796	 430,782

Asia	 126,375	 26,860	 108,104	 106,913	 26,560 	 86,633

The Americas	 3,821	 207	 191,777	 3,629	 106	 158,178

Rest of the world	 0	 0	 21,508	 0	 0	 13,831

Group	 224,197	 45,098	 820,006	 206,642	 52,462 	 689,425

1) After eliminating internal revenue. 
2) Consolidation entries are assigned to the regions whenever possible. 
3) Non-current assets do not include deferred income tax assets, financial instruments, shares in associates and claims under insurance policies.
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5.	Notes to the income statement

5.1.	 Revenue
Detailed information on the revenues of the various divisions and regions is provided in the segment reporting.

5.2.	 Other operating income

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Exchange rate gains	 12,716 	 9,909

Net gains from currency forwards 	 1,190 	 2,222

Rental income	 386	 433

Reversal of value adjustments	 3,774	 1,460

Insurance claims	 3,223	 12,876

Other	 12,494	 11,060

		  33,782	 37,961

Other income mainly includes income from a variety of reimbursements, from the sale of by-products and waste prod-
ucts and income from write-ups on fixed assets and reversals of provisions.

5.3.	 Material costs

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Cost of materials	 462,301	 366,573

Third-party services	 50,759	 43,600

		  513,059	 410,173

5.4.	 Personnel expenses
Personnel expenses include the following items:

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Wages	 45,341	 41,317

Salaries	 48,024	 46,405

Termination compensation	 708	 1,202

Retirement benefit expenses	 –60	 1,503

Statutory social security expenses and other compulsory wage-related payments	 18,978	 17,985

Other social security expenses	 1,956	 1,461

		  114,947	 109,872
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The average number of people employed by the Semperit Group is as follows:
		  2011	 2010

Blue-collar workers	 6,230	 5,556

White-collar workers	 1,603	 1,452

		  7,833	 7,008

The average number of employees in Austria totalled 702 (previous year: 662).

In the 2011 financial year, the remuneration payable to members of the Management Board at short notice recognised 
in profit and loss amounted to kEUR 2,683 (previous year: kEUR 2,525). This includes compensation payable to members of 
the Management Board for the financial year including variable compensation and non-cash benefits, the allocations to vaca-
tion provisions and other current provisions attributable to the members of the Management Board. 

The remuneration payable after and as a result of the expiry of Management Board service contracts recognised in 
profit and loss came to kEUR 700 (previous year: kEUR 3,736). The remuneration payable after the expiry of Management Board 
service contracts comprises the allocations to the termination compensation provisions attributable to the members of the 
Management Board, the contributions to pension funds attributable to the members of the Management Board and reinsur-
ance premiums.

5.5.	 Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses comprise the following:

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Outgoing freight	 20,662	 22,256

Maintenance and third-party services	 30,515	 28,427

Commission and advertising costs	 8,908	 8,025

Exchange rate losses	 10,042	 11,956

Net losses from currency forwards	 4,384	 2,076

Travel expenses	 5,917	 5,341

Insurance premiums	 3,685	 3,220

Rental and leasing expenses	 3,317	 2,642

Other taxes	 2,824	 1,848

Auditing and consulting fees	 5,988	 2,674

Fees, subscriptions and donations	 992	 928

Loss of trade receivables	 1,352	 1,777

Other	 18,008	 18,301

		  116,594	 109,470

Of which costs for the auditors of the consolidated financial statements:

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Audit of the consolidated financial statements	 21	 21

Other certification services	 59	 56

Tax advisory services	 0	 0

Other services	 17	 3

		  97	 80
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5.6.	 Depreciation and amortisation

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Scheduled depreciation and amortisation	 29,589	 29,939

Impairments	 84	 0

		  29,673	 29,939

Impairments are primarily related to technical equipment and machinery. No depreciation due to impairments was 
required in the previous year.

5.7.	 Financial result

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Share of profit from associated companies 	 207	 162

Income from securities	 451	 402

Write-ups of financial assets	 0	 86

Profit on the disposal of financial assets	 0	 8

Interest and related income	 1,252	 1,390

Interest and other financial income 	 1,703	 1,887

Losses on the disposal of financial assets	 –8	 –9

Write-downs of available-for-sale financial assets	 –37	 –80

Other expenses on financial assets	 –7	 0

Expenses on financial assets	 –52	 –89

Interest and other financial expenses	 –418	 –222

Profit/loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling shares 	 –14,680	 –20,969

		  –13,241	 –19,231

Income from securities includes dividend income of kEUR 121 (previous year: kEUR 131) from available-for-sale  
financial assets. Net interest of kEUR 676 was recognised as cash inflow in 2011 (previous year kEUR 1,074).

The following chart breaks down interest income and other income from financial assets in accordance with  
IFRS 7.20(a):

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Income from available-for-sale financial assets	 451	 497

Expenses from available-for-sale financial assets	 –46	 –89

Net income from available-for-sale financial assets	 405	 408

Income from loans and receivables	 1,252	 1,390

Expenses from loans and receivables	 0	 0

Net income from loans and receivables	 1,252	 1,390
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Impairment losses break down as follows:

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Available-for-sale financial assets	 –37	 –80

Loans and receivables	 –1,352	 –1,777

Total impairment losses on financial assets	 –1,389	 –1,857

Impairment losses arising from loans and receivables are summarised under other operating expenses (see point 5.5.).

The net income from available-for-sale financial assets reported within comprehensive income breaks down as follows:

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Net income reported directly in profit  and loss	 405	 408

Net income/expenses reported in other comprehensive income	 –132	 –21

Total net income reported in comprehensive income	 273	 387

Net expenses in connection with financial liabilities at amortised cost amounted to kEUR 418 (previous year: kEUR 222).

5.8.	 Income taxes

Income tax expense reported for the financial year includes income tax for the individual companies calculated on the 
basis of taxable income and the applicable tax rate in the relevant countries (“current tax”), as well as the changes to deferred 
income tax assets and liabilities.

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Current tax expense	 15,659	 15,533

Deferred tax expense	 126	 2,182

		  15,784	 17,715

The cash outflow for income taxes in 2011 amounted to kEUR 13,855 (previous year kEUR 22,291).

The effective tax rate in 2011, i.e. tax expense relative to earnings before tax and before reduction of profit or loss 
attributable to redeemable non-controlling shares, was 18.7% (previous year: 21.1%). The Group tax rate is a weighted aver-
age of the local income tax rates of all consolidated subsidiaries. 
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The following table reconciles earnings before tax with the income tax expense recorded in the income statement: 

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Earnings before tax	 69,862	 63,098

Tax expense/income (–/+) at 25%	 –17,466	 –15,774

Tax rates in other countries	 –397	 –99

Share of profit/loss of associates	 52	 41

Net profit/loss from redeemable non-controlling interests 	 –3,670	 –5,242

Non-deductible expenses	 –690	 –642

Non-taxable income, tax exemptions and tax deductibles 	 5,913	 6,022

Changes in value adjustments for deferred taxes on tax loss carry forwards  

and deductible temporary differences	 –37	 –3,285

Withholding taxes	 –49	 –613

Tax arrears from previous periods	 –80	 –114

Tax rate changes	 433	 320

Other	 206	 1,673

Income taxes according to the income statement	 –15,784	 –17,715

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Earnings before tax	 69,862	 63,098

Results attributable to redeemable non-controlling shares 	 14,680	 20,969

		  84,542	 84,067

Income taxes according to the income statement	 –15,784	 –17,715

Effective tax rate in %	 18.7%	 21.1%

5.9.	 Earnings per share

		  2011	 2010

Earnings after tax	 in kEUR	 54,078	 45,382

Average number of shares outstanding	 number	 20,573,434	 20,573,434

IFRS earnings per share (undiluted and diluted)	 in EUR	 2.63	 2.21

There were no dilution effects as at December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2011.
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6.	Notes to the balance sheet

6.1.	 Intangible assets

				S    oftware 
				    licenses,   
				    industrial 
				    property rights		   
in kEUR		  and similar rights	 Goodwill	 Prepayments	 Total

Historical cost					      

Balance at 1.1.2010	  	 12,588	 2,884	 95	 15,568

Additions due to business combinations	  	 518	 0	 0	 518

Currency translation differences	  	 547	 23	 7	 577

Additions	  	 487	 0	 0	 487

Disposals	  	 –126	 0	 0	 –126

Transfers	  	 90	 0	 –3	 87

Balance at 31.12.2010	  	 14,104	 2,907	 100	 17,111

Currency translation differences	  	 –299	 10	   3	 –285

Additions	  	  467	   0    	   1	 467

Disposals	  	   –90	   0	   0	 –90

Transfers	  	 43	   0	   0	 43

Balance at 31.12.2011	  	 14,225	 2,917	 104	 17,246

					      

Depreciation/write-ups					      

Balance at 1.1.2010	  	 10,025	 0	 92	 10,117

Currency translation differences	  	 290	 0	 7	 297

Depreciation for the year 2010	  	 792	 0	 0	 792

Disposals	  	 –126	 0	 0	 –126

Balance at 31.12.2010	  	 10,980	 0	 100	 11,080

Currency translation differences	  	 –154 	   0	   3	 –151

Depreciation for the year 2011	  	  792	   0	   0	 792

Disposals	  	   –90	   0	   0	 –90

Balance at 31.12.2011	  	 11,528	 0	 103	 11,631

					      

Book value					      

Book value at 31.12.2009	  	 2,563	 2,884	 3	 5,451

Book value at 31.12.2010	  	 3,124	 2,907	 0	 6,031

Book value at 31.12.2011	  	 2,697	 2,917	 1	 5,615

Note: Rounding differences may occur through the use of automated calculations.		

Amortisation and impairments are reported in the income statement within “Depreciation and amortisation”. As in the 
previous year, there were no impairment losses on intangible assets in the 2011 financial year. No impairment losses were 
reversed. 

The Group had no intangible assets of an indefinite useful life aside from goodwill.
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6.2.	 Tangible assets

			L   and and		  Fixtures,	  
			   buildings, including	 Technical 	 fittings,	 Prepayments 
			   buildings on land	 equipment	 tools	 and assets 
			   owned by	 and	 and	 under 
in kEUR	 third parties	 machinery	 equipment	 construction	 Total

Acquisition/production costs					   

Balance at 1.1.2010	 127,864	 307,271	 68,683	 9,098	 512,915

Additions due to business combination	 1,585	 7,227	 0	 0	 8,813

Currency translation differences	 8,300	 20,282	 6,770	 1,771	 37,123

Additions	 4,165	 9,950	 4,890	 31,187	 50,193

Disposals	 –515	 –8,567	 –3,016	 0	 –12,098

Transfers	 3,066	 8,028	 1,324	 –12,505	 –87

Balance at 31.12.2010	 144,465	 344,191	 78,652	 29,551	 596,860

Currency translation differences	 –1,972 	 –6,524	 –1,658 	 –668	 –10,822

Additions	 3,380 	 9,830	 5,560	 30,082	 48,851

Disposals	 –2,169 	 –7,390	 –2,705	 –4	 –12,268

Transfers	 3,561 	 13,936	 2,690	 –20,231	 –43

Balance at 31.12.2011	 147,265	 354,043	 82,539	 38,731	 622,578

					      

Depreciation/write-ups					      

Balance at 1.1.2010	 69,630	 234,504	 56,952	 198	 361,283

Currency translation differences	 3,343	 13,137	 5,624	 8	 22,112

Depreciation for the 2010 financial year 	 3,919	 19,242	 5,447	 539	 29,147

Disposals	 –495	 –8,420	 –2,951	 0	 –11,865

Write-ups for the 2010 financial year 	 0	 –3,661	 0	 0	 –3,661

Balance at 31.12.2010	 76,397	 254,803	 65,072	 744	 397,016

Currency translation differences	 –1,358 	 –5,425	 –1,353	 6	 –8,130

Depreciation for the 2011 financial year 	 4,105 	 19,200	 5,553	 24	 28,881

Disposals	 –1,418 	 –7,047	 –2,630	 0	 –11,095

Transfers	 0 	 –13	 13	 0	 0

Write-ups for the 2011 financial year 	 –734 	 –51	 –29	 0	 –813

Balance at 31.12.2011	 76,992	 261,466	 66,626	 774	 405,858

Book value					      

Book value at 31.12.2009	 58,234	 72,766	 11,731	 8,900	 151,632

Book value at 31.12.2010	 68,068	 89,388	 13,579	 28,807	 199,843

Book value at 31.12.2011	 70,274	 92,577	 15,913	 37,957	 216,720

Note: Rounding differences may occur through the use of automated calculations.
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Land with buildings includes real estate assets (land value) amounting to kEUR 14,694 (previous year: kEUR 12,892). 

In the 2010 and 2011 financial years, no borrowing costs were capitalised as part of the production costs of qualified 
assets. 

Both scheduled depreciation and extraordinary depreciation as a result of value impairments are recognised in the 
income statement under the item “Depreciation on tangible and intangible assets”.

In the 2011 financial year, extraordinary value impairments amounting to kEUR 84 (previous year: kEUR 0) were made 
for technical equipment and machinery.

As a result of a reversal of impairment, there were write-ups for the financial year 2011 in the amount of kEUR 813. In 
the previous year, there was a write-up on the technical equipment, plants and machinery of Semperflex Shanghai, amounting 
to kEUR 3,661.

No tangible assets were pledged as security for loans. 

As at December 31, 2011, there were contractual obligations to acquire plant, property and equipment totalling kEUR 
1,980 (previous year: kEUR 4,669).

In addition to operating leases, the Semperit Group also sometimes makes use of finance leases. The finance lease 
agreements apply, above all, to technical equipment and machinery, other equipment and operating and business equipment 
(vehicles, office equipment). 

The tangible assets include the following assets from finance lease agreements: 

					     31.12.2011			   31.12.2010
			   Acquisition	 Accumulated	 Book	 Acquisition	 Accumulated	 Book
in kEUR	 costs	 depreciation 	 value	 costs	 depreciation	 value

Technical equipment and machinery	 471	 319	 152	 484	 285	 198

Other equipment, office furniture and equipment	 373	 283	 90	 496	 305	 191

			   844	 602	 242	 979	 590	 389

The following obligations apply as a result of non-terminable tenancies or leases resulting from the use of assets not 
reported in the balance sheet:

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Within the following year	 383	 643

Within the following 2 to 5 years	 596	 526

Over 5 years	 363	 403

The cost of rent and leases from operating lease agreements came to a total of kEUR 3,317 in the 2011 financial year 
(previous year: kEUR 2,642). 
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6.3.	 Inventories
The balance sheet item “Inventories” comprises the following:

in kEUR	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2010

Raw materials and supplies	 48,170	 40,993

Work in progress	 14,818	 14,881

Finished goods and merchandise	 73,903	 57,243

Prepayments	 704	 573

		  137,595	 113,689

in kEUR	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2010

Inventories		

of which at acquisition/production costs	 121,055	 100,898

of which at fair value less costs to sell	 16,540	 12,792

		  137,595	 113,689

The valuation adjustments for inventories recognised as an expense totalled kEUR 5,598 in the year under review (pre-
vious year: kEUR 6,244).

6.4.	 Trade receivables
Trade receivables are assigned to the category “Loans and receivables” and are therefore recognised at amortised 

cost. The valuation adjustments necessary are made to the receivables.

Trade receivables comprise the following: 

					     31.12.2011			   31.12.2010
				    Term to	 Term to		  Term to	 Term to  
				    maturity of	 maturity		  maturity of	 maturity 
				    less than 	 of over		  less than	 of over 

in kEUR	 Total	  1 year	 1 year	 Total	 1 year	 1 year

Trade receivables for invoiced activities	 114,075	 114,012	 63	 85,531	 85,531	 0

Trade receivables for activities not yet invoiced	 254	 254	 0	 15	 15	 0

			   114,329	 114,267	 63	 85,546	 85,546	 0
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Trade receivables which are already due but have not been subject to valuation adjustments comprise the following:

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Up to 1 month overdue1)	 13,349	 6,116

1 to 3 months overdue	 5,204	 398

3 to 6 months overdue	 564	 63

6 to 12 months overdue	 182	 12

More than 12 months overdue	 0	 0

Book value of due trade receivables not subject to valuation adjustment	 19,298 	 6,589

1) Also includes trade receivables that are due immediately.		

The typically stipulated terms of payment range between 14 and 90 days. In addition to receivables which are classified 
as non-performing due to an individual assessment of the respective customers, and are thus most likely irrecoverable, valu-
ation adjustments are also carried out on overdue receivables based on country-specific empirical values. Experience-based 
valuation adjustments also apply to receivables not covered by credit insurance or with regard to deductibles on credit-
insured receivables.

The overdue receivables are largely covered by credit insurance. With regard to Semperit’s portfolio of overdue trade 
receivables, there is no indication that the debtors will not be able to fulfil their contractual payment obligations.

The receivables not covered by credit insurance primarily consist of claims against customers in India, Brazil, the USA 
and China. With respect to non-insured receivables and the deductibles on insured receivables, there is no concentration of 
credit risk worth mentioning due to the company’s diversified customer base. 

Valuation adjustments to trade receivables are usually indirectly recognised in valuation accounts. Valuation adjust-
ments developed as follows:

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Net amount on January 1	 8,068	 7,121

Release	 –3,774	 –220

Currency translation difference	 –98	 128

Written down due to irrecoverability	 –939	 –810

Additions	 1,288	 1,850

Net amount on December 31	 4,545	 8,068

The valuation adjustments at the end of the financial year, including specific valuation allowances for receivables based 
on an individual assessment of the respective customers, totalled kEUR 3,039 (previous year: kEUR 3,241). They are primarily 
allocated on the basis of insolvency proceedings to be opened over the assets of the affected customers. The remaining book 
values after deduction of the valuation adjustments are the amounts likely to be considered recoverable in the insolvency 
proceedings.
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6.5.	 Other financial assets
The book values of the other financial assets break down as follows:

			   Book value	 Of which	 Of which	 Book value	 Of which	 Of which 
in kEUR	 at 31.12.2011	 non-current	 current	 at 31.12.2010	 non-current	 current

Securities available for sale 						    

Federal bonds	 7,332	 6,306	 1,026	 9,422	 9,422	 0

Shares in funds, shares, other securities	 3,455	 3,455	 0	 3,404	 3,404	 0

			   10,787	 9,761	 1,026	 12,826	 12,826	 0

Financial assets recognised at fair value  

through profit or loss – held for trading			   	

Derivatives	 34	 0	 34	 295	 0	 295

Loans and receivables recognised at  

amortised cost						    

Loans to associated companies	 563	 563	 0	 563	 563	 0

Other loans	 9	 9	 0	 8	 8	 0

Other receivables from associated companies	 0	 0	 0	 6	 0	 6

Other receivables 	 4,188	 1,552	 2,635	 4,891	 323	 4,568

			   4,759	 2,123	 2,635	 5,468	 894	 4,574

			   15,579	 11,884	 3,695	 18,589	 13,720	 4,869

The federal bonds are Austrian and German federal bonds at a nominal value of kEUR 7,000 with interest rates of 3.8% 
and 5.0% of the nominal value that are due between 2012 and 2014.

The shares in funds are 58,000 shares in the PIA TopRent, a fund that is invested in bond funds suitable for funding 
pension provisions, consisting primarily of fixed- and variable-interest eurozone government bonds.

The book value of the financial assets available for sale amounting to kEUR 10,787 (previous year: kEUR 12,826), cor-
responds to the market value. The average effective interest rate in the 2011 financial year was 3.0% (previous year: 2.6%).

The loans to associated companies, amounting to kEUR 563 (previous year: kEUR 563), are to Isotron Deutschland 
GmbH, which is included in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the equity method.

No valuation adjustments were necessary for the loans and receivables recognised at amortised cost. 

6.6.	 Other assets
					     31.12.2011			   31.12.2010
				    Of which	 Of which		  Of which	 Of which
in kEUR	 Total	 non-current	 current	 Total	 non-current	 current

Accruals and deferrals	 1,950	 108	 1,842	 2,130	 388	 1,742

Prepayments	 807	 0	 807	 205	 0	 205

Other non-financial receivables 	 8,944	 203	 8,741	 10,062	 57	 10,005

			   11,700	 310	 11,390	 12,397	 445	 11,953
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6.7.	 Cash and cash equivalents

in kEUR	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2010

Cash on hand	 36	 111

Cheques	 1	 1

Cash deposits in banks	 97,502	 123,253

Short-term deposits	 353	 15,820

		  97,892	 139,186

The term to maturity of all short-term deposits at the time of the investment was less than three months. The cash and 
cash equivalents correspond to the liquid funds in the consolidated cash flow statement.

 
6.8.	 Deferred taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the following balance sheet items:

						      31.12.2011		  31.12.2010

						      Equity and		  Equity and

in kEUR	 Assets	 liabilities	 Assets	 liabilities

Intangible assets	 4	 –418	 4	 –522

Tangible assets	 270	 –1,997	 224	 –1,995

Financial assets	 118	 –7	 120	 –12

Inventories	 3,733	 –166	 2,890	 –45

Receivables	 1,058	 –1,964	 1,257	 –365

Other assets	 1	 –4	 4	 –223

Provisions for personnel	 4,982	 0	 5,062	 0

Other provisions	 2,075	 0	 2,193	 0

Trade payables	 142	 –7	 118	 –1

Other liabilities	 536	 –1,801	 341	 –1,872

Tax loss carry forwards 	 3,315	 0	 2,955	 0

Total deferred tax assets and liabilities	 16,233	 –6,364	 15,169	 –5,036

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets	 –3,276	 0	 –3,578	 1

Offset of deferred tax assets and liabilities	 –4,186	 4,186	 –830	 830

Net deferred tax assets  	 8,772		  10,761	  

Net deferred tax liabilities		  –2,178	  	 –4,206

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Net deferred taxes at the beginning of the financial year	 6,554	  8,498

Deferred taxes in profit or loss for the financial year	 –125	 –2,182

Deferred taxes in other results for the financial year	 33	 6

Currency translation differences	 132	 232

Net deferred taxes at the end of the financial year	 6,594	 6,554

At the balance sheet date there are unused tax losses of kEUR 6,035 (previous year: kEUR 6,245), for which no deferred 
tax assets were recognised. Loss carry forwards that have not yet been taken into account amounting to kEUR 4,563 (previous 
year: kEUR 2,264) expire within five years, the remaining loss carry forwards can be carried forward indefinitely.
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At a foreign subsidiary, kEUR 6,443 (previous year: kEUR 7,144) is available for offsetable deductible investments until 
and including 2013. Of that amount, kEUR 1,593 (previous year: kEUR 2,150) can presumably be utilised according to the  
current forecasts. In addition, there is kEUR 4,686 (previous year: kEUR 4,825) at a foreign subsidiary available for offsetable 
deductible investments that can be utilised when achieving relevant tax results in the period from 2014 to 2018. With this  
respect no deferred tax assets were recognised.

For subsidiaries which are still in the start-up phase and for which losses have accrued, asset items for tax loss carry-
forwards were recognised in the amount of kEUR 1,381 (previous year: kEUR 980), as in the judgment of Group management 
sufficient future profits can be achieved to offset these losses or tax planning measures can be implemented that would  
utilise the loss carry forwards. 

 
6.9.	 Equity

The development of shareholders’ equity is presented in detail in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Semperit AG Holding has share capital of EUR 21,358,997. It is divided into 20,573,434 fully paid ordinary shares, as it 
was on December 31, 2010, the previous balance sheet date. Each share represents an equal interest in the equity capital. It 
entitles the holder to one vote and dividends.

Capital reserves are primarily formed by issuing shares above and beyond the proportional amount of share capital 
(premium). A total of kEUR 21,503 of the capital reserves are appropriated reserves. These may only be released to compen-
sate for a net loss for the year as reported in the annual financial statements of the parent company Semperit AG Holding if 
no free reserves are available to cover the loss. 

The revaluation reserve accrues gains and losses from fluctuations in the fair value measurement of available for sale 
financial assets until the respective assets are disposed of or until an impairment of the respective assets has been deter-
mined.

The foreign currency translation reserve is the result of currency translation differences involved in the conversion of 
the annual financial statements of Group subsidiaries from the functional currency to euros until the disposal of the respective 
subsidiary.

The revenue reserves consist of the statutory reserves of Semperit AG Holding, amounting to kEUR 999, the free rev-
enue reserves of Semperit AG Holding, amounting to kEUR 15,000, the net profit for the period of Semperit AG Holding, 
amounting to kEUR 16,835, the untaxed reserves less the deduction of deferred taxes of the subsidiaries included in the con-
solidated financial statements, the retained earnings of subsidiaries since the date of acquisition and the effects of adjusting 
the annual accounts of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements to the valuation and accounting poli-
cies of the Group. The shareholders are entitled to a distribution of Semperit AG Holding’s net profit for the year. The statu-
tory reserves of Semperit AG Holding may only be released to compensate for a net loss for the year as reported in its annual 
financial statements if no free reserves are available to cover the loss.

For the 2011 financial year, the Management Board proposes to distribute a dividend per share of EUR 0.80, which 
amounts to a total of kEUR 16,459. This will have to be voted on at the Annual General Meeting and is therefore not yet rec-
ognised as a liability in these consolidated financial statements. The payment of the dividend has no tax consequences for the 
Semperit Group.

6.10.	Liabilities from redeemable non-controlling shares
Shares of subsidiaries’ net assets held by non-controlling shareholders are recognised as liabilities from redeemable 

non-controlling shares provided the respective shareholder has an unconditional termination right or a termination right with 
conditions that cannot be influenced by the Semperit group or the company in which the non-controlling shareholder owns 
an interest has a limited life span.
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Liabilities from redeemable shares of non-controlling shareholders developed as follows: 

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Balance as at January 1	 83,405	 71,576

Payments received for establishment of a company and through capital increase	 973 	 0

Dividends	 –1,187	 –22,410

Payments due to capital decrease	 0	 –565

Share of annual income	 14,680	 20,969

Currency translation differences 	 –579	 13,835

Balance as at December 31	 97,292	 83,405

6.11.	Provisions for pensions and severance payments
Pension plans – defined benefit plans

In accordance with the Austrian Corporate Pension Statute of 1997, employees whose tenure at their companies began 
prior to January 1, 1991 are granted occupational pensions that take the form of a fixed amount that depends on an employ-
ee’s length of service. The statute stipulates that only retired former employees or their surviving dependents are entitled to 
these pensions. These obligations are not funded by plan assets.

A former member of the Management Board was granted a pension by individual agreement. This obligation is also 
not funded by plan assets.

Two members of the Management Board and a senior manager have also been granted pensions. These are funded by 
a reinsurance policy, with the pension entitlement corresponding to the reinsured amount. To secure the pension entitle-
ments, the reinsurance policies are pledged to the pension recipients.

As far as provisions for severance payments are concerned, employees in Austria, France, Italy and Thailand are legally 
entitled to a one-off payment on retirement (the amount of which depends on length of service), regardless of whether the 
employment relationship is terminated by the employer (in whatever form) or the employee. Two members of the Management 
Board are contractually entitled to a severance payment in accordance with the Austrian Employee Act on termination of their 
service on the Management Board. The benefits due on retirement are considered to be payments due following termination 
of the employment relationship in accordance with IAS 19. These obligations are not funded by plan assets. The payments 
due upon the termination of the employment relationship by the employer are payments resulting from the termination of the 
employment relationship in accordance with IAS 19. 

These obligations were valued based on an assumed interest rate of 4.75% (December 31, 2010: 4%) and an assumed 
average annual salary increase of 3.4% (December 31, 2010: 3.4%).

The provisions for the Group’s obligations arising from defined benefit pension plans are as follows:

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Present value of funded defined benefit obligations	 7,015	 3,204

Fair value of the plan assets	 5,501	 3,204

Deficit	 1,514	 0

Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligations	 15,647	 20,639

Plan deficit = provision	 17,161	 20,639
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The present value of the obligations arising from pension plans developed as follows: 

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Pensions		

Present value of the obligations (DBO) as at January 1	 23,843	 23,993

	 Additional entitlements acquired during the financial year and actuarial gains/losses	 –208	 687

	 Imputed interest costs on existing obligations	 963	 955

Total expenses for pensions	 755	 1,641

Payments	 –1,936	 –1,792

Present value of the obligations (DBO) as at December 31	 22,662	 23,843

The total expenses of kEUR 755 shown in the table (previous year: kEUR 1,641) are recognised under the item “Personnel 
expenses” in the income statement in accordance with the breakdown contained in section 5.4 under “Pension expenses”.

The plan assets recognised at fair value, which comprise of a reinsurance policy, cash on hand  and a receivable of a 
pension plan against Semperit group, developed as follows:

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Fair value of the plan assets as at January 1	 3,204	 2,806

Contributions of the Group	 344	 456

Return from plan assets less administrative costs	 518	 –24

Payments	 –244	 –35

Other change	 1.679	 0

Fair value of the plan assets as at December 31	 5,501	 3,204

The total return of kEUR 518 shown in the table (previous year: expense of kEUR 24) are recognised under the item 
“Personnel expenses” in the income statement in accordance with the breakdown contained in point 5.4 under “Pension 
expenses”.

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Severance payments		

Present value of the obligations (DBO) as at January 1	 21,359	 21,635

	 Additional entitlements acquired during the financial year	 1,057	 483

	 Imputed interest costs on existing obligations	 729	 769

	 Actuarial gains/losses	 –1,400	 –10

Total expenses for severance payments	 386	 1,242

Payments	 –1,982	 –1,518

Present value of the obligations (DBO) as at December 31	 19,763	 21,359

The total expenses of kEUR 386 shown in the table (previous year: kEUR 1,242) are recognised under the item “Personnel 
expenses” in the income statement in accordance with the breakdown contained in point 5.4 under “Severance expenses”.

The development of the present value of the obligation and of the plan assets recognised at fair value and the actu-
arial gains and losses from experience adjustments over the last five years are as follows, with a positive value (+) for experi-
ence adjustments indicating gains and a negative value (–) indicating losses:
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in kEUR	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2010	 31.12.2009	 31.12.2008	 31.12.2007

Pensions					   

Present value of the obligation	 22,662	 23,843	 23,993	 24,030	 22,574

Plan assets	 5,501	 3,204	 2,806	 2,353	 1,901

Plan deficit	 17,161	 20,639	 21,187	 21,676	 20,673

Actuarial gains/losses	 1,262	 –269	 –450	 –1,829	 992

	 of which experience adjustments	 10	 –269	 –450	 –922	 992

	 of which effects of changes in actuarial assumptions	 1,252	 0	 0	 –907	 0

Severance payments		   			 

Present value of the obligation	 19,763	 21,359	 21,635	 22,880	 23,148

Actuarial gains/losses	 1,400	 10	 38	 –370	 –1,549

	 of which experience adjustments	 –83	 10	 38	 –422	 –1,549

	 of which effects of changes in actuarial assumptions	 1,483	 0	 0	 52	 0

Pension plans – defined contribution plans
Semperit AG Holding is required to contribute to a pension fund for two members of the Executive Board.

Employees whose employment relationships are subject to Austrian law and who entered into this employment rela-
tionship after December 31, 2002 are not entitled to severance payments from their employer. For these employees and two 
members of the Executive Board, contributions amounting to 1.53% of their wages or salaries are paid into a staff provision 
fund. In the year under review, Semperit’s contributions amounted to kEUR 210 (previous year: kEUR 146).

Semperit Group employees are also entitled to country-specific state pension plans, which are usually financed on a 
pay-as-you-go (unfunded) basis. The obligations of the Group are limited to paying contributions when they are due. There is 
no legal or de facto obligation with regard to future benefits.
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6.12.	Other provisions
The other provisions break down as follows:

				    Currency 
				    translation 
in kEUR	 1.1.2011	 differences	 Release	 Use	 Additions	 31.12.2011

Restructuring	 6,944	 0	 0	 0	 0	 6,944

Long-service bonuses	 3,255	 0	 0	 –161	 0	 3,094

Leave		  2,244	 –8	 –3	 –1,793	 1,579	 2,020

Guarantees	 12,499	 –421	 –4,409	 –4,201	 5,054	 8,522

Sales bonuses	 1,249	 2	 –5	 –1,224	 1,244	 1,266

Other		  17,581	 –52	 –1,955	 –9,026	 9,250	 15,798

			   43,773	 –479	 –6,371	 –16,405	 17,127	 37,645

				    Currency 
				    translation 
in kEUR	 1.1.2010	 differences	 Release	 Use	 Additions	 31.12.2010

Restructuring	 6,921	 0	 0	 0	 24	 6,944

Long-service bonuses	 3,276	 0	 0	 –40	 19	 3,255

Leave		  2,589	 8	 0	 –2,126	 1,773	 2,244

Guarantees	 12,225	 150	 –667	 –2,249	 3,040	 12,499

Sales bonuses	 1,031	 4	 –57	 –974	 1,245	 1,249

Other		  12,993	 262	 –1,714	 –6,310	 12,350	 17,581

			   39,035	 424	 –2,438	 –11,699	 18,451	 43,773

The “Other” item essentially covers a variety of provisions for personnel. 

The provisions for guarantees are based largely on a case-by-case assessment of the risks. In addition, provisions are 
allocated on a portfolio basis and according to experience, based on the revenue for the previous financial year. Claims 
against the Group resulting from these risks are considered to be likely, and the amount recognised corresponds to a best 
possible estimate of the value of the claims that can be expected. Since these claims may involve long negotiations as well as 
legal disputes, it is not possible to accurately predict when payments will have to be made.

The table below shows the terms to maturity of the provisions.

					     31.12.2011			   31.12.2010
				    Of which	 Of which		  Of which	 Of which
in kEUR	 Total	 long term	 short term	 Total	 long term	 short term

Restructuring	 6,944	 6,944	 0	 6,944	 6,944	 0

Long-service bonuses	 3,094	 3,094	 0	 3,255	 3,255	 0

Leave		  2,020	 40	 1,979	 2,244	 0	 2,244

Guarantees	 8,522	 3,943	 4,580	 12,499	 7,276	 5,223

Sales bonuses	 1,266	 0	 1,266	 1,249	 0	 1,249

Other		  15,798	 3,062	 12,735	 17,581	 1,449	 16,132

			   37,645	 17,084	 20,561	 43,773	 18,924	 24,848
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6.13.	Liabilities to banks
The liabilities to banks are recognised at amortised cost. They break down as follows:

						      31.12.2011				    31.12.2010 
			   Nominal				    Nominal 
			   value in local	 Book value	 Of which	 Of which	 value in local	 Book value	 Of which	 Of which 
			   currency	 in kEUR	 long term	 short term	 currency	 in kEUR	 long term	 short term

Loans		  TUSD 8,000	 6,175	 0	 6,175	 TUSD 8,000	 5,974	 5,974	 0

Open credit	 kEUR        3	 3	 0	 3	 –	 –	 0	 0

Total			   6,178	 0	 6,178		  5,974	 5,974	 0

Liabilities to banks are denominated primarily in US dollars and are subject to variable interest rates. The effective 
interest rate for the year 2011 was 2.4% (previous year: 1.4%). The interest rate is adjusted monthly.

There is no collateralisation.

Due to interest in line with typical market conditions, it is assumed that the book values of the liabilities to banks cor-
respond to the fair values.

6.14.	Trade payables
The trade payables are recognised at amortised cost. As in the previous year, they have a remaining term to maturity 

of under a year. 

6.15.	Other financial liabilities

					     31.12.2011			   31.12.2010 
				    Of which	 Of which		  Of which	 Of which 
in kEUR	 Total	 long term	 short term	 Total	 long term	 short term

Loans from non-controlling shareholders  

of subsidiaries	 1,568	 1,568	 0	 0	 0	 0

Liabilities to affiliated, unconsolidated companies	 26	 0	 26	 27	 0	 27

Loans to associated companies	 32	 0	 32	 0	 0	 0

Liabilities from finance leases	 242	 138	 105	   360	 247	 113

Derivative financial liabilities	 1,753	 0	 1,753	 220	 0	 220

All other financial liabilities	 8,270	 1,369	 6,901	 9,801	 515	 9,286

			   11,891	 3,074	 8,816	 10,408	 762	 9,646
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The derivative financial liabilities are assigned to the category “Financial liabilities recognised at fair value – held for 
trading”. The other financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost. 

The existing liabilities from finance leases as at December 31, 2011 are as follows:

					     31.12.2011			   31.12.2010
			   Term to	 Term to	 Term to	 Term to	 Term to	 Term to  
			   maturity of	 maturity of	 maturity of	 maturity of	 maturity of	 maturity of 
			   under	 1 to 5 	 over 5	 under 	 1 to 5	 over 5 

in kEUR	 1 year	  years	 years	 1 year	 years	 years

Total future minimum leasing payments	 113	 142	 0	 124	 262	 0

Interest portion	 –8	 –4	 0	 –11	 –15	 0

Present value of the minimum leasing payments	 105	 138	 0	 113	 247	 0

6.16.	Other liabilities 

					     31.12.2011			   31.12.2010 
				    Of which	 Of which		  Of which	 Of which 
in kEUR	 Total	 long term	 short term	 Total	 long term	 short term

Liabilities from taxes and social security  

contributions	 4,771	 0	 4,771	 4,292	 0	 4,292

Prepayments received	 800	 0	 800	 464	 0 	 464

Accruals and deferrals	 211	 200	 11	 419	 211	 208

All other liabilities	 1,502	 0	 1,502	 0	 0	 0

			   7,284	 200	 7,084	 5,175	 211	 4,964
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6.17.	Fair values of financial instruments
The table below shows the book values and fair values of the individual financial assets and liabilities classified in 

accordance with the valuation categories stipulated in IAS 39.9.

				    AFS at fair			    
				    value/other	L AR at	 Book value	 Fair value 
31.12.2011	 Held for	 comprehen-	 amortised	 as at	 as at	 Hierarchy 
in kEUR	 trading	 sive income	 cost	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2011	 level

Assets						   

Securities	 0	 10,787	 0	 10,787	 10,787	 1

Loans to associated companies	 0	 0	 563	 563	 563	 3

Other long-term loans	 0	 0	 9	 9	 9	 3

Trade receivables	 0	 0	 114,329	 114,329	 114,329	 3

Derivative financial instruments	 34	 0	 0	 34	 34	 2

Other financial assets	 0	 0	 4,188	 4,188	 4,188	 3

 

Liabilities	

Liabilities from redeemable  

non-controlling shares	 n/a	 n/a	 n/a	 97,292	 n/a	 n/a

Liabilities to banks	 0	 0	 6,178	 6,178	 6,178	 3

Trade payables	 0	 0	 38,815	 38,815	 38,815	 3

Derivative financial liabilities	 1,753	 0	 0	 1,753	 1,753	 2

Other financial liabilities	 0	 0	 10,138	 10,138	 10,138	 3

				    AFS at fair			    
				    value/other	L AR at	 Book value	 Fair value 
31.12.2010	 Held for	 comprehen-	 amortised	 as at	 as at	 Hierarchy 
in kEUR	 trading	 sive income	 cost	 31.12.2010	 31.12.2010	 level

Assets						   

Securities	 0	 12,826	 0	 12,826	 12,826	 1

Loans to associated companies	 0	 0	 563	 563	 563	 3

Other long-term loans	 0	 0	 8	 8	 8	 3

Trade receivables	 0	 0	 85,546	 85,546	 85,546	 3

Derivative financial instruments	 295	 0	 0	 295	 295	 2

Other financial assets	 0	 0	 4,897	 4,897	 4,897	 3

 

Liabilities						    

Liabilities from redeemable  

non-controlling shares	 n/a	 n/a	 n/a	 83,405	 n/a	 n/a

Liabilities to banks	 0	 0	 5,974	 5,974	 5,974	 3

Trade payables	 0	 0	 40,969	 40,969	 40,969	 3

Derivative financial liabilities	 220	 0	 0	 220	 220	 2

Other financial liabilities	 0	 0	 10,188	 10,188	 10,188	 3
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The three levels in the fair value hierarchy are defined as follows:

Level 1: �Valuation based on quoted market prices for a specific financial instrument.
Level 2: �Valuation on the basis of quoted market prices for similar instruments or on the basis of valuation models based 

exclusively on parameters that are observable in the market.
Level 3: �Valuation on the basis of models with significant valuation parameters that are not observable in the market.

The liabilities from redeemable non-controlling shares are not assigned to any of the categories stipulated in IAS 39 
but to financial liabilities sui generis. Their valuation is described in section 2.12. The fair value can only be calculated at a dis-
proportionately high cost and is thus not disclosed.

7.	� Notes to the consolidated  
cash flow statement
The consolidated cash flow statement is created using the indirect method and shows how the cash and cash equiva-

lents of the Semperit Group changed in the course of the financial year. The fund comprises cash and cash equivalents. Its 
composition can be seen in section 6.7.

Due to the expansion of the Group’s business operations and big increases in raw material prices, there was a signifi-
cant build-up of inventories, which had a negative impact on the cash flow from operating activities.

The investments in tangible and intangible assets were made to expand production capacities, particularly in the 
Sempermed division, and to modernise existing facilities.

The cash flow from financing activities includes the dividend of EUR 1.25 per share distributed to Semperit AG Holding 
shareholders in 2011. In addition, there was a cash outflow due to dividends distributed to non-controlling shareholders of 
subsidiary companies.

The cash flow from operating activities contains a inpayment-effective balance consisting of interest inflows and out-
flows amounting to kEUR 676 (previous year: kEUR 1,074) and an outpayment-effective balance from tax payments amounting 
to kEUR 13,855 (previous year: kEUR 22,291). 
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8.	Risk management
IFRS 7.31 requires reporting on the nature and scope of the risks arising from financial instruments to which the Group 

is exposed as at the balance sheet date to allow readers of the balance sheet to make an assessment of these risks. 

The internationalisation of Semperit’s business has caused the risk potential to grow, as a matter of course. Consequently, 
this is an issue on which the Group has increased its focus. The most important market risks for the Group are associated, 
above all, with the possibility of changes to exchange rates and interest rates. In addition, the risk of a business partner or 
customer defaulting also represents a risk of loss for the Group. 

As a group with international activities, Semperit is affected by macroeconomic developments such as general eco-
nomic performance, tax legislation, environmental regulations and other factors influencing the economies in which it is 
active. Unfavourable developments affecting some of these factors can have a negative impact on demand for the Group’s 
products, its sales volume and price level. Fluctuations in demand involve the risk of overcapacities, which can put increased 
pressure on prices and result in uncovered costs and diminishing margins. Consequently, production capacities are constantly 
compared against market data and order levels and adjusted by means of medium-term measures (such as temporary shut-
downs or adjustment of shift schedules). 

As a multinational group, Semperit has business activities in countries at various stages of economic and social devel-
opment. Risks can thus develop as a result of unfavourable changes to the political and economic situation. Risks resulting 
from changes to tax and employment legislation, more rigorous statutory requirements with regard to the use of raw materi-
als and environmental standards as well as risks associated with the coordination of international activities given the existence 
of linguistic and cultural differences can have a considerable impact on the Group’s business activities.

Financial risk management is implemented by means of Group directives. There is a suitable internal control system in 
place for monitoring and managing existing financial risks that meets the requirements of the industrial group. The main risk 
management task at Semperit is to recognise emerging risks in good time and take countermeasures quickly. However, the 
possibility cannot be excluded that risks are not detected early, resulting in negative consequences for the Group’s finances, 
assets and earnings.

Capital risk management
The goals of capital management are to ensure the company’s continued existence, enable growth-oriented organic 

and non-organic investment activity and finance dividends on a continuous basis. The Group’s overall strategy has not 
changed since 2010. 

The Group’s total capital consists of equity, including the shares attributable to non-controlling shareholders of sub-
sidiaries, provided these are equity instruments, and net debt. Net debt is the amount by which the sum of provisions for sev-
erance payments and pensions, provisions for long-service bonuses, interest-bearing liabilities, in particular liabilities to 
banks, and the non-interest-bearing liabilities from redeemable non-controlling shares exceeds the level of cash and cash 
equivalents plus current financial assets. Net gearing is defined as the ratio of net debt to equity. Net debt as at December 
31, 2011 totalled kEUR 43,622 and net gearing amounted to 11.7%. Cash and cash equivalents exceeded net debt as at 
December 31, 2010.

The Group is not subject to any statutory or contractual requirements with regard to a minimum level of equity, a mini-
mum equity ratio or a maximum level of gearing. The Semperit Group has not set a defined target capital structure internally.
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Interest rate risk management
Equipment and investments required for the company’s business operations are funded to a certain extent using a low 

level of outside capital. The outside capital is currently borrowed at variable interest rates and is subject to the prevailing level 
of interest rate risk. Because the amounts involved are not large, the interest rate risk can be classified as insignificant overall. 
A sensitivity analysis is therefore not necessary.

Liquidity risk management
The monitoring and management of financial risks are important components of Semperit’s Group-wide controlling 

and accounting system. 

Although the liquidity risk at Semperit is limited due to the high level of liquidity, the ongoing improvement of treasury 
guidelines and information systems helps Semperit to quickly identify financial risks and, if necessary, ensure that counter-
measures are initiated. The liquidity situation is monitored by means of weekly and monthly analyses of flows of payments and 
by planning future income and expenditure. The net liquidity thus calculated forms the basis for the planning of investment 
decisions and the associated capital commitment.

Liquidity not needed in the short term is invested in low-risk financial investments (fixed deposits). Nevertheless, devel-
opments in the financial markets can have a negative impact on the prices of securities in which Semperit has invested – even 
to the extent that they are no longer tradable. This can in turn have a negative impact on earnings and equity as a result of 
the devaluations or valuation adjustments that have to be made. 

Default/credit risk management
Credit risks arise when the other parties to transactions do not meet their obligations, resulting in a financial loss for 

the Group. Semperit’s internal financial and treasury directives impose strict requirements with regard to financial partners’ 
creditworthiness. Credit risks and the risk of parties to a contract delaying payment or defaulting are checked both when 
business relationships are entered into and during ongoing business relationships by means of credit checks, credit limits and 
routine audits. 

In addition, the default risk is largely limited by credit insurance and on a case-by-case basis through bank collateral. If 
credit limits are exceeded or payments delayed, deliveries are halted and only resumed once specific conditions are met and 
on the order of authorised individuals specified in Semperit Group directives. Since there are also credit risks for financial 
partners with excellent creditworthiness, developments in the financial markets are monitored continuously and the credit 
limits are adjusted accordingly. 

The default risk associated with receivables from customers is assessed as low since their creditworthiness is moni-
tored continuously and the diversified customer structure means that risk is not concentrated on individual customers. 

The default risk associated with liquid funds is low, since the Group’s contracting parties are largely banks with very 
good credit ratings from international credit rating agencies. To further minimise the risk, defined maximum amounts are set 
for each contracting party.

The credit default risk associated with financial assets is taken into account by means of valuation adjustments. 
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Without taking into account the risk minimisation strategy described above, the Group’s maximum default risk corre-
sponds to the book value of its recognised financial assets, which can be broken down into the following categories:

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Derivative financial instruments (held for trading)	 34	 295

Shares in funds, government bonds, shares (AFS) 	 10,787	 12,826

Loans and receivables (LAR) at amortised costs	 119,088	 91,014

Cash and cash equivalents	 97,892	 139,186

Foreign exchange risk management
There are also currency risks associated with Semperit’s operational activities. In addition to operational measures, 

derivative financial instruments – foreign exchange forward transactions, in particular – are employed to limit and manage 
these risks. 

The following breakdown of the Semperit Group’s revenue and earnings into key currencies (as percentage of overall 
revenue) shows that in the 2011 financial year, 43.6% (previous year: 44.4%) was earned in foreign currency.

in % of Group’s revenue	 2011	 2010

EUR	 56.4	 55.6

USD	 28.9	 29.8

INR	 1.9	 2.4

CNY	 2.2	 2.4

BRL	 2.7	 1.9

THB 	 2.0	 1.7

PLN	 2.0	 2.3

A significant portion of the Group’s revenues are earned by subsidiaries headquartered outside the eurozone.

The Group’s financial management is committed to avoiding foreign currency risks as much as possible by coordinating 
payment flows.

The table below shows the derivative financial instruments used to hedge against foreign exchange risk by company, 
type of forward transaction and currency secured. These are exclusively forward sales.
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										          Range of re- 
									         Fair value	 maining days	
					     Type of		  Hedged	 Hedged	 in kEUR	 to maturity 
Company		  Country	 transaction	 Currency	 amount1)	 rate2)	 31.12.2011	  (in days)

				    Forward 

Semperflex Optimit s.r.o.	 Czech Republic	 exchange	 EUR	 2,661,000	 25.29	 –52	 6–55

Sempertrans 		  Forward 

Belchatow Sp. z o.o.	 Poland	 exchange	 EUR	 14,700,000	 4.44	 –117	 5–82

Semperit Technische 		  Forward 

Produkte GmbH	 Austria	 exchange	 GBP	 1,500,000	 0.87	 –66	 19–110

Semperit Technische 		  Forward 

Produkte GmbH	 Austria	 exchange	 HUF	 170,000,000	 302.24	 25	 19–103

Siam Sempermed 		  Forward 

Corp. Ltd.	 Thailand	 exchange	 USD	 37,860,913	 30.44	 –1,258	 20–135

Semperflex Asia 		  Forward 

Corp. Ltd.	 Thailand	 exchange	 EUR	 105,000	 43.44	 6	 127

Semperflex Asia 		  Forward 

Corp. Ltd.	 Thailand	 exchange	 USD	 7,550,000	 30.40	 –258	 41–135

1) Refers to the total amount of all existing derivative financial instruments as at the balance sheet date.  
2) Refers to the weighted average rate derived from all existing derivative financial instruments as at the balance sheet date. 

										          Range of re- 
									         Fair value	 maining days	
					     Type of		  Hedged	 Hedged	 in kEUR	 to maturity 
Company		  Country	 transaction	 Currency	 amount1)	 rate2)	 31.12.2011	  (in days)

				    Forward 

Semperflex Optimit s.r.o.	 Czech Republic	 exchange	 EUR	 1,188,000	 24.88	 –9	 5–54

Sempertrans 		  Forward 

Belchatow Sp. z o.o.	 Poland	 exchange	 EUR	 8,900,000	 3.99	 20	 3–90

Semperit Technische 		  Forward 

Produkte GmbH	 Austria	 exchange	 GBP	 2,000,000	 0.85	 29	 18–46

Semperit Technische 		  Forward 

Produkte GmbH	 Austria	 exchange	 HUF	 80,000,000	 279.06	 0	 18–46

Semperit Technische 		  Forward 

Produkte GmbH	 Austria	 exchange	 USD	 150,000	 1.36	 –2	 273–349

Semperit AG		  Forward 

Holding3)	 Austria	 exchange	 EUR	 3,500,000	 8.78	 –13	 73–165

Semperit AG		  Forward 

Holding	 Austria	 exchange	 PLN	 10,000,000	 4.06	 –42	 73

Siam Sempermed		  Forward 

Corp. Ltd.	 Thailand	 exchange	 USD	 34,949,172	 30.31	 99	 61–186

Semperflex Asia		  Forward 

Corp. Ltd.	 Thailand	 exchange	 USD	 1,526,169	 30.03	 –7	 91–140

1) Refers to the total amount of all existing derivative financial instruments as at the balance sheet date. 
2) Refers to the weighted average rate derived from all existing derivative financial instruments as at the balance sheet date.  
3) Refers to a EUR to CNY hedging relationship.
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The derivatives are reported as independent transactions rather than hedges, since the prerequisites for hedge 
accounting in accordance with IAS 39 are not met. 

The translation of items in foreign currencies to the euro, the Group’s currency, results in currency translation differ-
ences (translation risk). This is reported in the “other earnings” item as a difference resulting from currency translation. Book 
values of assets and liabilities on the Group balance sheet belonging to subsidiaries not based in the eurozone and the con-
tribution of these subsidiary firms to the earnings of the group depend to a significant degree on the exchange rate between 
the euro and the functional currency used by these subsidiaries.

9.	� Contingent liabilities and other  
financial liabilities

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Contingent liabilities 	 1,383	 2,903

Liabilities from the acquisition of tangible assets (purchase commitments)	 1,980	 4,669

Liabilities from the utilisation of tangible assets not reported on the balance sheet 

due to rental and leasing agreements 	 1,342	 1,572

Other financial liabilities	 119	 972

Contingent liabilities are attributable primarily to payment guarantees in favour of third parties and bill of exchange 
liabilities. Liabilities from the acquisition of intangible assets result from binding contracted investment projects for intangible 
assets. 

 

10. �Related-party transactions with companies, 
individuals and co-partners

10.1.	Related-party transactions with companies and individuals
Outstanding balances and transactions between Semperit AG Holding and its subsidiaries were eliminated in the 

course of consolidation and are not discussed here.

B&C Semperit Holding GmbH is the direct majority shareholder of Semperit Aktiengesellschaft Holding, and B&C 
Privatstiftung is the dominant legal entity. B&C Industrieholding GmbH indirectly holds a majority stake and prepares and 
publishes consolidated financial statements in which the Semperit Group is included. Under IAS 24, B&C Privatstiftung and 
all its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies are related parties of the Semperit Group. 

The related parties of the Semperit Group include the members of the Management Board and Supervisory Board of 
Semperit Aktiengesellschaft Holding, the managing directors and Supervisory Board members of all companies that directly 
or indirectly hold a majority stake in Semperit Aktiengesellschaft Holding, the members of the Management Board of B&C 
Privatstiftung and close family members of these Management Board and Supervisory Board members and managing  
directors.
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The remuneration paid to the Management Board members is contained in point 5.4. The remuneration for the 
Supervisory Board for the financial year 2011 was calculated on the basis of fixed and variable components. In the year under 
review, the remuneration paid to the Supervisory Board amounted to kEUR 109 (previous year: kEUR 96). There are no further 
related-party transactions. 

The level of transactions with associated companies and other related parties is low, and they are conducted on normal 
business terms and conditions.

10.2.	Transactions with co-partners
The fully consolidated companies Semperflex Asia Corp. Ltd., Siam Sempermed Corp. Ltd., Shanghai Semperit Rubber 

& Plastic Products Co. Ltd., Shanghai Sempermed Gloves Co. Ltd. and Semperflex Shanghai Ltd. conduct business with the 
non-controlling co-partner of these subsidiaries, Sri Trang Agro-Industry Plc, at established market conditions. Sempertrans 
Best (Shandong) Belting Co. Ltd. conducts business with Wang Chao Coal & Electricity Group, the non-controlling co-partner 
of this subsidiary, at established market conditions. 

11. Events after the balance sheet date
There are no events requiring disclosure after the balance sheet date. 

Vienna March 9, 2012

The Management Board

Johannes Schmidt-Schultes 
Chief Financial Officer

Thomas Fahnemann
Chairman

Richard Ehrenfeldner 
Member of the  
Management Board

Richard Stralz
Member of the  
Management Board
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Report on the  
Consolidated  
Financial Statements

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Semperit Aktiengesellschaft Holding, Vienna, (“the 
Company”) for the fiscal year from January 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011, which are presented on pages 99 through to 151. 
These consolidated financial statements comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2011, the consolidated 
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements and for Maintaining the Books of 
Account 

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining the books of account and for the preparation and fair pres-
entation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the EU. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances. 

Auditor’s Responsibility and Description of Type and Scope of the Statutory Audit
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We con-

ducted our audit in accordance with laws and regulations applicable in Austria, Austrian Standards on Auditing and 
International Standards on Auditing issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board of the International 
Federation of Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with professional requirements and that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consoli-
dated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assess-
ments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Groups’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriate-
ness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a reasonable basis for our 
audit opinion. 
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Opinion
Our audit did not give rise to any objections. In our opinion, which is based on the results of our audit, the consolidated 

financial statements comply with legal requirements and give a true and fair view of the financial position of Semperit 
Aktiengesellschaft Holding as of December 31, 2011 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU.  

Comments on the Group Management Report
Pursuant to statutory provisions, the group management report, which is presented on pages 76 through to 97, is to 

be tested as to whether it is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as to whether the other disclosures are 
not misleading with respect to the Group’s position. The auditor’s report also has to contain a statement as to whether the 
group management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as to whether the notes pursuant to 
section 243a of the Austrian Company Code hold true.

In our opinion, the group management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements. The notes pur-
suant to section 243a of the Austrian Company Code hold true.

Vienna, March 9, 2012

Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs GmbH

	 MMag. Dr. Leopold Fischl e.h. 	 Mag. Nikolaus Schaffer e.h.
	 Certified Public Accountant	 Certified Public Accountant
	 in Austria	 in Austria

This report is a translation of the report in German, which is solely valid. 	
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Balance sheet of Semperit AG Holding 
as at December 31, 2011

in kEUR	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2010

Assets			 

Assets		

Intangible assets	 93	 45

Tangible assets	 679	 78

Financial assets	 71,354	 71,724

		  72,126	 71,847

Current assets		

Receivables from affiliated companies	 31,759	 27,549

Other receivables	 5,973	 6,021

Cash on hand, bank deposits 	 457	 2,770

		  38,189	 36,340

Accruals and deferrals	 253	 334

Total assets	 110,568	 108,521

liabilities			 

Equity		

Share capital	 21,359	 21,359

Capital reserves	 21,539	 21,539

Revenue reserves	 15,999	 999

Net profit for the period	 16,835	 26,842

		  75,733	 70,739

Untaxed reserves	 2	 2

Provisions		

Provisions for severance payments 	 2,963	 3,157

Provisions for pensions 	 15,585	 15,897

Tax provisions	 1,851	 633

Other provisions	 13,139	 13,592

		  33,539	 33,279

Liabilities		

Trade payables	 487	 95

Liabilities to affiliated companies	 331	 3,979

Other liabilities	 476	 427

		  1,295	 4,501

Total liabilities and equity	 110,568	 108,521

 

Contingent liabilities	 1,544	 1,499
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Income statement of  
Semperit AG Holding 
for the financial year January 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011

in kEUR	 2011	 2010

Revenue	 7,681	 7,066

Other operating income	 1,797	 894

Personnel expenses 	 –7,810 	 –9,816

Depreciation on tangible and intangible assets	 –93	 –52

Other operating expenses	 –7,298	 –3,178

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)	 –5,723	 –5,086

Income from investments	 35,000	 29,764

Income from other securities of financial assets 	 295	 279

Interest and related income	 96	 52

Expenditures for financial investments 	 –124	 –74

Interest and related expenses 	 –81	 –41

Financial result	 35,186	 29,980

Result from ordinary business activities	 29,463	 24,894

Income taxes	 1,246	 1,208

Profit for the period	 30,709	 26,102

Allocation of other reserves	 –15,000	 0

Profit carried forward from the previous year	 1,126	 741

Net profit for the period	 16,835	 26,843

The annual financial statements 2011 of Semperit AG Holding, which were prepared according to Austrian accounting 
standards and awarded an unqualified audit opinion by Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs GmbH, Vienna, were submitted 
together with all the relevant documentation to the commercial register of the Vienna Commercial Court under the commer-
cial register number 112544. These financial statements are included in the Annual Financial Report 2011 in German, which is 
available for download from the homepage www.semperit.at. 

The Management Board proposes to the Annual General Meeting to distribute a dividend of EUR 0.80 per share from 
the net profit for the period of kEUR 16,835 and carry forward the retained earnings to the new accounts

 

Vienna, March 9, 2012

The Management Board

Johannes Schmidt-Schultes 
Chief Financial Officer

Thomas Fahnemann
Chairman

Richard Ehrenfeldner 
Member of the  
Management Board

Richard Stralz
Member of the  
Management Board
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Statement of all legal representatives
pursuant to section 82 (4) Austrian Stock Exchange Act

We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the group as required by the applicable accounting standards and that 
the group management report gives a true and fair view of the development and performance of the business and the posi-
tion of the group, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties the group faces.

We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the separate financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the parent company as required by the applicable accounting standards and 
that the management report gives a true and fair view of the development and performance of the business and the position 
of the company, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties the company faces.

Vienna, March 9, 2012

The Management Board

Johannes Schmidt-Schultes 
Chief Financial Officer

Thomas Fahnemann
Chairman

Richard Ehrenfeldner 
Member of the  
Management Board

Richard Stralz
Member of the  
Management Board
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A
ATX (Austrian Traded Index)
Leading index of the Vienna Stock Exchange

B
Butadiene
Organic, twofold unsaturated chemical 
polymer used in the manufacture of 
synthetic latex, amongst other things 
Petrochemical byproduct

C
CAGR (Compound Annual Growth Rate)
Average annual growth rate over a specific 
period of time

Cash flow ratio
Cash flow relative to sales

Compliance
Conformity with regulations; adherence to 
rules, guidelines and voluntary codes within 
a company

Corporate Governance
Rules for the responsible management 
and control of a company; laid out in the 
Austrian Corporate Governance Code

D
DAX
German equity index comprising the  
30 largest companies

Directors‘ dealings
Share transactions conducted by the 
management of exchange-listed companies 
in the companies‘ own shares

Directors and Officers (D&O) Insurance 
Liability insurance taken out by a company 
for its boards and executives

E
EBIT (Earnings Before Interest and Tax)
Earnings before interest and tax,  
operating result

EBIT margin
EBIT in relation to revenue

EBITDA 
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation 
and amortisation

EBITDA margin
EBITDA in relation to revenue

Glossary
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Elastomer
Form stable but elastically deformable 
plastics

EMEA 
Europe, Middle East, Africa

EPDM (Ethylen-Propylen-Dien-Monomer) 
Synthetic rubber

Equity ratio 
Equity in relation to total assets

I
IFRS (International Financial Reporting 
Standards)
Accounting standards developed by the 
International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB). In addition to the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
the International Accounting Standards 
(IAS) of the IASB, it also incorporates the 
Interpretations of the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 
and the Interpretations of the Standing 
Interpretations Committee (SIC).

ISO (International Organization for  
Standardization)
Institute responsible for coordinating 
standards worldwide

K
Key Account Management
A type of marketing organisation. Preferred 
treatment of buyers that hold a key position 
in relation to a company‘s success

M 
Market capitalisation
Number of shares multiplied by the share 
price; market value of a company in absolute 
terms

N
Natural latex
Milky juice of the rubber tree that is 
obtained by grazing the bark

Nitrile
Comprehensive term for a group of 
chemical compounds. Basic material for 
Semperit‘s synthetic gloves

O
Organisation for Economic Cooperation 
and Development (OECD)
A union of 30 industrial states aiming to 
promote economic growth and global trade 

P
Payout ratio
Distribution ratio, share of the profit that is 
distributed to shareholders in the form of 
dividends

Polypropylene (PP)
Thermoplastic weldable polymers made 
of carbon and hydrogen atoms. They are 
defined by their great hardness, rigidity and 
heat resistance and can be disposed of in an 
environmentally safe manner.

Price/earnings ratio
Share price divided by the profit per share

Provisions
Accounting provisions for future obligations, 
the extent and maturity of which cannot be 
determine explicitly

R
Return on equity before taxes
The return on equity in terms of EBIT

S
Spot price
The price paid for the immediate, effective 
delivery of a standardised commodity that 
has already been produced

T
Total return on assets before taxes 
Return on total capital employed in terms 
of EBIT

V
Vinyl
Thermoplastic polymer such as 
polyvinylchloride (PVC)
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The companies of the 
Semperit Group
Semperit AG Holding
Modecenterstrasse 22
A-1031 Vienna
Tel.: +43 1 79 777 0
Fax: +43 1 79 777 600
office@semperit.at
www.semperit.at

Semperit  
Technische Produkte  
Gesellschaft m.b.H.
Triester Bundesstrasse 26
A-2632 Wimpassing
Tel.: +43 2630 310 0
Fax: +43 2630 310 340
office@semperit.at
www.semperit.at

Segments

Semperit Technische  
Produkte Gesellschaft m.b.H. 
Sempermed
Modecenterstrasse 22
A-1030 Vienna
Tel.: +43 1 79 777 520
Fax: +43 1 79 777 630
sempermed@semperit.at
www.sempermed.com

Semperit  
Technische Produkte  
Gesellschaft m.b.H. 
Semperflex
Triester Bundesstrasse 26
A-2632 Wimpassing
Tel.: +43 2630 310 201
Fax: +43 2630 310 325
semperflex@semperit.at
www.semperflex.com

Semperit  
Technische Produkte  
Gesellschaft m.b.H. 
Semperform
Triester Bundesstrasse 26
A-2632 Wimpassing
Tel.: +43 2630 310 214
Fax: +43 2630 310 538
semperform@semperit.at
www.semperform.com

Sempertrans France  
Belting Technology S.A.S.
Sempertrans
10, Rue des Charretiers
F-95104 Argenteuil Cedex
Tel.: +33 1 30 25 72 00
Fax: +33 1 30 25 72 54
contact@ 
sempertrans-france.com
www.sempertrans.com 

Subsidiaries

Brazil

Sempermed Brasil Comér-
cio Exterior Ltda.
Rua João Franco de  
Oliveira, 750. Unileste
CEP: 13422-160
Piracicaba/SP
Tel.: +55 (19) 3424 4466
Fax: +55 (19) 3424 4555
kadre@satari.com.br

Semperit Brasil Produtos 
Técnicos Ltda.
Rua Pascoal da Rocha 
Falcão, 367 – sala 4. Jardim 
Santa Helena
CEP: 04785-000 
São Paulo/SP
Tel.: +55 (11) 3415 9078
paulo.alves@ 
semperflex.com.br

China

Semperit (Shanghai)  
Management Co., Ltd.
R2001, Floor 20, No. 256 
South Pudong Rd, 
CN-Shanghai 200120
Tel.: +86 21 3390 98 60  
Fax: +86 21 5012 75 98
alice.li@semperit.com.cn 

Shanghai Semperit Rubber 
& Plastic Products Co. Ltd.
1155 Cang Gong Road
Shanghai Chemical Indus
trial Park, Fengxian Subzone
CN-Shanghai 201417
Tel.: +86 21 37111788-812
Fax: +86 21 3711 1790
dennis.zhang@ 
semperit.com.cn 

Semperflex Shanghai Ltd.
1255 Cang Gong Road
Shanghai Chemical  
Industrial Park
Fengxian Subzone
CN-Shanghai 201417
Tel.: +86 21 3711 1133
Fax: +86 21 3711 1135
maggie@semperit.com.cn

Shanghai Sempermed 
Gloves Co. Ltd.
No. 159 Lane 356  
Chexin Highway
Chedun Town  
Songjiang District
CN-Shanghai 201611
Tel.: +86 21 5760 92 89
Fax: +86 21 5760 92 45
shaforemost@online.sh.cn 

Sempertrans Best  
(Shandong) Belting  
Co. Ltd. 
Taier Zhuang District
Zaozhung City,  
Shandong, China
Tel.: +86 632 66 77 66 7
Fax.: +86 632 66 77 66 0
walker.dong@ 
semperit.com.cn 

Czech Republic

Semperflex Optimit s.r.o.
Vitkovská c.p. 391/29
CZ-74235 Odry
Tel.: +420 556 763 111
Fax: +420 556 730 433
sales@semperflex.cz 
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Subsidiaries
(continued)

France

Semperit (France) S.A.R.L.
2, Place Aristide Briand,  
BP 9005
F-95812 Argenteuil Cedex
Tel.: +33 1 30 25 87 25
Fax: +33 1 34 11 32 11
semperit.ventes@semperit.fr

Sempertrans France  
Belting Technology S.A.S.
10, Rue des Charretiers
F-95104 Argenteuil Cedex
Tel.: +33 1 30 25 72 00
Fax: +33 1 30 25 72 54
contact@ 
sempertrans-france.com

Sempertrans Maintenance 
France Nord S.A.S. Béthune
F-62232 Annezin
Tel.: +33 3 21 01 63 70
Fax: +33 3 21 57 00 99
ccrombez@ 
sempertrans-nord.com 

Germany

Semperit Technische  
Produkte GmbH
Rosendahler Straße 24
D-58285 Gevelsberg
Tel.: +49 2332 70 09 0
Fax: +49 2332 70 09 22
verkauf@semperit.de

Semperit Gummiwerk  
Deggendorf GmbH
Land Au 30
D-94469 Deggendorf
Tel.: +49 991 27 02 0
Fax: +49 991 27 02 100
info@semperit-deg.de

Semperflex Rivalit GmbH
Steinhardter Strasse 32 A
D-55596 Waldböckelheim
Tel.: +49 6758 92 92 0
Fax: +49 6758 92 92 21
rivalit@rivalit.de

Great Britain

Semperit Industrial  
Products Ltd.
25 Cottesbrooke Park, 
Heartlands
GB-Daventry Northampton-
shire NN11 8YL
Tel.: +44 1327 31 31 40
Fax: +44 1327 31 31 49
ian.dempsie@semperit.co.uk

Hungary

Sempermed  
Magyarország Kft.
1025 Szépvölgyi út 146
H-1025 Budapest
Tel.: 36 1 335 7111
Fax: 36 1 335 7112
office@sempermed.hu

Semperform Kft.
Somfalvi út 29
H-9400 Sopron
Tel.: +36 99 513 111
Fax: +36 99 513 101
semperform@semperform.hu

Sempermed Kft.
Somfalvi út 14
H-9400 Sopron
Tel.: +36 99 312 005 ext. 14
Fax: +36 99 508 752
sempermed@semperit.at

India

Sempertrans Nirlon (P) Ltd.
21/1, MIDC Dhatav
Roha-Raigad
IND-402116 Maharashtra
Tel.: +91 2194 263 579
Fax: +91 2194 263 672
info@sempertransnirlon.com

Sempertrans Nirlon (P) Ltd.
Nirlon Complex,
Pahadi Village,
Western Express Highway,
Goregaon (East)
IND-400 063 Mumbai
Tel.: +91 22 268 502 
34/35/36
Fax: +91 22 268 500 35
info@sempertransnirlon.com

Italy

Semperflex Roiter S.r.l.
Via Achille Grandi, 5
I-45100 Rovigo
Tel.: +39 0425 377 611
Fax: +39 0425 410 911
semperflex-roiter@ 
semperflex.com

Malaysia

FormTech Engineering (M) 
Sdn. Bhd.
Lot 135, Jalan Permata 1/4
Arab Malaysian Industrial 
Park
71800 Nilai, Negeri  
Sembilan, Malaysia
Tel.: (+6) 06-799 5952/53/54
Fax: (+6) 06-799 5951
info@formtech.com.my

Poland

Sempertrans Belchatów  
Sp. z o.o.
ul. Transportowa 5
PL-97 427 Rogowiec
Belchatów
Tel.: +48 44 731 35 00
Fax: +48 44 731 35 15
office@ 
sempertransbelchatow.pl

Singapore

Semperit Industrial  
Products (S) Pte Ltd.
3791 Jalan Bukit Merah
#07-07, 07-23 E-centre@
Redhill
SGP-Singapore 159 471
Tel.: +65 6275 4690
Fax: +65 6275 4670
semperit@singnet.com.sg

Spain and Portugal

Semperit Ibérica S.A.
C/Orient, 78-84 
Planta 4, Oficina 16
08172 Sant Cugat del Vallès 
(Barcelona)
Tel.: +34 93 656 8060
Fax: +34 93 656 7026
semperit.iberica@ 
semperit.at

Sweden

Semperit Tekniska  
Produkter AB
Sickla Industriväg 7
SE-131 54 Nacka
Tel.: +46 8 88 04 20
Fax: +46 8 88 52 28
info@semperit.se

Thailand

Siam Sempermed  
Corp. Ltd.
Sri Trang Building,
10 Soi 10 Phetkasem Road
THA-Hatyai, Songkhla 90110
Tel.: +66 74 344 663
Fax: +66 74 344 677
ssc.mc@sritranggroup.com

Semperflex Asia  
Corp. Ltd.
Sri Trang Building,
10 Soi 10 Phetkasem Road
THA-Hatyai, Songkhla 90110
Tel.: +66 74 471 232
Fax: +66 74 471 230
sac.mk@sritranggroup.com

USA

Semperit Industrial  
Products Inc.
17-01 Pollitt Drive
Fair Lawn, NJ 07410-2814
USA
Tel.: +1 201 797 7794
Fax: +1 201 797 3899
bshaw@semperit-usa.com

Sempermed USA Inc.
13900 49th Street North
Clearwater, FL 33762
USA
Tel.: +1 727 787 7250
Fax: +1 727 787 7558
b.harris@sempermedusa.com
www.sempermedusa.com

Semperit AG Holding 
Annual Report 2011

160



Semperit AG Holding 
Geschäftsbericht 2011



  Full steam ahead. Our engagement is aimed at   
  strong growth. And a new Semperit corporate   
  culture.  With a clear direction. With high dynamism. 

Urge to move 
forward

Imprint

Ownership and publisher: Semperit Aktiengesellschaft Holding, Modecenterstrasse 22, A-1031 Vienna

We have prepared this Annual Report and verified the information contained in it with the greatest possible care. In spite of 
this, rounding, typesetting and printing errors cannot be ruled out. Rounding of differences in the totalling of rounded 
amounts and percentages may arise from the automatic processing of data.

The forecasts, plans and forward-looking statements contained in this report are based on the knowledge and information 
available and the assessments made at the time that this report was prepared. As is true of all forward-looking statements, 
these statements are subject to risk and uncertainties. As a result, the actual events may deviate significantly from these ex-
pectations. No liability whatsoever is assumed for the accuracy of projections or for the achievement of planned targets or 
for any other forward-looking statements

Statements referring to people are valid for both men and women.
This Annual Report was prepared in German and English. 
In case of doubt, the German version shall take precedence.

This annual report was prepared by Mensalia (www.mensalia.at) on behalf of Semperit AG Holding.

Contact 

Semperit AG Holding
Modecenterstrasse 22
A-1031 Vienna
Tel.: +43 1 79 777 0
Fax: +43 1 79 777 600
office@semperit.at
www.semperit.at

Clemens Taschée
Head of Group Accounting
Tel.: +43 1 79 777 230
clemens.taschee@semperit.at
www.semperit.at/investor-relations

Financial Calendar 2012

March 29, 2012 Publication of 2011 annual financial statements 

and press conference 

April 23, 2012 Annual General Meeting

April 26, 2012 Ex-dividend day

May 2, 2012 Dividend payment day

May 15, 2012 Report on the first quarter of 2012

August 14, 2012 Half-year financial report 2012

November 13, 2012 Report on the third quarter of 2012
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committed
appreciative

trustful
pro-active

responsible
showing integrity

sincere
fair

loyal 
reliable


